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Committee Clerk:   DeLores D. Shimek by Caitlin Fleck  

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to treatment standards for victims and medical screening and acute forensic medical 
examinations and relating to prosecution for sexual abuse of minors. 
 

Minutes:                                                  1,2,3,4 

 
Chairman Koppelman:  Opened the hearing on HB 1425 
 
Rep. Mike Brandenburg:  Introduced the bill and went over it.  (Attachment #1) This has 
been a journey in understanding someone who has survived sexual abuse as a child.  What 
is it like being the husband of someone with this history?  Discussed how he dealt with it 
every day with issues that come up. This bill sets up a basis where law enforcement can do 
something. There should be laws that can be in place to do something about this when it is 
done. It also talks about the criminal versus civil side, and having evidence in hand or not.  
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  For cases that have no statute of limitation isn’t that going to cause a 
100 years’ buildup of evidence? 
 
Rep. Brandenburg: That is part of the discussion that has come out, and there may need to 
be a study that deals with that. How do we deal with this evidence, store it and keep it?  I 
don’t have that answer. A lot of times, when the victim is younger they won’t have any idea 
that what happened to them was wrong. So as they age they begin to realize that it was 
wrong, and that is when they come forward with the charges. The statute of limitation may 
be gone by then, but many times where there is one victim, there are many more so there 
may be evidence from one party to another that will show that the person was in the wrong.  
 
Rep. Bob Paulson: What if the abuser is a parent? Then the abuser can also get a copy of 
the complaint from the child. 
 
Rep. Brandenburg: Exactly some of the reasons why there needs to be a study done on 
this so that it is done right. We are going into a new area here and you are right; it is within 
families.  
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Chairman K. Koppelman: On the first part of the bill; Section 1 lines 9-11 where it talks 
about access to law enforcement report upon request of the victim. Is that during the 
proceeding or is it intended to be years later.   
 
Rep. Brandenburg: I know Senator Hogan would be able to explain that better than I would. 
We’ve been working on these bills together, and I won’t give a false answer because I’m not 
an attorney, I am just trying to help get something accomplished.  
 
Rep. Paur:  Page 2 you have 29-04003.1 which you are amending and then 03.2 has to do 
with the statute of limitations, has that affected anyway by what you are doing? 
 
Rep. Brandenburg: We had the statute of limitation that we extended; we probably need 
legislative counsel to clarify the sections, and what the statutes refer to.  

 
Chairman K. Koppelman: I believe in previous sessions we had decided to extend the 
statute of limitations to begin at the point at which the victim was aware of the issue. I think 
murder is the only other statute where there is no statute of limitations. You think this should 
be in that category?  
 
Rep. Brandenburg: I do, it is a lifelong sentence.  Right now there is abuse going on, and 
people just say just move on with life and get it over with. There is no punishment right now 
for the offenders and they know that they can do it.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: What about on the civil side? 
 
Rep. Brandenburg:  If you have a big checkbook, you can do anything. That doesn’t solve 
anything, but the real healing is when you are dealing with it.  
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: Would this be retroactive? 
 
Rep. Brandenburg:  No I don’t think so.  
 
Chairman Koppelman: If there is no statute of limitations, if something happened 20-30 
years ago could anyone then bring actions?  
 
Representative Brandenburg: That is what we are trying to discern.  
 
Lovice Brandenburg:  Discussed the situation of incest with her two brothers. The statute 
of limitation has expired and there is nothing anyone can do, and they just say we’re sorry. 
They too will be in therapy for years, if drugs, suicide, or the streets don’t take them first.  I 
am asking to please vote yes on eliminating the statute of limitations in our state. 
 
Opposition Testimony: 
 
Paula Condol, Director for the Children’s Advocacy Centers of ND; Executive Director 
of the Dakotas Children’s Advocacy Center: (Attachment #2)  
 
Rep. McWilliams: Your main concern is if the parent gets this information? 
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Ms. Condol: Usually the parent is the offender or a family member. Unfortunately, we would 
like to think that if you aren’t the offender, you would believe your child. However, a majority 
of the time when the non-offending caregiver comes in, they don’t believe what their child is 
saying to them. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker: Has there been discussion of when we go into the area of unlimited time, 
the memory of what happened may not be as reliable? 
 
Ms. Condol: The likelihood someone would prosecute a case that was 40 years old is slim, 
regardless. There is value in those few cases though, that would come to life. There won’t 
be floods of cases that can be conducted because there is a lack of evidence that it 
happened. However, there will be those occasional cases where there will be evidence for it. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: Have you seen an increase in these types of older cases being 
prosecuted? Have the provisions of Marcy’s Law provided that information to a victim? 
 
Ms. Condol: That might be a question for some of the prosecutors here. No the Marcy’s Law 
does not provide access to that.   
 
Rep. McWilliams: What about the statute of limitations and what they exactly are? 
 
Ms. Condol: I am not a prosecutor, but I was here when it went from 7 to 10 years. It 
previously was 7 years from their 18th year to come forward and make that disclosure.  
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: I think it is started at the time the victim remembers and makes 
their report.  
 
Supportive Testimony: 
 
Senator Hogan: (Read Attachment #3 and Handed out Attachment #4)  
 
Rep. Satrom: Do you have any solutions on how we can address this? 
 
Senator Hogan: I think the 2 key pieces are eliminating that statutes of limitations and them 
taking and keeping a report of what happened so then if you get 5 or 6 reports we can have 
evidence.  
 
Rep. McWilliams: The bill talks about having evidence being given to a parent or guardian 
of the minor, based on the opposed testimony, would it be permissible if that evidence was 
given to the minor come 18? 
 
Senator Hogan: Absolutely. We have to protect the victim. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker: Now there is no statute of limitation for deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 
evidence? 
 
Senator Hogan: Yes, that is true. 
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Chairman K. Koppelman: Normally bills that pass and become statutes are not redirect 
unless they say so. Yet here we will be lifting the statute of limitations, how would that work? 
 
Senator Hogan: We have not talked about that, and I don’t really have the answer to that. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: The concerns of parents having access; we value parental rights 
and in healthy situations there may be no better advocate.  How do we balance that? 
 
Senator Hogan: Those are the complex issues in this bill. I always want to be on the side of 
protecting the victim. Maybe we need a comprehensive study on victim’s rights in sexual 
abuse cases.  
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: What if people are then falsely accused, so if we remove the 
statute of limitations do we risk the chance of having people come forward and falsely accuse 
others of these crimes.  
 
Senator Hogan:  I have a friend who was falsely accused, so I have been on that side of the 
table too. The 2 critical aspect of this are the quality of the investigation has to be really good.  
Secondly, you need to have strong prosecutor authority.  
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: After checking with legislative counsel, this bill would open the 
doors to anything, anywhere, anytime. If that were not the intent, there would be to be an 
application clause put in.  
 
No more testimony. Hearing closed.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to treatment standards for victims and medical screening and acute forensic medical 
examinations and relating to prosecution for sexual abuse of minors. 
 

Minutes:                                                   1 

 
Chairman Koppelman:  Re-opened the hearing on HB 1425. 
 
Neutral Testimony: 
 
Travis Finck, Deputy Director ND Comm. On Legal Counsel for Indigents: (Attachment 
#1)  
 
Rep. Jones:  Are you suggesting that if we were to put this in, if they did this as a juvenile 
but weren’t prosecuted until they were an adult, the same benefits that would have been 
adjudicated to them as a juvenile still would remain as an adult? 
 
Mr. Finck: Those possibilities do exist. If there is a 17-year-old and a 14-year-old, if an act 
occurs through those two, and that case was not reported for about 20 years, that person 
would them be deemed solely in adult court. If this bill were to go through, you could have 
someone who was 14 years old, be convicted of a sex charge when they are 70 years old.  
 
Rep. Jones: This is hypothetical. In reality, what do you see today? What would happen in 
ND if when someone is 50 years old, and someone came up and charged them with sexual 
charges from back when they were in middle school, realistically, what would happen? 
 
Mr. Finck: There are a lot of cases that go forward and time can change the memory if it is 
a long time ago. A lot of the evidence does disappear over time. Could someone be 
convicted? Yes. Would it be incredibly difficult to prosecute? Yes. That is why we are not 
taking a stance on this bill.  
 
Rep. Jones:  I want to protect victims, and people that have false accusations against them. 
I would be interested in what you’d suggest for situations where they were both adolescents.  
 
Hearing closed. 



2019 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Judiciary Committee 
Prairie Room, State Capitol 

 

HB 1425 
2/12/2019 

32550 (0:00-15:37) 
 

☒ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:   DeLores D. Shimek  by Donna Whetham 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to treatment standards for victims and medical screening and acute forensic medical 
examinations and relating to prosecution for sexual abuse of minors. 
 

Minutes:                                                   1 

 
Chairman Satrom: Opened the subcommittee on HB 1425. 
Committee consists of Chairman Satrom, Rep. Paulson, Rep. Buffalo. 
Here are some of the parameters, dig deeper.  Find best solution and see if we can amend 
it or see if we should go for a do not pass.  We can request additional information if we need 
it. Went over the first section of the bill. 

   
Rep Buffalo:   Is there an amendment to this bill?    
 
Rep Paulson:  There is a proposed amendment.  In contents of the amendment is basically 
to remove the forensic medical examination from the bill.   (See Attachment #1) 
 
Chairman Satrom:  What are we trying to accomplish. Obviously in reference to the first 
paragraph, apparently people weren’t able to get access to their records.  
  
Rep. Paulson:  Specifically the parents or guardian is the perpetrator and now you are 
providing with the childs testimony and then they go home and get reprecussions from the 
parent or guardian having that information.   
 
Chairman Satrom:  In the first section is that a good change? 
 
Rep Paulson:  I think so because with the proposed amendment it give the child sex abuse 
victim who is over the age of 18 a copy of the law enforcement report. 
 
Rep Buffalo: I don’t have any issues, the amendments look good.    
 
Chairman Satrom:  Section 13-16 No change recommended.  Any issues in 19 -23.   Went 
over the amendment which removes that entire section and the first couple of lines on page 
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2. How can you do a forever thing?  This basically says there is no statute of limitation.  We 
can leave this open for a committee discussion.  
Rep Paulson:  what was significant to me in testimony is when this happens the ability to 
articulate is suppressed until they are a lot older, because so much time has transpired. The 
frustration is that there is no justice for these things that are sometimes admitted to.  I still 
struggle with something after that many years later.   Is there actual evidence or people to 
come forward to testify about the allegation? 
 
Rep Buffalo:  I think of the public health perspective of trying to be proactive and prevent 
that from happening, I mean the whole assault and also years later how can we encourage 
people to come forward now.  That is tough.  
 
Rep Paulson:  I like the original language.  Where it says 10 years after the offense.  You 
could say maybe there is something between 10 years and forever.  There were other ideas 
brought up that would not be forever.  
 
Chairman Satrom:  Do you prosecute someone when they are 50- years old that happened 
when they were 10.  How does that work? 11:10 
 
Rep Paulson:  Maybe we should leave the original language as it is  I might be comfortable 
with adjusting those 10 years.  Basically the amendment takes away all of that and just says 
there is no limitations.  I don’t think I am comfortable with that.  I would be more comfortable 
adjusting the 10 years.  It is the first word on line 10 page 2.  

  
Chairman Satrom:  the 3 years they have to start the prosecution,  you can’t just let it hang 
once you have come to the authorities. 
 
Rep Paulson:  1 would you propose changing that 10 years to a particular number and go 
back to the original language.  I would be open to 20 years.  
 
Rep Buffalo:  If we change 10 years and you might want to change the 3 years?   
 
Rep Paulson:  I think we keep the 3 years because that is just a limitation on how long they 
have after they reported it or after they are identified.   
 
Chairman Satrom:   We will ask the committee if we should adjust the time on the 10 years 
and also the 3 years.  So we will come to the committee with a couple of suggestions. 
 
Hearing closed.  

15:37   
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
  
 

Minutes:                                                  1 

 

 

Present:  Rep. Satrom, Chairman; Rep. B. Paulson, Rep. Buffalo 
 

Rep. Satrom:  No limitation on time. I am concerned about that.   
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  Most of them are ten years and up to 21 years. 
 
Rep. Satrom:  Most states are running with 21 years.  
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  Do you know what type of violations are in this section?  
(directed to intern)  
 
Intern 10:  Went over different levels of felonies.  (inaudible)  
 
Rep. Buffalo:  Question on sexual abuse of minor’s section. 
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  What is your preference, Rep. Buffalo, with what is in the 
bill. There are other bills out there that have statute of limitations on them.  
Should we send the bill back to the committee eliminating the statute of 
limitations?   
 
Rep. Buffalo: Yes 
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  I’m not sure that I am okay with eliminating the statute of 
limitations. 
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Rep. Bob Paulson:  It appears that we would be way beyond the norm if we 
went with no Statute of Limitations at all.  
 
Discussion:  It seems as if the microphones are not on for Rep. Satrom and 
Rep. Buffalo and most of the conversation is missing.  Mics cut in and out.  
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  We accepted the Hogan amendments.  
 
Continued discussion on different statute of limitations.  Some do have no 
statute of limitations.  
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  What would be your preference with the statute of 
limitations?  Go with what was submitted in the bill based on the two links that 
we were sent – to eliminate the statute of limitations?  There are states out there 
that have no statute of limitations when it come to the sexual abuse of minors.  
Are you comfortable sending the bill back to the committee and eliminating the 
statute of limitations? 
 
Rep. Buffalo:  Yes 
 
Rep.  Satrom:  I am getting there. 
 
Rep. Paulson:  If we change that in here, we would be taking away the DNA. 
Right now, if there is DNA and it can be matched, there is no statute of 
limitations.  If we were to change it to 21 years, we are changing that unless we 
have the whole thing rewritten.   
 
Rep. Paulson:  I move that we send HB 1425 back to committee with the 
Hogan Amendments and a DO PASS recommendation. Attachment 1. 
Rep. Buffalo seconded the motion.  
All in favor.  The motion carried.  
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Minutes:                                                  1 

 
Chairman Koppelman:  Opened the meeting on HB 1425. 
 
Rep. Bob Paulson: (Attachment #1 Senator Hogan’s amendments) Went over the proposed 
amendment along with the bill. We also recommend that we remove the statute of limitations, 
by going back to the original language and change 10 years on line 10 to 21 years.  It is a 
balance between the current law which is a 10-year statute of limitations and going to 21.  
This is a common statute of limitations in many states. 
 
Rep. Paulson moved the amendments. 
Rep. Satrom seconded the motion. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: You have removed all of the other changes that section 3 would 
make to current law, is that correct? 
 
Rep. Paulson:  Yes, we reverted back to current law.  
 
Rep. Koppelman:  In the motion we accepted the Hogan amendments as written and in 
Section 3 of the bill Section 29.04.03.1 of the North Dakota Century Code would remain the 
same except on Line 10 the word 10 would be deleted and 21 inserted.   

 
A voice vote was taken.  The motion carried.  

 
Rep. Hanson:  Did you (the subcommittee) discuss any language saying that this is only 
going forward, or any retroactivity?  
 
Rep. Paulson:  We did not.   
 
Representative Hanson moved a DO PASS as amended on HB 1425.   
Representative Magrum seconded the motion.  
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Rep. Vetter:  Is there no retroactivity unless stated, correct? 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  That is correct.  

 
      Discussion on statute of limitations.   
 
      Chairman K. Koppelman:  This will not be applicable to this bill.  
  
      A voice vote was taken:  Aye  11  Nay  3  Absent  0 
      The motion passes. 
      Representative Paulson will carry HB 1425. 
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Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Hogan 

January 30, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1425 

Page 1, line 1, remove "and a new" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "subsection to section 12.1-34-07" 

Page 1, line 3, remove "and acute forensic medical examinations" 

Page 1, line 9, after the first "the" insert "child sexual abuse" 

Page 1, line 9, after "victim" insert "over the age of eighteen" 

Page 1, line 10, replace the first "§.'' with "the" 

Page 1, remove lines 17 through 23 

Page 2, remove lines 1 and 2 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.1036.01001 
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Title.02000 

Adopted by the Judiciary Committee 

February 13, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1425 

Page 1, line 1, remove "and a new" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "subsection to section 12.1-34-07" 

Page 1, line 3, remove "and acute forensic medical examinations" 

Page 1, line 9, after the first "the" insert "child sexual abuse" 

Page 1, line 9, after "victim" insert "over the age of eighteen" 

Page 1, line 10, replace the first "g'' with "the" 

Page 1, remove lines 17 through 23 

Page 2, remove lines 1 and 2 

Page 2, line 6, remove the overstrike over "1. Except as provided in subsection 2, a 
prosecution" 

Page 2, line 6, remove "There is no limitation on the time" 

Page 2, line 7, remove "within which prosecution" 

Page 2, line 8, remove "must be commenced" 

Dp d--/Js /14 

Page 2, line 9, remove the overstrike over "must be commenced in the proper court •.vithin" 

Page 2, line 10, after "teA" insert "twenty-one" 

Page 2, line 10, remove the overstrike over "years after the commission of the offense or, if the 
victim failed to report the" 

Page 2, remove the overstrike over lines 11 through 16 

Page 2, line 17, remove the overstrike over "deoxyribonucleic acid testing or fingerprint 
authentication" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.1036.01002 
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HB 1425: Judiciary Committee (Rep. K. Koppelman, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS 
(11 YEAS, 3 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1425 was placed on the 
Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 1, remove "and a new" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "subsection to section 12.1-34-07" 

Page 1, line 3, remove "and acute forensic medical examinations" 

Page 1, line 9, after the first "the" insert "child sexual abuse" 

Page 1, line 9, after "victim" insert "over the age of eighteen" 

Page 1, line 10, replace the first "§" with "the" 

Page 1, remove lines 17 through 23 

Page 2, remove lines 1 and 2 

Page 2, line 6, remove the overstrike over "1. E><oept as provided in subseotion 2, a 
proseoution" 
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Judiciary Committee 
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#33476 (28:06) 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Meghan Pegel 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to create and enact two new subsections to section 12.1-34-02 of the 
North Dakota Century Code, relating to treatment standards for victims and medical 
screening; and to amend and reenact section 29-04-03.1 of the North Dakota Century 

Code, relating to prosecution for sexual abuse of minors. 
 
 

Minutes:                                                 2 Attachments 

 
Chair Larson opens the hearing on HB 1425. Senator Osland was absent. 
 
Mike Brandenburg, District 28 Representative, testifies in favor 
 
Representative Brandenburg: This was introduced in the House and had a good hearing. 
Section 1 talks about access to law enforcement report and the preservation of the evidence. 
It ties to the age of 18. If there was something that happened, and there was a report filed 
when you were under 18 years of age, the evidence would be kept for up to 21 years. A lot 
of times now, the report is filed, but the evidence is gone after the period of time we have 
right now. This would say that if there was a law enforcement report, you would have to keep 
it for 21 years and not destroy any of the evidence. Offenders could be people within the 
family, so you don’t want the people within the family to get access to that evidence, but 
available for the person who’s been offended when he or she becomes the age of 18. Then 
at that point, that person can take the evidence and decide if they’d like to prosecute 
depending on what the evidence may be. It may be that the evidence was not enough at that 
point for the states attorney to move it as a criminal offense, but this way the evidence would 
be protected for that person when they turn 18. Two sessions ago we changed it from 7 years 
to 10 years. Then last session we added in DNA and fingerprints, which is forever. If someone 
was offended when they were 10 years old, now it takes them to the age of 31. Current law 
allows up to 3 years after the 10-year period. This gives the time to allow for the ability, 
mentally and financially, to fight back. We tried to eliminate the statute of limitations 
completely, but we got 21 years. We also have protection for and access to the evidence. 
These are good moves, and I encourage a do pass. 
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Senator Myrdal: If the evidence wasn’t enough when it was submitted for the prosecution, 
how can it be enough 21 years later? 
 
Representative Brandenburg: Usually if these offenders have some case filed against 
them, there’s probably another case somewhere from somebody else that filed an assault. 
You can tie them together and find out that there’s more than one assault on different people. 
With that protected evidence, you can build a case in that situation. 
 
(7:35) Lovice Brandenburg, citizen, testifies in favor 
 
L. Brandenburg: I’m an incest survivor. My road has been long with unbelievable pain. I’ve 
spent years in therapy to overcome what my two brothers did to me. I’ve had the states 
attorney, doctors and therapists tell me it’s not my fault, and it wasn’t my fault. That’s it. I had 
a life sentence. My two brothers got nothing as the statute of limitations had expired. Again 
they said it wasn’t my fault. My two brothers are free to walk around among all of us as if 
they’ve done nothing wrong. Other family members greet them with open arms and welcome 
them to holidays, family reunions, hunting trips, vacations, weddings and baptisms. 
Meanwhile I was thrown away like a piece of garbage, never given another thought. I was 
pegged as the problem child, but it wasn’t my fault. There are so many young girls, boys and 
teens that will be told that it’s not their fault, that the statute of limitations has expired and 
there’s nothing anyone can do. They tell you they’re so sorry. They too will be in therapy for 
years of drugs and the streets if suicide doesn’t take them first. It is unacceptable for a child 
to be a victim of any type of sexual assault. It is our responsibility as a state to protect our 
children. Please vote do pass. 
 
Chair Larson: I heard your story four years ago, and the road you’ve taken and the strength 
you show now is inspirational to a lot of people. Well done. 
 
(10:50) Kathy Hogan, District 21 Senator, testifies in favor (see attachment #1) 
 
(16:05) Travis Finck, Deputy Director of the Commission on Legal Counsel for 
Indigents, neutral party (see attachment #2) 
 
Finck: The Commission is in the process of defending children. We also on many occasions 
defend victims. By no means is the Commission in opposition to this bill. However, we also 
represent children who are accused of crimes. The concern is if an offender is committing an 
offense, under the transfer provisions, once that offender turns the age of 18, the juvenile 
court no longer has jurisdiction over them. There’s a reason we have a juvenile court; we 
believe all kids are worth trying to save. If that’s reported, there’s a secretive process to the 
juvenile court, registration provisions for a felony level sex offense and a process to deviate 
from requiring a juvenile offender who’s adjudicated delinquent from having to register. That’s 
if they show no predatory conduct or no mental abnormality, and those reasons have been 
in place for a long time. What I ask to the committee to consider is how that plays with the 
juvenile court and those transfer provisions.  

One case was a consensual relationship between two persons with an age difference 
more than three years. It’s illegal if the person is under 15 years of age under our statute, 
whether it be a sexual act or sexual contact which could even be touching on the outside of 
the clothing. Many years down the road, when there was a breakup in the relationship, that’s 
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when the allegations came. I’m a big believer that we should prosecute those people who 
commit these offenses, but I also think that people should not use this as a sword as well. 
The concern is that there can be a defeating of the juvenile court’s purpose by delayed 
reporting. That situation does exist, and there are bad actors in any system. 
 
Senator Myrdal: I agree, there’s no reason whatsoever to question the testimony today and 
this subject that is sadly growing in our nation. We’re also sadly in a he said she said situation. 
On the national level, people are coming out with accusations that are found later to be 
untrue. The statutes are different for sex crimes if you’re under 18 than if you’re over, correct? 
 
Finck: In certain places, that’s correct. 
 
Senator Myrdal: It goes back to the question I had that if the evidence wasn’t enough at the 
time, it’s a dangerous road to go down for the defendant. We all have equal rights. With 
accused juveniles who go beyond 18, what’s your experience of them facing that and having 
the opportunity to defend themselves? 
 
Finck: It’s increasingly hampered. I ask people to try to recall what they did 3 years ago, 10 
years ago and 21 years ago. Add on top of that the fact that you may be 12-14 years old at 
the time of the offense. We know that your brain and memory are still developing at that 
stage. It can be significantly difficult for both the accused and the victim. In order to prosecute 
a case, the victims statement in and of itself could be enough to go forward. The question 
being is it enough to convict? 
 
Senator Luick: Is 18 the legal age for both male and female for this type of crime? 
 
Finck: Under 12.1-20, which is the sex offense chapter, age of 15 is the consent. However, 
there is a provision in the definitions section which says if age is the consideration, the 
offender would have to be more than three years older. It’s treated the same; there’s no 
distinction. 
 
Senator Luick: 18 would set off the differences in age for being considered an adult for both 
male and female? 
 
Finck: Correct. Once you meet the age of majority, the transfer provision 27-20-34 provides 
that once you reach age 18, the juvenile court is no longer the appropriate jurisdiction. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Is the problem that you indicate with this bill the same whether it’s 
10 years or 21 years statute of limitations? 
 
Finck: It is. The fact of the matter is that the length of time really doesn’t matter. Under current 
law, we’re seeing those problems now. I’m simply notifying the committee of what’s 
happening out there and how this is being litigated. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Do you have an idea for a solution for that? 
 
Finck: We’re having conversations. 
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Senator Hogan: We had an email from Children’s Advocacy Network about this concern. 
Representative Brandenburg and I then went to legislative counsel and asked for their 
opinion about how the juvenile court interfaced with this particular bill. Chris Joseph reviewed 
it and sent us a memo saying that he thought it was still clean, that there were sections in 
juvenile code that protected people. We tried to due diligence on your concerns because we 
thought they were legitimate, so we did a follow up with that. Samantha Kramer was also in 
the room. We had a number of lawyers from legislative counsel look at it.  
 
Chair Larson closes the hearing on HB 1425. 
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Chair Larson begins discussion on HB 1425. 
 
Senator Luick: As it stands, I would have a hard time supporting it. Reaching out there for 
that long of a time frame would be problematic for getting that evidence in proper form. 
 
Senator Myrdal: The longer we go between the occurrence and the prosecution of a crime, 
the more likelihood we have for the defendant not to have an opportunity to have a defense. 
We should go after those evil perpetrators; however, I think there’s a reason that we have 
the statute of limitations the way it is. We passed the DNA last session with no statute of 
limitations. Later on if a perpetrator gets caught and matches that DNA, it is an open case. 
The human mind is bizarre. Guilty or not, we have a standard that you are innocent until 
proven guilty. I’m very uncomfortable with extending that. There’s a reason in law that we 
have that in there. 
 
Senator Bakke: I understand your logic, but oftentimes when children are in that much 
trauma, they suppress it. It isn’t until they’re much older that they’re able to voice it. Just 
because the voice it, doesn’t mean that legal action will be taken. It just means that they 
could go to court, and the court will still have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that this 
occurred. It’s just holding that person accountable for their actions. Just because we’re 
extending the limitations, doesn’t mean the person will automatically get convicted. I don’t 
have a problem with this bill because as far as I’m concerned, there should be no statute of 
limitation if you have sexually abused a child. It’s criminal what has happened in some cases 
when someone has finally been brave enough to come forward 20-30 years later, and nothing 
can be done about it. You’re responsible for your actions. 
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Senator Luick: I was thinking about the statute of limitations being seven years after their 
18th birthday. 
 
Senator Myrdal: My problem is that the court, whether the accused is found guilty or not, 
wrecks their lives for good. It’s being used as a weapon against people in some cases. It’s a 
tough vote for sure. 
 
Senator Luick: As it stands right now, the age of 21 years for a 17-year-old could put it out 
to 38 years. If we look at a 10-year-old being accused, it’s only up to age 31. There’s a 
discrepancy of time to file cases. 
 
Senator Bakke: Then you’ll get into a situation of when the abuse started or ended. In most 
cases, if they’ve been successful the first time, they’ll be back. I had an 8-year-old who lived 
with me and had been sexually abused from the age of 4. As an 8-year-old, she got on the 
stand and in detail took her dad down. Currently it’s 10 years, and we’re moving it up to 21. 
I have no problem changing that. It’s difficult for someone in their early 20s to stand up to 
somebody that they see is an authority figure with power. Sometimes they need some years 
to deal with it before they can actual feel the power to defend themselves. I want to make 
sure we aren’t taking the opportunity for a victim to have their justice at some point. My 
youngest son was a shaken baby. His biological parents have never had to pay the price for 
what they did to my son. He’s fine now, but I feel they should have been prosecuted for that 
child abuse. 
 
Senator Myrdal: I thought for sex crimes, statutes don’t start until after their 18. 
 
Travis Finck, Deputy Director of the Commission on Legal Counsel for Indigents 
 
Finck: 29-04 is the provision for the statute of limitations. Section 3.2 it says if the victim was 
a violation of chapter 12.1-20, which is the sex offenses, or human trafficking under the age 
of 15, the applicable period of limitation doesn’t begin until they become the age of 15. The 
10 years under current law gives them until age 25. Even if it’s not reported in that first 10 
years, there is that three-year time period that if they do report it later on, then it just has to 
be prosecuted within that time period. Currently if the victim of a crime is 13, they would have 
until they’re 23. However, under the statute of limitation section, it says that statute of 
limitations does not begin to run until that victim becomes the age of 15, so they would have 
until 25. A child victim would have until age 25 to report it. Then there’s that three-year 
component. I’m not sure if that’s been interpreted by the court, but that’s the way I read the 
statute. 
 
Chair Larson: We’ve looked into brain development where the prefrontal cortex is not fully 
developed until the mid-20s. Having that executive functioning fully developed in your brain 
can play into that age portion. 
 
Senator Bakke: When a child experiences trauma, that decreases that development even 
more. There’s a lot of research on the trauma that a child goes through when they’re abused 
sexually, physically or emotionally. 
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Chair Larson: I don’t have a problem with this bill. It doesn’t make it easier to make an 
accusation against someone, and if you make an accusation, they need to find corroborating 
evidence. I agree with the balance that we need to take. We need to show some protection 
for both the victims and also protections in place so that an innocent person doesn’t become 
a victim of an accusation. However, an innocent person wouldn’t have evidence against 
them. I plan to support the bill the way it is. I think there’s concern with the juvenile portion of 
it, but I don’t think we should be addressing that in this particular legislation. I’m comfortable 
with extending it from 10 to 21 years. 
 
Senator Luick: In the current law today, has there been a problem with the statute of 
limitations with the information from victims or the ability to prosecute? 
 
Finck: You can prosecute with only the victim’s statement. If that prosecutor feels strongly 
enough, you can go forward on that; it doesn’t have to be corroborating evidence. Many times 
in sexual assault cases, there is no corroborating evidence because there is a delayed report 
or something along that line. Usually it’s not done in the open, so it becomes a he said she 
said case. That’s how most of these cases are prosecuted. I was asked about the Justice 
Kavanaugh case in the House and how this would play out if it were to happen in North 
Dakota. People can make allegations. It may simply be that there’s a change in prosecutor, 
and now that prosecutor feels they can get a conviction versus maybe the first prosecutor 
felt they could not. A lot of that is up to the prosecutor, whether they bring charges. 
 
Chair Larson: Though if Jane Doe decides to accuse her teacher when she’s 50, that still 
then begins the 3 years? 
 
Finck: The way I read the statute, yes. I’m not aware of case law or any attorney general 
opinion, but it’s interpreted that way. If you report it on day one after it first occurs, they would 
have 10 years to bring that case to justice. If they don’t report it in the first 10 years, then that 
would have to be brought to court within three years. 
 
Senator Luick: That’s in statute today? 
 
Finck: Yes. 
 
Senator Luick: This is serious stuff. The victim is absolutely due justice for what has 
happened, but is that going to fix the problem? 
 
Finck: I’ve represented a lot of victims that will never see their day in court and never get 
their justice, and it is heart wrenching. On the other hand, we have cases where there’s been 
a he said she said allegation where there’s been some convictions and some acquittals. 
When people have allegations, it’s put in front of a jury, and that jury decides on credibility. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: If a minor is under the age of 15, the statute of limitations doesn’t 
start until they are 15. If they’re 17, it starts at that moment and goes until the age 27. This 
essentially would change it to age 36 or age 38. 
 
Finck: Yes, that would be my understanding of the legislation. 
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Senator Myrdal: The statute of limitations is there to protect the integrity of the court system 
at large for the accuser and the accused. With something like this that is deeply emotional 
and disgusting, there is a greater risk of conviction from juries for innocent people than not. 
Is there any data that shows that current laws are putting the public at risk? 
 
Finck: I don’t have that information. Historically the arguments against the long periods of 
limitations is the due process concerns of the defendants, and that’s always balanced against 
the rights of the victims. 
 
Senator Bakke: Senator Luick, are you looking at an amendment? 
 
Senator Luick: No. I like it better as the law is today.  
 
Senator Bakke: Motions for a Do Pass. 
Chair Larson: Seconds. 
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 3 yeas, 2 nays, 1 absent. Motion carries. 
 
 
Senator Bakke will carry the bill. 
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House Judiciary Committee 
Testimony in Opposition of House Bil l # 1 425 
1 -28- 1 9  

Chairman and Members of the Committee. 

�� 

µ_g J�:zs-
/ --oZ ff----1'f 

For the record, my name is Paula Condo 1 .  I am the Director for the Children' s  

Advocacy Centers of North Dakota and the Executive Director of the Dakota 

Children' s  Advocacy Center, here in Bismarck. I am here today to oppose HB 1 425 . 

The Children' s  Advocacy Centers ofNorth Dakota (or CAC ' s) provide a 

compassionate and effective way to bring services to children and families affected 

by abuse. Our collaboration with multidisciplinary team members significantly 

reduces the trauma associated with child abuse and improves case outcomes .  We 

help coordinate care and investigation from the first report to conviction and 

beyond, while keeping the child at the center of everything the team does. This 

multidisciplinary team brings professionals from social services, law enforcement, 

prosecution, victim advocacy and the medical and mental health communities 

together so that a child only has to tel l  of his or her abuse one time, and so that we 

can build better case and start that child on the road to healing. The CAC model is 

seen as the gold standard response to child abuse across the country at over 800 

CAC' s, in all 50 states .  Including three CAC ' s  in ND, covering six regionally 

placed sites; one in Bismarck, Dickinson, Minot, Fargo, Belcourt and Grand Forks . 

In 20 1 8 , we served 2628 children and family members who have been affected by 

abuse and provided 2 1 ,486 services to them. 

Every year our centers see children that are sexually abused, beaten and threatened. 

They have witnessed violence and at times been exploited through pornography and 

HB 1 425 - Condol - 1 
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trafficking. Children' s  Advocacy Centers offer environments that are free of 

intimidation. This welcoming atmosphere makes the situation less stressful for the 

child and as a result they may be more open to sharing their horrific experiences .  

House Bill 1 425 , although, has some good components, could take away that safety. 

Last session we passed Senate Bil l  2 1 89 that protects Children' s  Advocacy Center 

(CAC) records. The underlying premise of that amendment was safety. Safety for 

the child who trusted their story to us and believed we would keep them safe. Safety 

to the non-offending parent, who stays awake at night worried that their abusive 

partner, spouse or family member will gain access to the records and take it out on 

the child or them and safety for the evidence that might be used to hold the offender 

accountable. In 20 1 8  7 1  % of all offenders for children seen at CAC ' s across the 

state were family members . 3 6% of the offenders were the child' s  parent and if you 

add in their significant others that number jumps to 50%. This bill essentially 

would be handing very sensitive investigative information over to these offenders 

and putting many kids at risk. 

I realize that this bill isn't specific to CAC ' s  and that bill references "findings and 

results" . However, it is important to know that the majority of kids seen for sexual 

abuse across the state are seen at CAC ' s, who all offer a medical component and all 

who send the report to law enforcement. Giving copies of these records/results to 

parents, knowing that 50% of the time they are the one that has caused the abuse is 

very scary. Imagine being that child and how frightening it must be to seek out help 

and tel l  their story, only to find out later that the person who inflicted this harm has 

access to that information. 
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As a parent I understand the complexity of wanting my child to be safe while 

preserving the right to know about their care . CAC ' s  also understand the 

complicated situations of the families we deal with and work with non-offending 

caregivers on multiple levels to ensure that they are informed of every step of the 

process, as we can. We visit with them prior to the interview and after the 

interview to inform them of the process and to talk about what happens next. An 

advocate visits with them regularly to see how they are doing, updates them on case 

statuses and provides support and services .  The medical provider visits with them 

during and after the examination and follows up with them to let know of any 

findings and recommended care . During therapy their clinician visits with them at 

every session to let them know how the child is  doing and helps the non-offending 

caregiver with their trauma. Communication is key to our services. These things 

are already happening. The difference is that we currently can do this while 

protecting the child ' s  story and their safety. We are not asking to keep parents in 

the dark, we are asking that the child' s records and our team member' s evidence be 

kept confidential for the child ' s  protection. Nor are we asking to take away rights 

of alleged offenders . Alleged offenders are already afforded rights through the 

discovery process .  In addition, judges also have the authority to release records they 

deem appropriate. 

All that said. This bill would erase statute of limitations for victims and we 

wholeheartedly support that. 

Children' s  Advocacy Centers in ND play a critical role in ensuring the safety of 

abused children in our state . A large part of protecting those children relies on us 

being able to communicate with our Multidisciplinary Team partners and at the same 

time, protecting that information so that the abuser is unable to misuse this 
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information to further hurt the child. We greatly appreciate the support 

confidence the Legislature has in the services we provide. I am the first to wish our 

centers could close our doors and go out of business, but until we can do so knowing 

that NO child in North Dakota needs our help, I ask you for your support. 

Chairman and Members of the Committee, thank you for allowing me the opportunity 

to testify before you today and I wil l  be happy to try and answer any of your 

questions .  
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TESTIMONY 
House Jud iciary Committee 

House Bi l l  1425 
January 23, 2019 

Senator Kathy Hogan 

Cha i rma n Koppe lman  a nd members of the House J ud ic ia ry Com m ittee .  My name 

is  Kathy Hoga n a nd I rep resent D i str ict 2 1  - t he  hea rt o f  Fa rgo . 

For the l a st 8 yea rs, we have been  look ing at these statutes re l ated to ch i l d hood 

sexua l  a buse .  E ight yea rs ago, many peop le  d id not u nde rsta nd  the ser ious 

rea l ity of ch i l d hood sexua l  a buse . We have made major  cha nges over the l a st 8 

yea rs but there a re st i l l  a few a reas  that I hope th i s  com m ittee wi l l  cons ider. 

The one issue that has  been d iscussed a n n ua l ly i s  the statute of l im itation  on  

crim i n a l  ch i l d  sexua l  a buse .  Based on  the tragic s ituat ion faced by USA 

Gymnast ic where ove r 300 ch i l d ren  we re sexua l ly a bused Dr. La rry N asse r Ove r a 

15-yea r pe riod . Seve ra l young women cou ld not pa rt ic i pate i n  the cr im i n a l  

p rosecut ion beca use of t he  statute o f  l im itat i on .  

Based on severa l h igh-profi le s ituat ions, t he  method of  ident ify ing the patte rn of 

a buse typ ica l ly comes from a se r ies of re lated a l l egations  be ing  gathered and  

reviewed often over ma ny yea rs . 

Recent ly, there has  been a nationa l  movement to imp l ement Su rvivors '  B i l l  of 

R ights . ND  has  a l ready imp lemented th ree of those recommendat ions  but  there 

a re th ree add it iona l i ssues we wou l d  l i ke you to cons ider .  

I n  sect ion 1 th i s  l aw wou ld req u i re that a v ict im have a r ight to a copy of  the l aw 

enfo rcement report and  i t  wou l d  req u i re that  a l l  evidence of  ch i l d  sexua l  a buse 

a l legat ion never be destroyed . 

Sect ion 2 Wou ld give a vict im access to a copy of the med i ca l  eva l uat ion .  

u ndersta nd that there a re some advocated conce rned a bout t h e  l a nguage of th i s  

section .  Beca use i f  the a l leged a buser  was the i r  pa rent/gua rd i a n  a nd the vict im 
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was st{J ch7id, the  a buse cou ld have access to the i nformat ion . We a lways 
wa nt to protect the v ict im fi rst a nd wou l d  suggest that issue be c la r ified . 

Sect ion 3 Wou ld e l im i nate the statute of l im itat ion on ch i l d  sexua l  a buse cases . 

Let me br iefly descr i be the s i tuat ion wh ich brought th i s  i ssue to my attent ion .  
Go ing door to door i n  2010 a const ituent to ld me the sto ry of h i s  fri end ,  J o e  who 
had been sexua l ly a bu sed by a profess iona l when he was 10 yea rs o ld . Joe fi rst 
d i sc losed h is sexua l  a bu se when he was i n  h is l ate 40 1s a nd then went to law 
enforcement who to ld  h im  it was too l ate to i nvest igate . Severa l yea rs late r  at a 
h igh schoo l gathe r i ng, he  was v is it i ng with a friend who had ju st gotten out of 
su bsta nce treatment .  Joe ' s  fri end  d isc losed he had been a vict im of ch i l d  sexua l  
a buse wh ich h a d  been a factor i n  h i s  add i ct ion . I n  conve rsat ion, they d iscovered 
that they had  both been a buse by the sa me profess iona l .  They aga i n  went to law 
enforcement a nd they were to ld  that they cou ld do noth i ng .  

Over the next 4 yea rs, these two fri ends  identif ied two other  v ict ims .  One 
s ummer in 2008, they fou nd the recept ion ist who worked with th i s  p rofess iona l  
a nd ta l ked to  her  a bout the i r  expe r ience .  She  was i n  her  late 80s a nd she fe l l  
a pa rt i n  tea rs . S h e  s h a red with the two men that she was awa re a nd had kept a 
l i st of the you ng men  she  thought had been abused by her  boss .  With a l l  th i s  
evidence, there was noth i ng that cou ld be done .  

If that  s ituat ion h appened after th i s  b i l l  was passed, law enforcement cou l d  
pu rsue a n  i nvest igat ion a nd t he  states atto rney cou ld i ndependent ly eva l u ate that 
ev idence to see if p rosecut ion was a ppropriate . Comb i n i ng reports a re often 
the tr igge r for rea l j u st ice beca use most v ict ims do not know that there a re other  
v ict ims .  A p rosecuto r  i s  i n  contro l  of  the evidence before cha rges a re fi l l ed .  

Tha nk  you Cha i rman  Koppe lman, I a m  more tha n wi l l i ng to an swer a ny quest ions .  



Survivors' Bill of Rights Act 

- the r ight to not h ave evidence be destroyed before the  statute of l im itat ion s  
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some states destroy u ntested ra pe kits i n  as  l itt l e  as  30 days . However, evi den ce i s  often n ever 

destroyed i n  other  cr imes, such as mu rder .  Moreover, in many  states, convicted rap i sts h ave 

the r ight to have evidence kept for t he  d u rat ion of the i r  conv ict ion ,  b ut a s u rvivor does not 

have the  r ight to have evidence kept for the  ent i rety of the  statute of l im itat ions  

- the r ight to  be not ifi ed of  you r  r ights 

- the r ight to not be ch a rged for the rape kit exam i n at ion 

- the r ight to access one ' s  own med ica l  record i n  the  rape k i t  exam i n at ion  

- the r ight to  a copy of  the su rvivors' po l ice report 

- e l im i n at ion of statute of l im itat ion for ch i l d  sexua l  abuse  
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Department of J ust ice leadersh ip  d i rected the Office on Violence Aga inst Women in  
consu ltat ion with the Depa rtment of  Hea lth and Human Services ,  to convene a work ing 
g roup to deve lop ,  coo rd inate , and d isseminate non b ind ing best practices regard ing the 
ca re and treatment of sexua l  assau lt su rvivors and the preservation of forens ic 
evidence .  

M u lt ip le offices a n d  components of the Depa rtment of J ustice and the Depa rtment of 
Hea lth H uman Services part ic ipated in th is jo int effort . This report reflects a true 
cooperative effort . 

Th is report ,  submitted in  fu lfi lment of the requ i rement fou nd in  section 3 of the 20 1 6 
Su rvivors' B i l l  of R ig hts Act (Pub .  L .  No .  1 1 4-236 [cod ified at 34 USC § 1 25 1 2] ) ,  
describes : 

• Vo lun ta ry best p ractices , protoco ls ,  and  other resou rces that commun ities can 
use to improve the care and treatment of sexua l  assau lt su rvivors and the 
p reservat ion of fo rens ic evidence ;  

• Themes that emerged i n  l isten i ng  sess ions with experts on the ca re and 
treatment of s u rvivors and  the p reservation of  evidence ;  and 

• I nformat ion about  what both Departments are do ing to he lp  commun ities 
strengthen the i r  responses to sexua l  assau lt .  
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About the S u rvivors '  B i l l  of Rig hts Act Worki ng  G roup  

The Su rvivo rs '  B i l l  of Rig hts Act , enacted i n  October 20 1 6 , identifies rig hts that must be 
afforded to sexua l  assau lt s u rvivors in federa l  crim ina l  cases, authorizes the Atto rney 
Genera l  to adm in iste r g rants to ensure that su rvivors rece ive certa in  notifications ,  and 
d i rects the Attorney Genera l ,  i n  consu ltat ion with the Secreta ry of Hea lth and Human 
Services , to estab l ish a jo int  working g roup  to develop, coordinate, and disseminate 
best practices regarding the care and treatment of sexual assault survivors and the 
preservation of forensic evidence. 1 The work ing group  was requ i red to consu lt with 
certa i n  stakeho lders ,  i nc lud ing  at least one sexua l  assau lt su rvivor . 2 Membersh ip  of the 
working  g roup  must comprise "governmenta l  or  nongovernmenta l  agency heads at the 
d iscretion  of the Atto rney Genera l ,  in consu ltation with the Secretary , " 3 and the work ing 
g roup  is requ i red to deve lop and submit a report to Congress by Octobe r 7 ,  201 8 .  

Subject matter experts with i n  the Department of Justice (DOJ) a n d  the Department of 
Hea lth and Human Services (H HS)  were identified to part icipate in the work ing g roup ,  
fo l lowing a meeti ng  i n  Februa ry 20 1 8 o f  leadersh ip from both Departments . Federa l  
work ing g roup  members rep resent t he  fo l lowing offices/bu reaus :  

• Department of  Just ice 
o Office on Vio lence Aga inst Women (OVW) 
o Office for Victims of Crime (OVC) 
o Nat iona l  I n stitute of J ust ice (N I J )  
o Bu reau of J ustice Ass istance (BJA) 
o Execut ive Office fo r U n ited States Attorneys (EOUSA) 
o Federa l  Bu reau of I nvestigat ion (FB I )  

• F B I  Laboratory 
• Vict im Services D iv is ion (VSD) 

• Department  of Hea lth and  Human Serv ices 
o I mmed iate Office of the Secreta ry ( IOS) 
o Office of the Ass istant Secreta ry for Hea lth (OASH) 
o Adm in istrat ion fo r Ch i ld ren and Fami l ies (AC F) 
o I n d ian  Hea lth Serv ice ( I HS)  
o Hea lth Resou rces and  Services Admin istration (H RSA) 
o Office on Women's Hea lth (OWH) 

1 Pub .  L .  No. 1 14-236 (codified at  34 USC § 12512) 
2 34 USC § 12512(b) 
3 Id. § 12512(c) 
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The working  g roup  met fou r  times i n  20 1 8 .  Fu rthe rmore ,  experts correspond ing  to the 
stakeho lder g roups identified in the Su rvivors '  Bi l l  of R ig hts Act-inc lud i ng  su rvivors , 4 

vict im advocates and counselors, fo rens ic laboratory personne l ,  hea lthca re providers 
and forens ic  hea lthcare providers ,  law enforcement officers , and  p rosecutors-were 
invited to pa rt ic ipate i n  a series of seven te lephon ic l isten i ng  sess ions conducted 
between Apri l  and  J u ne of 201 8 .  I n  add itio n ,  an i n -person session was he ld at the 
DOJ's Nationa l  Advocacy Center with federa l  vict im witness personne l  who work with 
vict ims i n  I nd ian  cou ntry . To accommodate stakeho lders who were not able to 
participate i n  a l isten ing sess ion or who wished to p rovide more information ,  the work ing 
g roup a lso inv ited stakeholders to submit written comments .  F i na l ly ,  i n  August 201 8 the 
working  g roup  met wi th Amanda Nguyen ,  Founder and Pres ident of R ise , an 
organ izat ion that works with the U n ited States Congress and state leg is latu res to 
strengthen rig hts for sexua l  assau lt su rvivors . Ms .  Nguyen 's  perspective as a leader i n  
shap ing  g rou ndbreak ing lega l  reforms he lped inform the working  g ro up 's report .  

G iven that  many of the best practices the work ing g roup  is charged wi th ident ifying and 
d isseminat i ng exist as gu ide l i nes ,  protoco ls ,  too lk its ,  and other  resou rces ,  the l isten ing 
sess ions focused on  where there a re gaps in best p ract ices and  where pers istent 
cha l lenges to implement ing effective approaches exist. This report summarizes what 
was heard i n  the l isten ing sessions ,  resou rces ava i lab le to g u ide comm u n it ies in 
strengthen ing  the i r  response to sexua l  assau lt ,  and what DOJ and H H S  a re doing to 
ensure that s u rvivors have access to ca re and treatment and that evidence is preserved 
accord ing to best p ractices .  

Fu lfi l lment of Senate Comm ittee Report Req u i rement 

This report i s  subm itted a lso i n  fu lfi l lment o f  a second Congressiona l  report ing  
requ i rement conta i ned in  the Senate Committee on Appropriations report to  accompany 
the Depa rtments of Commerce and Justice , Science ,  and Related Agencies 
Appropriat ions B i l l ,  20 1 8 .  The Senate report req uests an  update on the Department of 
Just ice 's investigating  and l it igati ng  components '  "efforts to u pdate prosecut ion ,  victim ,  
a nd  witness ass istance gu ide l ines , p rotoco ls ,  p rocedu res ,  a nd  othe r  re levant 
regu lations  i n  order  to be consistent with recent changes in  the law associated with 
crime victims and sexua l  assau lt su rvivors rig hts , i nclud ing  those v ict im and su rvivor 
rig hts that app ly rega rd less of whether  the victim part ic ipates in  a subsequent  
investigat ion or  whether or not a report resu lts i n  a forma l  charge  or  i nd ictment . " 5 

4 The terms "vict im , " "survivor, " and "patient" are used i n  th is  report. "Su rvivor" acknowledges and honors 
the reality that many vict ims of sexual assault escape violence and rebu ild the i r  l ives. "Vict im" recogn izes 
that sexual assault is a violent crime, and not everyone su rvives it. " Patient" is  the term used in healthcare 
for the person receiving med ical treatment. 
5 S. Rep. No. 1 1 5- 1 39 at 62 (20 1 7). 
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The Federa l  Bu reau of I nvestigat ion (FB l ) 's  Victim Services D ivis ion (VS D) and the 
Execut ive Office fo r U n ited States Attorneys part ic ipated i n  the Su rvivors '  B i l l  of R ights 
Act working  g rou p ,  and  supp l ied updates on the ir  efforts to afford sexua l  assau lt 
su rvivors the rights en umerated in the Su rvivors' B i l l  of R ights Act . Those u pdates can 
be found i n  the What We Are Doing section of th is report .  
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Figure 1 :  Listening Session Themes 

M edical/Forensic Care 

The medical forensic exam should be 
performed by a trained healthcare 

practitioner who can treat the patient's 
physical and emotiona l trauma, address 
health concerns, and collect evidence 
according to best practices. The need 

for medical care must not be lost in the 
focus on evidence collection. 

Coordinated 
Community Response 

Communities can better serve victims 
and hold offenders accountable when 
there is meaningful col l aboration and 
regular communication among justice 

system professionals, healthcare 
providers, victim advocates, and 

others. 

& 
Trauma-informed Approaches 

Justice and healthcare 
professionals can respond to sexual 

assault with greater compassion 
and competence if they understand 

how trauma affects the ways 
survivors cope, heal, and pursue 

safety and just ice. 

Tracking Evidence 

Evidence tracking systems can 
facil itate transparency, 

accountabi l ity, and t imely 
processing of evidence. 
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Beyond DNA 

DNA is critical evidence in many 
sexual assault cases, but 

evidence includes more than DNA. 
and more than what is collected 

in a sexual assault kit (SAK). 
Testing a SAK is one component 
of a sexual assault investigation. 

Best Practices & 

Standards 
Protocols and recommendations 
describe the features of a model 
response to sexual assault, but 

these resources are of limited utility 
in the absence of a commitment to 
implement them and the resources 

to do so . 



What We Hea rd :  Themes from L isten i ng Sess ions 

Experts i n  law enforcement ,  p rosecution , forensic science ,  fo rensic med ic ine , 
hea lthca re and  hea lthca re admin istratio n ,  and vict im serv ices and advocacy were 
invited to part ic ipate i n  l isten i ng  sess ions d u ring the spr ing of 201 8 .  Seven l isten ing  
sessions ,  i ncl ud i ng  one to  hear from su rvivors , were convened by conference ca l l .  More 
than 50 people part ic ipated .  An add it iona l  l isten ing sess ion was he ld in  Co lumb ia ,  South 
Caro l i na ,  in May 201 8 to hear  from federa l  Victim Witness Specia l ists on the un ique 
cha l lenges i n  ca r ing for sexua l  assau lt patients and preserv ing evidence i n  sexua l  
assau lt cases i n  I n d ian  cou ntry .  

Participants were i nvited to  share the i r  perspectives on ba rriers to post-assau lt forens ic 
hea lthca re and  evidence p reservat ion in sexua l  assau lt cases ,  as wel l  as p romis ing 
approaches to m it igat i ng those ba rriers . They were asked to specu late on  what is and is 
not work ing i n  their states and commun ities ,  includ ing the impact of recent law and 
pol icy changes.  They were asked to ident ify gu idance ,  too ls ,  and other resou rces they 
fi nd especia l ly he lpfu l for fu lfi l l i ng  their ro les in the response to sexua l  assau lt .  

Part ic ipants were p rovided with backg round on the Survivors' B i l l  of Rights Act at the 
sta rt of each l isten i ng  session ,  and they were informed that remarks made in  the 
l isten ing  session wou ld n ot be attr ibuted to ind ivid ua l  speakers in  th is report .  Everyone 
who was inv ited to part ic ipate i n  a l isten ing  session was g iven the opportu n ity to provide 
written comments on  the d iscussion questions ,  whether or  not they were ab le to 
participate i n  the l isten i ng  session .  S ix overarching themes emerged across mu ltip le 
l isten ing  sess ions .  Those themes a re d iscussed below and summarized i n  F ig u re 1 on 
the prev ious page .  

Experts inv ited to  part ic ipate in  l isten i ng  sess ions shared d iverse loca l ,  state , and  
nat iona l  perspectives on what needs to  be  done to better respond to su rvivors and  
preserve evidence .  The i r  reflect ions and recommendat ions offer a sta rt ing point for 
crafting so lut ions to long-stand ing  prob lems. However, the work ing g roup  emphasizes 
that the l isten i ng  sess ion themes summarized in th is report are just that : a sta rt ing point .  
What makes a response to sexua l  assau lt effective-in  terms of m in im iz ing fu rther 
trauma for the su rvivor, tend ing  to her/h is hea lthcare needs ,  and maximizing the va lue 
of forens ic evidence-va ries across j u risd ict ions and states . 

Theme 1 :  Medical/Forensic Care 
Partic ipants d iscussed sexua l  assau lt's endu ring physica l ,  psychologica l ,  and emotiona l  
hea lth consequences for wh ich immed iate and ongoing treatment may be i n  short 
supply or inaccess ib le to su rvivors .  They expla ined that sexua l  assau lt can cause 
physica l i nj u ries rang i ng  from minor  cuts and bru is ing to b lunt force trauma ,  defens ive 
wounds ,  attempted strangu lat ion ,  traumatic brain inj u ry ,  and inte rna l  and anogen ita l 
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i nj u ries .  A n u rse stressed that l im ited access to t imely and  comp lete med ica l/fo rens ic 
care can jeopard ize a patient's hea lth : 

"It is particularly difficult for patients looking to access care in rural communities 
because of the extreme cost of [HIV prophylaxis] medication. The hospitals and 
the community pharmacies do not stock the medication. And this is one of the 
only things that's really time dependent-it has to be initiated within 72 hours of 
the contact, and it's very difficult for patients to get access to this medication, not 
only in my state but across the country. 11 

Healthcare p ractit ioners and vict im advocates worried that the medica l  component of 
the medical fo rens ic exam gets lost i n  the larger d iscuss ion about  sexua l  assau lt kits 
(SAKs) . They cautioned that m istak ing the exam as exclus ive ly for evidence co l lect ion 
can conflate the ro le of the hea lthca re p rovider who conducts the med ica l forens ic exam 
with that of law enforcement .  

Theme 2: Trauma-informed Approaches 
Part ic ipants i n  each l isten ing sess ion described a crit ica l need to i ncu lcate trauma­
informed approaches in  justice and healthca re systems th rough  tra i n i ng ,  leadersh ip  and 
supervis ion ,  and pol icymaking .  A "tra uma- i nformed" approach is one  bu i lt on an 
understand ing of how trauma affects a person 's  physica l ,  emotiona l ,  a nd psycho log ica l  
hea lth , and accounts for the potentia l  fo r systems-l ike hea lthcare and crim ina l  
just ice-to cause fu rther  trauma.  A law enfo rcement officer expla i ned : 

"A lot of victim blaming still exists in society, including in the medical and law 
enforcement communities. A lack of understanding of how trauma affects 
memory has the potential to make a victim completely shut down before the 
detective has a chance to talk to her. From the initial reporting officer, first 
responder medic, ambulance attendant, hospital nurse or doctor, all it takes is for 
somebody in that chain to engage in victim blaming and create an environment 
not conducive to a victim wanting to participate in the investigation. 11 

Cit ing s im i lar  observations ,  a vict im advocate said , "We need to make su re everyone 
gets some tra i n ing on trauma-info rmed response . "  Such tra i n i ng  can teach investigators 
to in te rview su rvivors i n  ways that a re not in te rrogato ry and accusato ry ,  but  rather ,  i nvite 
the su rvivor to describe what happened , at whatever pace ,  in whatever order, and with 
as much deta i l  as she/he can reca l l .  Tra i n i ng  on trauma- info rmed approaches to care 
can he lp hea lthcare providers treat a patient 's emotiona l  tra uma wh i le tend ing  to her/h is 
medica l  needs and co l lect ing evidence .  

Part icipants exp la i ned that trauma- informed approaches a re necessa ry not j ust in  the 
inte raction between a detective and a vict im or  a n u rse and a patient ,  but i n  the way a 
system's response is structu red and how resou rces a re used . I nvestigato rs may carry 
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unmanageab ly la rge case loads and p rosecutors in  many ju risd ict ions may be 
d iscou raged from charg i ng  cases for wh ich a convict ion is not certa i n .  Sexua l  Assa u lt 
Nu rse Examiner  (SAN E) p rog rams and  vict im services providers face h ig h  tu rnover 
rates in  the i r  fie lds and  ch ron ic resource shortages . Across sectors , p ractica l ,  day-to­
day d ifficu lt ies such as these can inte rfere with the ab i l ity to imp lement trauma-informed 
practices .  

Theme 3: Beyond DNA 
Part ic ipants agreed that advances in D NA ana lys is over the past severa l decades have 
made sero log ica l  evidence ( i . e . ,  bod i ly flu ids ,  inc lud ing b lood , semen ,  and sa l iva) a 
powerfu l too l  for so lv ing sexua l  assa u lts by confirming that sexua l  contact occu rred , 
identifying offenders ,  and l i nk i ng  cr imes th rough the Combined DNA I ndexi ng System 
(COD IS) and  other  databases . However, some part ic ipants caut ioned aga inst an  
overre l iance on D NA and a na rrow focus on  DNA as the so lut ion to  the p roof cha l lenges 
in  investigating  and  p rosecut ing  sexua l  assau lt cases.  One prosecutor sa id : 

"What I see in many places is an overreliance on the use of ONA, and that can lead to 
case attrition .  In some cases the victim has a medical forensic exam, and then police 
and prosecutors wait for a year for the lab results to come back. In some of these 
cases proving whether there was sex isn 't the issue because the defendant admits he 
had sex with the victim but says it  was consensual. In a small, tribal community the 
victim has continued to see the offender at parties, events, ceremonies for the 1 2  
months everyone is waiting for the crime lab results . . .  that can lead to case 
declinations as the victim is no longer interested in working with the criminal justice 
system. It's a training issue for law enforcement and prosecutors-if the case isn 't a 
whodunit, do you really need to wait on the forensic results to move forward?" 

Conversely ,  another p rosecuto r  reported that her team "doesn't wait for fo rens ic resu lts 
to come in if it's an acqua intance rape,  so a wait at the lab isn 't ho ld ing us back from 
work ing those cases . "  Part ic ipants a lso noted that not a l l  sexua l  assau lt cases have 
SAKs associated with them ,  not a l l  SAKs conta in  DNA, and not a l l  DNA profi les 
generated from SAKs a re e l i g ib le fo r up load in COD IS .  Because many sexua l  assau lt 
cases cannot ,  o r  w i l l  n ot ,  h inge on  DNA evidence ,  it is important that the pub l ic ,  
po l icymakers ,  and p ractit ioners understand the ro le of non-DNA evidence i n  solv ing sex 
crimes , and avoid v iew ing the speed ier testing of SAKs as a panacea . 

When asked what ,  besides D NA ,  is usefu l for investigati ng sexua l  assau lt ,  law 
enforcement part ic ipants cited strateg ies inc lud ing : obta in ing witness accou nts and 
other evidence that  corroborate the v ictim's version of  events ; reviewing med ica l 
records ,  i nc lud ing  notes recorded by the med ica l  fo rens ic examiner; fac i l itat ing p retext 
phone ca l ls  between the vict im and the accused to obta in  admiss ions ;  co l lect ing d ig ita l 
evidence such as text messages,  p ictu res ,  and GPS data from ce l l  phones ;  retrieving 
su rvei l la nce footage from home and  bus iness secu rity systems and  traffic l ight  cameras ;  

October 201 8 I Page 1 0  of 59 

• 

• 



• 

• 

sea rch ing  socia l med ia ;  and inviti ng  
assistance from the pub l ic  th rough 
canvass ing ne igh borhoods and 
ho ld ing p ress conferences .  

What can be ach ieved in  a forens ic 
laboratory-and DNA ana lys is ,  in 
particu la r-has transformed how the 
just ice system fights v io lent cr ime . 
COD I S  and other databases are a 
va luab le  investigative too l  fo r l i nk ing 
crimes and identifying ser ia l  
offenders .  Yet ,  part ic ipants reported 
that access to advocacy and services 
for the su rvivor ,  good pol ice work , 
and ski l led , thorough prosecution a re 
just as critica l to b ring ing offenders to 
justice as anyth ing that happens i n  
the  laborato ry .  "Wh i le focus ing on the 
kit is important ,  it' s just one aspect of 
addressing sexua l  assau lt , "  sa id a 
vict im advocate . 

Theme 4: Coordinated Community 
Response 
Part ic ipants described how 

coord i nated commun ity responses­

mean ing  teams of p rofessiona ls 

with i n  and outside the justice and 

Fig:1re 2. /\Jon-ONA Forensic Evrdence 

The I m po rtance of A l l  Forensic Evidence 

I t  i s  imperative t ha t  a ll types of forensic ev idence be  
considered and  pu rsued in  sexua l  assault cases .  

w l ie  ONA i s  a powerful too l, da ta  obta ined from s ix  different crtes 
show that DNA profiles that were of sufficient qua lity fo r CODIS 
up load were obta ined i n  on ly 38 percent of more than 7,000 SAKs 
submitted for D A testi ng .  Samples collected for a SAK are not the 
on ly sou rces of evidence i n  sexua l  assault cases_ Other types of 

evidence can include :  

• I n  drug -fac i l itated sexua l  assault (DFSA) cases . powders, pi l l s, 
syr inges, or beverages l eft at the crime scene and 
tox ico logical ana lys is of urine or l i qu id blood samples; 

• Ld ent pr ints on vict im's belong ings and on weapons, 
b indings, or o her i tems at the crime scene; 

• D i g ita l or other mult imed ia ana l ,-s1s of phone ca l l s, texts, 
photos, GPS data , or other items that may help to p l ace the 
suspec and/or v ic t im at the crime scene; 

• Chemical ana lysis of swabs col lected from the v;c im's body 
for sperm ic ides or o her l ubr icant& t hat can be a s soc iated 
wi h certa in  types of condoms; and 

• T race evidence ana lys is of fibers from cloth i ng  o r  
examination o f  fabr ics for cu  s or ea rs  and companson to 
weapons .  

N I J  admin i sters a cnt ical program focused on research and 

deve lopment in  the forensic sciences with the object ives of 
deve lop i ng h ighly prec i s e. accurate, re l i a ble, cost--efiective.. and rap i d  
me hods for t he  id?nt iflcat i o n, ana lys i s ,  and i n  erpretation o f  phys ica l  
evidence . Surv ivors of hese homi1c cr imes deserve e•.,ery possible 
consideration because ONA evidence may n ot be probative_ 

S'?e: Se.1 1, il A!:S;iJI� Ca1.e:; :  E:i:plonrq t"l1; lm;,ortance cf Nc:.o. :1 ��A =or!fl': t :  !:Yidence, a: :  
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hea lthcare systems-can benefit su rvivors and yield better case outcomes.  The 

d ifference between a we l l-coord i nated approach and a d isjo in ted one was stark in  two 

survivors' accou nts of the i r  exper iences :  

"The right hand never knows what the left hand is doing. I had to facilitate, and 
write letters, and call, and pound on doors to try to get this information. Not only 
am I exhausted from being sexually assaulted-I'm exhausted from trying to find 
my rape kit. I 'm exhausted from trying to get answers from the prosecuting 
attorney and from getting the runaround at  the state level. Going through what 
I 've gone through, I don 't understand why any victim would want this 
prosecuted. " 

"I had a really great experience, in terms of the prosecutors, the detectives, and 
the forensic nurse. Everyone was so supportive of me, but I know how unusual 
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that is. My experience went well because there was a great team structure . . .  it 
made everything go smoothly. " 

Advocates a lso vo iced concern that ,  i n  some p laces, commun ity-based vict im 
advocates may "be left of out  of the equation "  and victim notificat ion strategies may 
suffer as a resu lt .  An advocate remarked : 

"With a concentrated focus on getting kits tested, the one area where I 've seen 
less attention to is victim notification . . .  One of the unintended consequences is 
that community-based victim advocates are being seen as less vital partners . . .  I 
see a lot of dollars going to states' testing of kits and less to prosecution and 
victim notification teams, and where there are victim notification teams there is a 
lot of confusion around different roles and the role of system- and community­
based advocates. " 

A survivor sa id that "the advocate was the on ly person who he lped [her] , "  and 
advocates offered a reminder  that  vict ims can understand and pursue j ust ice in  ways 
that d iffer from trad it iona l ,  lega l  defi n it ions of justice . They exp la ined that many 
survivors m ight requ i re services to he lp them rebu i ld their l ives , regard less of whether 
they ever report their assau lts . 

Theme 5: Tracking Evidence 
Part ic ipants po inted to a need for evidence tracking systems to ensure t imely transfer  
and ana lys is of  SAKs and  other  evidence ,  prevent the loss or destruction  of SAKs , 
mainta in  an  accu rate i nvento ry of SAKs ,  and keep su rvivors apprised of the status of 
the i r  SAKs . " I  can track my p izza o rder  from a mobi le phone app .  We need a system in  
p lace where there 's a barcode ,  o r  someth ing , so I can have access to information about 
where my rape kit is , "  a s u rvivor sa id . 

Part ic ipants described a DOJ-fu nded project i n  West Virg i n ia that tracks SAKs from the 
hospita l th rough the fo rens ic laboratory .  The West Virg i n ia Foundation fo r Rape 
I nfo rmation and Services (FR IS ) ,  i n  partnersh ip  with the state pol ice laboratory and the 
Marsha l l  U n ivers ity Forens ic  Science Center, estab l ished a tracking system that 
inc ludes a feed back mechan ism by wh ich laboratory personne l  can report to SAN Es 
about whether  evidence was d ried and packaged properly, which swabs tested pos it ive 
for DNA, and more .  Th is system a l lows the state to mainta in an accu rate inventory of 
SAKs and mon itor data to spot bott lenecks in the workflow and areas fo r qua l ity 
improvement .  I n  I daho ,  the state po l ice deve loped its own tracking system afte r 
gather ing extens ive feedback from stakeholders, i nc lud ing law enforcement ,  laborato ry 
personne l ,  and rep resentatives from p rosecut ion ,  crim ina l  defense , cou rts , v ict im 
advocacy, the med ica l commun ity ,  hosp ita l admin istration , and vict im compensation 
admin istratio n .  State leg is lat ion and accompanying fu nd ing have reported ly made it 
poss ib le fo r SAKs to be tracked from the hosp ita l th rough ana lys is and sto rage us ing a 
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seria l  number. Su rvivo rs are g iven the seria l n umber associated with the i r  SAK so they 
can mon ito r the status of the kit . Case submiss ions requ i ri ng  DNA ana lysis i ncreased 
fo l lowing the fi rst year of the Idaho Kit Tracking System ( I KTS) imp lementation , 
i ncreasing laboratory workload such that the state re l ies on the N I J-FB I  SAK 
Partnersh ip to try to keep pace and test SAKs in  as t imely a manner  as poss ib le ,  g iven 
a h igher  vo l ume of work for the laboratory . 

Part ic ipants in  the forens ic scientists' l isten i ng  sess ion described a cha l lenge re lated to 
track ing SAKs co l lected from patients who have not e lected to report a cr ime to law 
enforcement . A cond it ion of Violence Aga inst Women Act (VAWA) fu nd i ng  requ i res 
states to provide vict ims with access to med ica l forens ic exams ,  regard less of whether  
they choose to report to  law enforcement .  Th is  he lps ensu re that su rvivors can get 
prompt medical treatment and have evidence co l lected from the i r  bod ies befo re it 
degrades or washes away, so that it is ava i lab le to law enforcement if and  when the 
survivor chooses to report . One su rvivor exp la ined that she decl i ned to report her  
assau lt to  law enforcement at  the t ime of  her  med ica l forens ic exam because she 
expected to encou nter  vict im-blam ing  att itudes among po l ice , and that  her  invo lvement 
in a crim ina l  investigat ion cou ld jeopa rd ize her career .  

However, part icipants in  the forens ic scient ists' l isten i ng  sess ion described a cha l lenge 
re lated to tracking u n reported SAKs , mean i ng  those co l lected from patients who have 
not e lected to report a crime to law enforcement .  They art icu lated the need for g u idance 
on how to track and store SAKs that do not have accompany ing po l ice reports . 
Speaking from the perspective of a tech n ica l ass istance p rovide r  who assists 
commun ities across the country in imp lementing SAK-testing  efforts , one part ic ipant 
said : 

"I 'm seeing a big variety in the ability to record and track 'anonymous ' or 'Jane 
Doe ' kits and, associated with that, protocols and mechanisms for reaching out to 
those victims to see if they want to move ahead with reporting . . .  One of the 
biggest concerns with some of the agencies we 're working with is that  they're just 
not aware of where their evidence is, how it's stored, how it's tracked, and whose 
responsibility it is to monitor those cases. 11  

L ikewise , a laboratory d i rector exp la i ned : 

"My lab is one of the few that is independent of law enforcement. But even in our 
lab we have no right-or any kind of access to-anonymous or non-law 
enforcement kits; we just don 't have authority to take them because there 's not  a 
criminal case attached. 11 

Wh ile the need for kit tracking systems was a common theme i n  the l isten i ng sessions ,  
part icipants a lso caut ioned that knowing the  location and status of  a SAK does not i n  
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itse lf fix the problem of k its not be ing tested i n  a reasonab le period of time ,  nor does it 
correct shortfa l ls in  the overa l l  response to sexua l  assau lt that lead to cases being 
poorly hand led i n  the j ustice system ,  vict ims suffering add itiona l  trauma as a resu lt , and 
offenders rema in ing free to cause fu rther harm .  

Theme 6 :  Best Practices and Standards 
Part ic ipants cited severa l resou rces as being helpfu l i n  terms of describ ing the featu res 
of an effective response to sexua l  assau lt , as we l l  as being "someth ing to point to" when 
encou rag ing others i n  the i r  professions and i n  the i r  commun ities to imp lement model  
po l icies and practices .  They a lso caut ioned that the ut i l ity of those resou rces is l im ited 
when the best practices and recommendat ions conta ined in those resources are not 
seen by i nd ivid ua ls who have the ab i l ity to put them into practice , a re poorly 
imp lemented , or a re not imp lemented at a l l .  National Best Practices for Sexual Assault 
Kits: A Multidisciplinary Approach§. (hereafter referred to as National Best Practices)­
especia l ly its recommended t imeframes for logg ing SAKs into evidence and submitt ing 
SAKs to a laboratory-was ment ioned as a va luable resource , as were the 
Adu lUAdo lescent  and Ped iatric SAFE  Protoco ls for performing medica l  forens ic exams . 
(F ig u re 3 on page 1 6  provides informat ion on recommended SAK retent ion periods . )  
Severa l part ic ipants agreed that  resou rces ava i lab le th rough the Bureau of  Justice 
Assistance (BJA) 's Sexua l  Assau lt Kit I n it iat ive Tra in i ng  and Techn ica l Ass istance 
(SAKI TTA, https : //sakitta . o rg/) a re usefu l fo r commun ities tak ing a coord inated 
commun ity approach to testing  p revious ly u nsubmitted SAKs . D iscuss ions a lso 
referenced the va lue of tra i n i ng  and techn ica l ass istance ava i lab le th rough  the Office on 
Violence Aga inst Women (OVW) , the Nationa l  I nstitute of Justice (N I J ) ,  and the Office 
for Vict ims of Crime (OVC) for a l ig n ing law enforcement, prosecut ion , med ica l  fo rens ic ,  
and victim advocacy efforts with best practices .  

Some pa rt ic ipants d iscussed the impact of recent leg is lation i n  the i r  states to estab l ish 
evidence tracking systems ,  perform aud its and assemble inventories of SAKs , and 
mandate t imeframes for evidence subm ission , testi ng , and retention . I t  is both too ea rly 
and beyond the scope of th is report to specu late as to wh ich new laws are having the i r  
intended impact and  wh ich are more d ifficu lt to  imp lement or  a re yield ing u n i ntended 
consequences . However, severa l part ic ipants noted that u nfu nded mandates present a 
host of cha l lenges that cou ld be avoided if fund ing and resou rces accompan ied the 
mandates . Fu rthermore ,  when leg is lat ive or  pol icy changes set u n rea l istic ta rgets , it can 
be tremendous ly frustrat ing  for su rvivors who ,  reasonably, expect compl iance with 
those laws . One su rvivor, cit i ng how much longer it took for her SAK to be tested than 
stipu lated i n  her  state 's law, sa id : " I  had to ca l l  the prosecut ing attorney to find out what 
was go ing o n .  Testi ng my kit got pushed out and pushed out and pushed out u nt i l  I had 
to write to the governor on  down to fi nd out where my rape kit was . "  

6 https : //www. ncjrs .gov/pdff i les 1 /n ij/250384 .  pdf 
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Part ic ipants acknowledged that cha l lenges a round  the care and  treatment  of su rvivors 
and p reservat ion of forens ic evidence va ry across commun it ies ,  as do  the solut ions to 
those cha l lenges .  However, they d iscussed two areas where they see a need for 
un iform ity and standards :  

• Protocols to use when patients seeking medical  forensic care have not yet 
reported a cr ime to law enforcement. Part ic ipants described a lack of good 
models fo r hand l i ng  so-ca l led "anonymous , "  "Jane  Doe , "  and  " u n reported "  SAKs 
and cited a need fo r gu idance re lated to present ing pat ients with the i r  opt ions 
when they request a med ica l fo rens ic  exam ,  ma in ta i n ing  cha in  of custody,  SAK 
track ing and storage,  and mechan isms for commun icat ing with the su rvivor about 
the SAK and l i nking SAKs and po l ice reports if and when  a su rvivo r chooses to 
report to law enfo rcement. " I f  the re 's not access to specia l ized care p roviders 
who u nderstand what the law is ,  what the options a re for the v ict im ,  and  the 
victim's rights , then the vict im doesn 't hear that they have the opt ion not to report 
to law enforcement and sti l l  have the med ica l  forens ic  exam , "  a partic ipant 
stated . 

• Consistency and clarity a round payment for medical  forensic exams , 
i nc lud ing identify ing the appropriate payment sou rce , especia l ly when the exam 
is performed in a d ifferent j u risd ict ion than where the assau lt was committed , and 
which aspects of  the exam a re covered by the payment sou rce . A SAN E shared 
that " i n  ta lk ing with co l leagues across the cou ntry ,  you have states who wi l l  on ly 
pay for a kit that's co l lected i n  the i r  state . That's a b ig issue  between  the states 
and the fu nd ing  sou rces . "  Whi le the re is genu ine  confus ion a round  who has to 
pay and which costs must be re imb u rsed , it was c lear  from the l isten ing  sess ions 
that, i n  some p laces ,  defic ient po l icies for ensu ring  that v ict ims a re not charged 
for the i r  med ical fo rensic exams mean that su rvivors a re not gett ing adequate 
post-assau lt care and are hav ing to foot some of the b i l l .  
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Figure 3: Best Practices for Sexual Assault Kits 

Best Practices 
for Sexual 
Assault Kits 

How soon after a sexua l assau l t kit 
(SAK} i s  co l l e cted shou l d i t be sent to 
a l ab? What methods a re cr i t ica l to 
the proper co l lect ion and ana lys is of 
ev idence? How shou l d  surv ivors be 
ca red for when they seek medica l 
fo rens i c care? 

In 2017 , a work i ng group convened by 
the Nat i o na l I nst i tu te of Just i ce (N I J) 
pub l i s hed a se t of 35 
recommendati ons to he l p 
commun it ies a nswer these and other 
que st ions as they work to enh ance 
the i r  response to sexua l assau l t. 

For How Long 
Should SAKS 
be Kept? 

Best Practices for SAKs recommends 

retaining biological evidence from 

uncharged or unsolved reported 

cases for 50 1Jears or the length 

of the statute of l imitations 

(whichever is greater). 

For SAKs associated with unreported 

sexual assaults, the recommended 

retention period is the length of the 

statute of limitations or a maximum 

of 20 1Jears . 

htll)s'J/www.ntjrs.gov/pdfli!es1/nilf2S0384.pdf 
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Exist i ng Best Practices and Recommendat ions 7 

Sexua l  assau lt is a traumatic crime that levels a heavy to l l  on  vict ims and  commun it ies . 
The response to it must be one that ba lances v ict ims' rig hts , needs ,  and  preferences 
with pub l ic safety concerns .  Critica l to strik ing that ba lance is a coo rd inated commun ity 
response that br ings profess ionals i ns ide and outs ide the j ust ice and  hea lthca re 
systems together to ensure that v ict ims a re met with compassion and competence at 
every step of the way, �nd to hold offenders accou ntab le fo r the i r  crimes .  

Many of the best practices the working g roup  is expected to "coord i nate , "  "encou rage 
the imp lementation of, " "promote , "  "d isseminate , "  and "deve lop and imp lement 
incentives to encourage the adopt ion of' exist as p rotoco ls ,  g u ides ,  and sets of 
recommendations .  The U .S .  Department of Justice a l ready pub l ished th ree 
documents-A National Protocol for Sexual Assault Medical Forensic Exams8 

(Ad u lUAdo lescent [20 1 3] and Ped iatric [20 1 6]) and National Best Practices for Sexual 
Assault Kits: A Multidisciplinary Approach9 (20 1 7)-that recommend evidence-based 
approaches to , respective ly, the care and treatment of sexua l  assau lt s u rvivors and the 
hand l i ng  of sexua l  assau lt kit (SAK) evidence .  Both documents offer  recommendations 
that  va ry in the i r  degree of  specificity , largely because what constitutes a best pract ice 
evolves as new research and tech no logy emerge ,  and because state and loca l po l icies 
and resou rces ,  wh ich vary ,  necessar i ly factor into a commu n ity's response to sexua l  
assau lt .  

The th i rd Department of Justice document ,  National Best Practices for Sexual Assault 
Kits is a set of 35 recommendations for the "accu rate , timely ,  and  effective co l lect ion 
and processing of DNA evidence , "10 developed by N I J  i n  response to the Sexua l  Assau lt 
Forensic Evidence Reporti ng (SAFER) Act of 201 3 .  The recommendations  are 
organ ized u nder six categories that match the steps of a coord i nated response to 
sexua l  assau lt :  1 )  a mu ltid iscip l ina ry approach in wh ich hea lthca re person ne l ,  law 
enforcement, p rosecutors , and vict im advocates work togethe r  in a tra uma- informed 
way to meet vict ims' needs and upho ld pub l ic safety ; 2) a med ica l forens ic  exam that 

7 Note: This section of the report describes existi ng best practices and recommendations for the care and 
treatment of survivors of sexual assault and the preservat ion of forensic evidence. Th is report's 
referencing of best practices and recommendat ions is not b ind ing ,  has no force or effect of law, and does 
not create or affect any rights or obligat ions b ind ing on persons or  entit ies outside the federal 
government. To the extent that th is sect ion uses terms such as "should , "  or "may" - or describes 
protocols , best practice gu ides, and other resou rces that conta in  such terms - the sect ion is  making 
nonb ind ing recommendations ,  not issu ing requ i rements. Alignment of practices for the care and treatment 
of sexual assault su rvivors and the preservation of forensic evidence with suggest ions conta ined in this 
report is voluntary ,  and deviation from this report's suggestions will not result i n  any enforcement act ion 
by the Department of Justice. 
8 https ://www. ncirs .qov/pdffi les1 /ovw/24 1 903 .pdf 
9 https : //www. ncirs .gov/pdff i les 1 /n ii/250384 pdf 
1 0  P .L .  1 1 3-4 § 1 002 (a) ( 1 ) 
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i nvo lves the co l lectio n  of fo rens ic evidence in  the cou rse of treating a pat ient's post­
assau lt med ica l needs ;  3)  law enforcement accountab i l ity for evidence retrieva l ,  
submission fo r ana lys is ,  sto rage ,  and  track ing ; 4 )  effective investigations ;  5 )  evidence 
processing in  a laboratory ;  and  6) victim notification and evidence retent ion fo l lowing the 
laboratory's ana lys is . 

The recommendations  were issued afte r the Survivors' B i l l  of R ig hts Act was enacted , 
and they correspond closely to the problems the Survivors'  B i l l  of R ig hts Act is intended 
to fix . Therefo re ,  the tab le be low fo l lows the recommendation categories i n  National 
Best Practices and ident ifies govern ment-issued gu ides and recommendations and 
selected other  resou rces that  offer  best practices in  these s ix categories . The index of 
cited documents fo l lows the tab le .  

Multid iscipl inary approach 
Cross-system co l laborat ion 
Trauma-info rmed approach 
Advocacy 
U nderserved and  vu lnerab le popu lat ions 
Medical care and the medica l  forensic exam 
Treatment of the patient 's medical  needs 
Forens ic evidence col lect ion and packag ing 
B i l l i ng  and payment 
Record retent ion 

i, l ;;;a·•1,..""1jl1[tl 1 1·�� •1 1 1 1w·�, - _,. 
lllI�H::IL"i ,.,tJU::1,."1tit• • •t l t 111'�-(t -

� �� .. -- -• - IU:.l.tJ(::11 

A, B ,  C ,  D ,  a ,  b ,  e ,  g ,  h ,  i ,  j ,  I ,  o 

-

A, B ,  C ,  D ,  J ,  a ,  b ,  c ,  e ,  g ,  h ,  i ,  i , o 
A,  B ,  C ,  D ,  a ,  b ,  Q ,  h ,  I ,  o 
A, B ,  C ,  D ,  b ,  I ,  o 

A, B , C , D , H , I ,  J ,  a ,  c, d , e, f, h ,  k ,  o 
A, B ,  C ,  D ,  E ,  a ,  c, e ,  g ,  h ,  m ,  n ,  o 
A, B ,  D ,  h ,  o 
A, B ,  D ,  F ,  c ,  e 

Law enforcement transparency and accountabi l ity 
Evidence track ing systems and  data standards D ,  I ,  g 
Timely retrieva l of SAK from hosp ita l o r  c l i n ic  D ,  Q 
Timely subm ission of SAK to lab D ,  g , I 
SAK sto rage D ,  E ,  a ,  g , I 
SAK inventory and  aud it D ,  a ,  g ,  I 
l nvestiaative considerations 
Effective investigat ion strateg ies and tra i n ing for D ,  a ,  g ,  h ,  I i nvestigators 
Test inQ SAKs from vict ims who reported to pol ice D ,  F , a , h 
COD IS  h it fo l low up  D ,  F ,  a ,  g ,  h ,  I 
Process ing evidence i n  the laboratory 
Evidence submiss ion po l ic ies and prio ritization D ,  E ,  G,  g ,  I ,  m ,  n 
DNA ana lys is methods D ,  E ,  G, g ,  I 
Bus iness improvements and  effic iency D ,  G ,  Q ,  I 
Systems and software fo r ana lys is and reports D ,  F ,  G ,  g ,  I 
Post-analysis communication and pol icy considerations 
Victim notificat ion D ,  a, Q , h ,  I 
Evidence retent ion and sto rage D ,  E ,  F ,  a ,  g ,  h ,  I 
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The fi rst g roup  of resou rces l isted be low and cited above-government-pub l ished 
recommendat ions and protoco ls-are documents of U n ited States federa l  govern ment 
agencies or  the U n ited Nat ions's World Hea lth Organ ization .  The second g roup­
selected other  resou rces-inc ludes too lk its , manua ls ,  and  othe r  docu ments pub l ished 
by govern menta l  and nongovernmenta l entit ies that offe r  p ractica l ass istance to 
profess iona ls who provide survivors with med ica l forens ic  care or other  serv ices , or  a re 
invo lved in  the crim ina l  justice response to sexua l  assau lt .  

Government-published Recommendations and Protocols 
A. A Nat iona l  P rotoco l fo r Sexua l  Assau lt Med ica l Fo rens ic Exam inati ons, 

Ad u lt/Ado lescents 1 1  (Nationa l  P rotocol)  (20 1 3) . As mandated by the Vio lence 
Aga inst Women Act of 2000 (VAWA 2000) , th is p rotoco l conta i ns  the Department 
of Justice's recommendations  for a mu lt id iscip l i na ry approach to p rovid ing 
med ica l/fo rens ic care to the sexua l  assau lt patient .  I t  offers recommendations to 
he lp standard ize the qua l ity of care for sexua l  assau lt v ict ims th roughout  the 
cou ntry and is based on the latest scientific evidence .  

B .  A Nat iona l  P rotoco l fo r Sexua l  Abuse Med ica l Fo rens ic Exam i nat ions 1 2  (Ped iatric 
Protoco l )  (20 1 6) . Also mandated by VAWA 2000 and pub l ished by OVW, th is 
protoco l p rovides evidence-based , trauma- info rmed recommendat ions for hea lth 
ca re providers who conduct sexua l  abuse med ica l  fo rens ic  examinations on 
ped iatric patients . 

C .  Nat iona l  Tra i n i ng Standards  fo r Sexua l  Assau lt Med ica l Fo rens ic Exam ine rs 1 3  
( updated i n  20 1 8) .  Th is compa n ion  to the Nationa l  P rotocol  offers a framework 
fo r the special ized ed ucation  of hea lth ca re p rovide rs who wish a lso to p ractice 
as sexua l  assau lt fo rensic examiners .  

D .  Best P ract ices fo r Sexual  Assau lt Ki ts : A Mu lt id isc ipl i n a ry Approach 1 4  (20 1 7) . 
Mandated by the SAFER Act of 201 3 and issued by N I J  i n  201 7 ,  th is  g u ide 
conta ins 35 recommendations fo r co l lecting  evidence d u ri ng  a medica l  fo rens ic 
exam of a sexua l  assau lt patient ,  i nvestigating  sexua l  assau lt ,  storing , 
ma inta i n i ng ,  track ing , and p rocessing evidence ;  and ma in ta i n i ng  commun ication 
with victims .  

E .  The B io logica l Evidence P reservati on  Handbook :  Best  P ract ices  for Evidence 
Hand lers 1 5  (20 1 3) . Th is hand book was deve loped by a techn ica l work ing  g roup  
convened by  t he  Nationa l  I nstitute o f  Science and  Techno logy (N I ST) and N I J .  I t  

1 1  https : //www. ncjrs.qov/pdffi les 1 /ovw/241 903 pdf 
1 2  https : //www.ju st ice.gov/ovw/fi le/846856/down load 
13  https : //www. ncirs .gov/pdff i les 1 /ovw/2 1 3827.pdf 
1 4  https : //www .ncirs .gov/pdffi les 1 /n ii/250384.pdf 
15 http: //www. evawin t l . o rg/l i b ra ry/DocumentL ibra ryHand ler .ashx? id=653 
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describes best p ract ices fo r co l lecting ,  examin ing , track ing , packag ing , storing ,  
and d ispos ing o f  b io log ica l  evidence . 

F .  Nationa l  D NA I ndexing System (N D I S) Operat ions and P roced u res Manua l 1 6  

(20 1 7 ) .  Th is m a n u a l  exp la ins  the F B l 's and ND IS  part ic ipants' respons ib i l it ies i n  
us ing N D I S .  

G .  Pub l ications  of the Scientif ic Working Group o n  DNA Ana lys is Methods 1 7  

(SWGDAM) .  SWGDAM i s  " a  fo rum to d iscuss , share ,  a n d  eva luate fo rensic 
b io logy methods ,  p rotoco ls , tra i n i ng , and research to enhance forens ic b io logy 
services as well as to p rovide recommendation to the FB I  D i recto r on qua l ity 
assu rance standards  fo r fo rens ic D NA ana lys is . "  

H .  Sexua l ly Transm itted D iseases Treatment Gu ide l ines 1 8  (20 1 5 ) .  These gu ide l ines 
fo r the treatment of persons who have or are at r isk for sexua l ly transm itted 
d iseases (STDs) were u pdated by CDC after consu ltation with a g roup  of 
p rofess iona ls knowledgeab le in the fie ld of STDs . 

I .  Updated gu ide l i nes fo r ant i retrov i ra l  postexposu re prophylaxis afte r sexua l ,  
i n ject ion d rug use,  o r  othe r  nonoccupat iona l  exposu re to H IV-U n ited States 1 9  

(20 1 6) . These g u ide l ines from the U . S .  Depa rtment of Hea lth a n d  H u man 
Services p rovide recommendat ions on the use nonoccupationa l  postexposu re 
p rophylaxis (n P E P) and other  aspects of case management fo r persons with 
iso lated exposu re outs ide hea lthca re settings to b lood , gen ita l secretions ,  or 
other potentia l ly infectious body fl u ids  that might conta in  human  
immunodeficiency v i rus  (H IV) .  

J .  World Hea lth Organ izat ion C l i n ica l a n d  Pol icy Gu ide l i nes 
o Respond i ng to Ch i ld ren and Ado lescents Who Have Been Sexua l ly 

Abused WHO C l i n ica l Gu ide l i nes20 (201 7) .  Gu ide l ines a imed pr imari ly at 
front- l i ne  hea lthca re providers (e .g . , genera l  practit ioners ,  n u rses , 
ped iatric ians ,  gynecolog ists) provid ing ca re to ch i ld ren and ado lescents 
who have , o r  may have ,  experienced sexua l  abuse,  inc lud ing  sexua l  
assa u lt o r  rape .  

o Respond ing to in t imate pa rtner  v io lence and sexua l  v io lence aga inst 
women -World Hea lth Organ ization c l i n ica l and po l icy gu ide l ines2 1  (20 1 3) . 
These g u ide l ines a re intended to equ ip  hea lthca re providers with 

16  http://www.fb i .gov/about-us/ lab/b iometric-ana lys i s/cod is/nd is-procedu res-manua l  
1 7  https : //www. swgdam .o rg/ 
1 8  https : //www. cdc .gov/std/tg20 1 5/defau l t . htm 
19  https : //a i dsetc .o rg/resou rce/updated-gu ide l i nes-ant i retrovira l-postexposure-prophylax is-after-sexua l ­
i nject ion-d rug-use 
2 0  http://apps .who . i nU i r i s/b itstream/1 0665/259270/1 /978924 1 5501 47-eng .pdf%3Fua%3D 1  %26ua%3D1  
2 1  http: //www. who .  i nt/reproduct ivehea lth/pub l icat ions/vio lence/978924 1 548595/en/ 
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evidence-based gu idance on how to respond to i nt imate partner v io lence 
and sexua l  v io lence aga inst women . 

o World Hea lth Organ izati on  Gu ide l i nes fo r med ico- lega l ca re fo r v ict ims of 
sexua l  v io lence22 (2003) .  These g u ide l i nes a re des ig ned to bu i ld hea lth 
workers '  capacity to respond to cases of sexua l  assau lt in a sens itive and 
comprehens ive manner .  

Selected Other Resources 
a .  Sexua l  Assau lt Kits :  Us ing Sc ience to F i nd  So lu t ions . 23 Th is  N I J website 

conso l idates the best ava i lab le science ,  g u idance ,  and  other  resou rces re lated to 
sexua l  assau lt kits . 

b .  Sexua l  Assa u lt Response Team (SART) Too lk i t .  2 4  Ava i lab le from the Office for 
Vict ims of C rime (OVC) ,  th is  is a co l lect ion of resou rces that service p roviders 
can use to forma l ize , expand on ,  o r  eva l uate the i r  in te ragency responses to 
sexua l  assau lt .  

c .  Non-Fata l Stra ngu l at ion Documentat ion Too lk i t .  2 5  (20 1 6) . Th is  too lk it from the 
I nternationa l  Association of Forens ic N u rses ( IAFN) p rovides the forens ic n u rse 
with deta i led g u idance on assessment techn iques ,  documentation ,  and evidence 
co l lection  for  th is  patient popu lation . 

d .  Post-Sexua l  Exposu re nPEP  Too lk it .  26 (20 1 8 ) .  F rom the  A I DS Ed ucation & 
Tra i n i ng  Cente r  Prog ram (AETC) Nationa l  Coord inat ing Resou rce Center, th is 
too lk it comp i les c l in ica l reference too ls ,  hea lthca re profess iona l  g u ide l i ne tra i n ing 
resou rces ,  hea lthca re provider and c l in ica l  sett ing posters and c l in ica l pocket 
g u ides ,  l i nks and contact info rmation for l ive consu ltation services , and a l ib ra ry 
of c l in ica l references .  

e .  Sexua l  Assau lt N u rse Exam i ner  (SAN E) Educat ion G u ide l i nes . 27 These 
g u ide l i nes ,  estab l ished by the IAF N ,  "set forth the m i n imum leve l of instruct ion for 
each key ta rget competency in  the ad u lUado lescent  and/o r  ped iatric/ado lescent 
popu lat ions ,  wh i le a l lowing  for flexib i l ity to meet the educationa l  needs of 
reg iste red n u rses i n  d iverse practice sett ings and comm u n it ies . "  

22 http: //apps .who . in t/ i r is/b itstream/1 0665/42788/1 /924 1 54628X.pdf 
23 https : //n ij .qov/unsubm itted-k its/Paqes/defau lt .aspx 
24 http: //ovc . ncirs .qov/sartk it/about-too lk i t .  htm l 
25 http: //www.forens icn u rses .o rg/page/STOverview 
26 https : //a i dsetc . org/resou rce/post-sexua l-exposure-npep-h iv-prevent ion-tool k it 
27 http: //c .ymcd n . com/s ites/www. forens icnu rses .o rg/resou rce/resmgr/2 0 1 5 SANE E D  G U I DEL INES .pdf 
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f. I n t imate Pa rtne r  V io lence and  Sexua l  V io lence Victim izat ion Assessment 
I nstruments fo r U se in Hea l thca re Sett i ngs28 (2007) . Pub l ished by the CDC,  th is 

is a comp i lat ion of existi ng too ls for assess ing i ntimate partner v io lence a nd 
sexua l  v io lence vict im ization i n  c l in ica l/hea lthcare settings .  

g .  Natio na l  Sexua l  Assa u lt K i t  l n i t iat ive29 -Th is  Burea u of Just ice Ass istance (BJA) 

webs ite conta i ns  essentia l g u idance and resou rces re lated to the  i nventory and 

testi ng of  p rev ious ly u nsubmitted sexua l  assau lt kits , investigat ion and 

prosecution of  cold case sexua l  assau lts , and support fo r su rvivors ,  i n c l ud i ng  
su rv ivor notification ,  advocacy,  and engagement i n  t he  crim ina l  j ustice system.  

h .  End Vio len ce Aga i n st Women I nternat iona l  (EVAWl)'s30 free On l i ne  Tra i n i ng 
l n st i tute 3 1  (OL T l )  offers knowledge and  sk i l ls  for i nvestigati ng  and  prosecut ing 

sexua l  assau lt .  See i n  part icu lar :  Laboratory Analysis of Biological Evidence and 
the Role of ONA in Sexual Assault Investigations. 32 

o EVAWI a lso p rovides tech n ica l ass istance and  resou rces 33 o n  fo rens ic 

comp l iance ,  wh ich refers to the VAWA provis ion ensuring that vict ims 

have access to med ica l  fo rens ic exams rega rd less of whether they wish to 

ass ist in a n  investigation .  

i .  I n ternat iona l  Associat ion o f  C h iefs of Po l ice (IAC P) Sexua l  Assa u lt Response 
Po l icy and  Tra i n i ng G u ide l i nes34 (20 1 7) .  These gu ide l i nes " i n c l ude  proced u re 

and po l icy recommendations that add ress va rious leve ls of law enforcement 

response from d ispatch to supervisors ,  as we l l  as co l laborating  with commu n ity 
partners .  Add itiona l ly ,  these g u ide l ines present tra i n ing  cu rricu l um content that 

shou ld accompany the imp lementation of a new or  u pdated sexua l  assau lt po l icy 

in  o rder to ensure that officers understand the complex natu re of these cr imes . "  

j . Aequ i tas :  The P rosecutor 's Resou rce on  Vio lence Aga i nst Women :  L ib rary. 35 

o Mode l  Response to Sexua l  Vio lence fo r P rosecuto rs (RSVP): An I nvitat ion 
to Lead 36 (20 1 7) 

o Alcoho l- and  D rug-Fac i l i tated Sexua l  Assau l t :  A S u rvey of the Law37 

(20 1 6) 

2 8  https • //www.cdc .gov/v io lenceprevent ion/pdf/ipv/ipvandsvscreen i ng.pdf  
2 9  httpsJ/www. sak itta . o rg/ 
30 httpsJ/www.evawin t l . o rg/ 
31 httpJ/olt i . evawint l . o rg/Oefau lt . aspx?Retu rnUrl =%2f 
32 http J /olt i . evawin t l . o rg/Cou  rses.  aspx 
33 httpsJ/www.evaw in t l . o rg/Forens ic-Compl iance 
34 httpsJ /www.the iacp. org/resou rces/sexual-assau It-response-pol i cy-and-tra i n  i ng-content-gu ide l  i nes 
35 httpJ/www.aequ itasresou rce .o rg/l i b ra ry.cfm 
36 http J /www. aeq u i tasresou rce . o rg/Model-Response-to-Sexua l-V io lence-for-P rosecutors-RSVP-A n-
1 nv itat ion-to-Lead .  pdf 
37 httpJ/www. aequ itasresource . org/Alcoho l -Fac i l itated-Sexua l-Assau lt-A-Su rvey-of-the-Law S I R 1  .pdf 
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k. World Hea lth Organ ization Manua ls  and  Hand books 

o World Hea lth O rgan izati on : Hea l th ca re for women s ubjected to i nt imate 
pa rtner  v io lence or sexua l  v i o lence :  A c l i n ica l h a n d book - F ie l d  test i ng 
ve rs ion 38 (20 1 4) .  Th is  handbook conta i ns  job a ids to he lp  hea lthca re 

providers ca re for and su pport a patients affected by int imate partner 

and/or sexua l  violence .  

o Strengthen i ng heal th systems to respon d  to women s ubjected to i nt imate 
pa rtner  v io lence or sexua l  v io le n ce :  A ma nua l  for hea l th managers 39 

(20 1 7) . Th is man ua l  is based on  and accompan ies the WHO g u ide l ines 

l isted u nder  the Authoritative G u idance sect ion of th is document .  

I .  Sexua l  Assa u lt Kit I n i t iat ive (SAKI)  Toolk i t . 40 The too lkit offers ta i lo red resou rces 

for p rofess iona ls working to support and ensure justice for sexua l  assau lt vict ims ,  

inc lud ing resou rces on evidence track ing , vict im engagement ,  i nvestigation , and 

prosecution .  

m .  U n ited Nat ions Office o n  D rugs a n d  C rime (U N O DC)'s Gu i de l i nes  fo r the forens ic 
ana lys is  of d rugs fac i l itat ing sexua l  assa u lt a nd  othe r  cr im i na l  acts4 1  (20 1 2 ) .  A 

g u ide of best p ractices to ass ist i n  the investigation ,  ana lytica l detection , and 

p rosecut ion of  d rug-faci l itated crimes.  

n .  Society of Forens ic Toxico log ists (SOFT) - Drug-faci l itated Crimes Committee 

resou rces 

o Drug-fac i l i tated C rimes Cutoffs42 (20 1 7) . A l ist of common ly encountered 

d rugs used to faci l itate crimes ,  such as sexua l  assau lt ,  and recommended 

u rine test ing expectations for toxico log ica l  ana lyses of such cases . 

o Drug-fac i l i tated Sexua l  Assau lt Fact Sheet . 43 Recommendations for 

co l lect ion of b iolog ica l  specimens for  toxico log ica l ana lyses i n  d rug­

faci l itated sexua l  assau lts . 

o .  SAN E  P rogram Deve lopment  a n d  Ope rat i on  G u id e . 44 Ava i lab le from the Office 

for Vict ims of Crime Tra in ing  and Techn ica l Assistance Center (OVC TTAC) ,  th is 

g u ide provides a b lueprint fo r commun ities that wou ld l i ke to start a SAN E  

prog ram .  For commun ities with existi ng SAN E prog rams ,  the g u ide  serves a s  a 

resou rce to he lp expand o r  enhance services provided to the commun ity .  

3 8  http: //www.who . i nt/reprod uct iveheal th/pub l i cat ions/v io lence/vaw-cl i n ica l -handbook/en/ 
3 9  http : //www.who . i nt/reprod uct ivehealth/pu b l icat ions/v io lence/vaw-hea I th-system s-man ua l/en/ 
40 https : //sak itta . o rq/too lk i t/ i ndex .cfm 
41 http://www.unodc.org/documents/scient ific/forensic analys of drugs faci l i tat ing sexual assaul t and other crimina l  acts .pd! 
42 http: //www.soft-tox .o rg/fi les/M i n PerfL im its DFC20 1 7 pdf 
43 http: //www. soft-tox .org/fi les/DFSA Fact Sheet .pdf 
44 https : //www.ovcttac .gov/sanesart/?tab=1  
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What We Are Doi ng : C u rrent and P lan ned Federa l  

Efforts Re lated to Care and  Treatment of Sexua l  

Assau lt S u rv ivors and  Evidence Preservation 

Both federa l  agencies represented o n  the working group-the U .S .  Department of 
J ustice and the U . S .  Department of Hea lth and Human Services-have projects 
underway and future p lans a imed at enhancing ca re and treatment of sexua l  assau lt 
su rvivors and ensuring that forens ic evidence is properly hand led and preserved . This 
sect ion provides an  overview of cu rrent and upcoming projects . 

U.S .  Department of Justice 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) I Victim Services Division (VSD) 

The m iss ion of the Vict im Services D iv is ion (VSD) of the FB I  is to inform ,  support ,  and 
ass ist vict ims i n  navigat ing  the aftermath of cr ime and the crim ina l  j ustice process with 
d ign ity ,  empowerment ,  and res i l ience .  The VSD is responsib le fo r ensuring that vict ims 
of cr imes investigated by the FB I  a re not on ly afforded the opportun ity to rece ive the 
services and notificat ion as req u i red by federa l  law and the Attorney Genera l  Gu ide l i nes 
on Victim and Witness Ass istance but  a lso rece ive timely cr is is intervent io n ,  support 
services ,  and he lp with access ing commun ity-based ass istance .  The VSD manages the 
day-to-day operationa l  aspects of FB l 's program which is comprised of fie ld office Victim 
Specia l ists , Ch i ld/Ado lescent Forens ic I n te rviewers and Ch i ld Victim Services 
Coord inators , I nternet Crime Compla int  Center  Vict im Ass istance Specia l ists , Victim 
Services Coord i nators and  Operationa l  Psycho log ists assig ned to the Terrorism and 
Special J u risd ict ion Un it and the i nte ragency Hostage Recovery Fus ion Ce l l ,  and the 
Vict im Services Response Team for terrorism and mass vio lence events . Almost one­
th ird of fie ld-based vict im services providers are ass igned to I nd ian Cou ntry offices .  I n  
add ition , the VSD i s  respons ib le for provid ing tra in ing and information that he lps to 
equ ip  FB I  agents and other  FB I  personne l  to work effective ly with victims .  

FB I  Vict im Specia l ists rout ine ly work with sexua l  assau lt vict ims. They ensure that 
vict ims have the opportun ity to rece ive a sexua l  assau lt exam ( inc lud ing H IV/STD 
testing ,  etc . )  and that the cost is covered by the FB I  or another entity .  Victim Specia l ists 
may a lso transport a victim to the med ica l  exam and wi l l  provide support afterwards to 
include l i nk ing the vict im with rape cris is ,  crime vict ims' compensation ,  and other 
resou rces .  The VSD may use emergency vict im ass istance fu nds to cover emergency 
counsel i ng u nt i l  other resou rces are ident ified , cloth ing and to i letries , cr ime scene 
clean i ng ,  and reu n ification trave l i f  the assau lt occu rred in  a location fa r from home . 
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I n  FY 1 7 , the VSD hosted and recorded inte rna l  tra i n i ng  on  the neu rob io logy of trauma 
associated with sexua l  assau lt and specia l  cons iderat ions  for investigato rs and 
prosecutors i n  working with victims  of  sexua l  assau lt .  

The VSD has a long-stand ing work ing g roup  focused on  coo rd i nat ing and improving the 
response to vict ims of sexua l  assau lt and other crimes occu rri ng  on  cru ise sh ips and 
has worked with the I nte rnational  C ru ise Vict ims o rgan ization fo r more than  a decade.  
VSD has provided tra i n i ng  to cru ise l i ne care team members on sexua l  assau lt 
response and the ro le of the FB I  i n  i nvestigat ion and support ing vict ims .  The VSD 
recently worked with the Cr imina l  I nvestigative D iv is ion to deve lop and p romote a 
campaign to ra ise pub l ic awareness about sexua l  assau lt on commercia l  a i rcraft. 

The VSD Cold Case Work ing Group  deve loped written g u idance and conducted web­
based tra in ing on work ing with vict ims and fam i l ies .  The g u idance and  tra i n ing 
add resses sexua l  assau lt co ld cases and specia l  cons iderations for notifying and 
support ing vict ims in  these cases . 

The FB I  has a strict po l icy requ i ring  i nte rna l  and externa l  report ing of suspected ch i ld 
abuse and neglect by a l l  employees ,  regard less of whether  the suspected abuse was 
d iscovered d u ring the cou rse of perform ing  the i r  FB I  du ties or in the i r  persona l  capacity .  
Al l  employees a re requ i red to comp lete an  on l ine tra i n i ng  cou rse on  recogn iz ing and 
report ing ch i ld abuse and neg lect .  

The VSD is cu rrently updat ing its b rochu res for adu lt and youth vict ims of sexua l  assau lt 
and abuse ,  to i nclude information about  rig hts afforded to vict ims by the Su rvivors' B i l l  
of  R ights Act . The broch u res inc lude information regard ing  med ica l  fo re ns ic exams ,  
sexua l  assau lt evidence kits and va rious resou rces ava i lab le to vict ims .  

The FB I  VSD cu rrently i s  work ing on  a n umber of  resou rces to  assist Specia l Agents 
and Victim Specia l ists in  working sexua l  assau lt cases ,  i nc lud ing  "At a G lance" 
reference sheets , comprehens ive written g u idance ,  and at least one tra i n ing cou rse on 
the FB l 's on l i ne Virtua l  Academy tra i n ing p latfo rm ava i lab le to a l l  emp loyees and task 
force personne l .  These tools wi l l  i nclude information on the Su rvivo rs '  B i l l  of R ights and 
work ing u n ique  sexua l  assau lt cases such as those i n  I nd ian  coun try and assau lts that 
a re committed aboard cru ise sh ips and a i rcraft .  

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) I Laboratory Division 

The Laboratory Div is ion of the FB I  is respons ib le fo r app ly ing scientific capab i l it ies and 
techn ica l services to the co l lection ,  p rocessing , and explo itation  of evidence for the FB I  
and other d u ly constituted law enforcement and i nte l l igence agencies i n  support of 
investigative and inte l l igence prio rities . I n  most cases ,  the successfu l i nvestigat ion and 
prosecution of crimes requ i re the co l lection ,  preservatio n ,  and forens ic  ana lysis of 
evidence .  The FBI has one of the largest and most comprehens ive fo rens ic  laboratories 
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i n  the world , and the FB I  Laboratory is accred ited by the ANSI -ASQ Nationa l  
Accred itat ion Board (ANAB) . 

Activit ies of the FB I  Laboratory cu rrent ly of specia l re levance to the Survivors' B i l l  of 
Rights Act a re described below. 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) I Laboratory Division I DNA Unit 

The NIJ-FBI  Sexual  Assau lt Kit Partnersh ip .  Since 20 1 4 , N I J  and the FB I  Laboratory 
have partnered to he lp  add ress the complex issues su rround ing unsubmitted SAKs . 
Th is unp recedented partne rsh ip between agencies is designed to gather i nfo rmation 
about the natu re of  u nsubm itted SAKs in  an  effort to  inform practices and protoco ls 
su rround ing  SAKs and  he lp  reduce the number of unsubmitted SAKs across the natio n .  
N IJ and the FB I  expect t he  work i s  a l ready being ut i l ized by  law enforcement and crime 
laboratories to improve po l icies and practices fo r co l lect ing sexua l  assau lt evidence and 
protoco ls for submitt i ng  and test ing k its . U nder th is program,  state and loca l law 
enforcement agencies can send the i r  SAKs to be ana lyzed for free by the FB I  
Laboratory i n  Quantico , Virg i n ia .  The prog ram has processed over 3 ,000 SAKs resu lt ing 
in  more than 1 ,600 COD IS  entries , and more than  650 investigative leads (COD IS  h its) . 

The Sc ientific Worki ng G roup on DNA Ana lys is Methods (SWGDAM) .  The FB I  
Laboratory admin istrates SWGDAM and  several of its scient ists part ic ipate in  
admin istrative and/or subject matter expert (SME)  ro les. S ince 1 988 ,  SWGDAM has :  1 )  
recommended revis ions ,  as necessary ,  to the Quality Assurance Standards for Forensic 
ONA Testing Laboratories and the Quality Assurance Standards for DNA Databasing 
Laboratories; 2) served as a forum to d iscuss, share ,  and eva luate forens ic b io logy 
methods ,  protoco ls ,  tra i n i ng ,  and research ; and 3) recommended and conducted 
resea rch to deve lop and/or va l idate forens ic b io logy methods .  The g roup  ho lds semi­
annua l  meeti ngs i n  Janua ry and J u ly and is composed of stand ing committees and 
top ic-specific working g roups that operate under formal  bylaws to generate g u ide l ines , 
wh ite papers ,  and other work prod ucts to enhance forensic bio logy services .  I n  J u ly 
20 1 6 , SWGDAM pub l ished its Guidelines for the Processing of Sexual Assault Evidence 
kits in a Laboratory wh ich describes various laboratory processes with a primary focus 
on sexua l  assau lt evidence kits .  The advantages and d isadvantages of each process 
are provided in to recommend those practices that have been effective in obta in ing 
probative evidence for the t imely i nvestigat ion and prosecution of sexua l  assau lt cases .  
Forensic practices i n  use i n  laboratories across the nation are i ncl uded . Th is and other 
SWGDAM pub l ications  a re ava i lab le at Scientific Working Group on  DNA Ana lys is 
Methods . 45 

45 https : //www. swgdam . org/ 
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DOJ I Executive Office for United States Attorneys (EOUSA) and the 

United States Attorneys' Offices (USAOs) 

#-4 

The U SAOs have primary respons ib i l ity for the p rosecut ion of fede ra l  crime i n  the i r  
jud ic ia l  d istricts , i nc lud ing respons ib i l ity fo r the  p rosecut ion of  sexua l  assau lts that occur  
on federa l  l ands  o r  where the offense crossed state l i nes (fo r examp le ,  where a m inor  
was i nduced to cross state l i nes fo r a sexua l  assau lt) . EOU SA p rovides p rog rammatic 
support and expertise , i nc lud ing tech n ica l ass istance and tra i n ing for sexua l  assau lt 
p rosecutors and vict im assistance personne l .  

Beca use many o f  the sexua l  assau lt cases hand led by  t he  U SAOs o rig i nate i n  I nd ian  
cou ntry ,  EOUSA and the USAOs have worked to  ensu re that those work ing  i n  d istricts 
coveri ng I nd ian  cou ntry have the tra i n i ng  and  su pport they need to p rovide appropriate 
services to sexua l  assau lt su rvivors and other  vio lent cr ime vict ims .  I n  FY1 8 ,  the 
USAOs h i red twe lve add itiona l  vict im ass istance p rofess iona ls ded icated to serv ing 
vict ims in  I nd ian cou ntry . EOUSA recently he ld a Federa l  I nd ian  Country Vict im 
Assistance Summit ,  b ri ng ing  together those in  the U SAOs , FB I ,  a nd  the B u reau of 
I n d ian Affa i rs to con nect with one anothe r  a nd rece ive tra i n i ng  o n  vict im issues u n ique  
to I nd ia n  country , i nc l ud i ng  tra in i ng  on  the  Sexua l  Assau lt S u rvivors B i l l  of R ights .  
EOUSA i s  a lso creating an  on l i ne SAN E  expert witness tra i n i ng . 

The Ch i ld Explo itat ion and Obscen ity Section (CEOS) leads the C rim i na l  D iv is ion 's 
campaign aga inst the sexua l  exp lo itation  of ch i ld ren by i nvestigati ng  and  p rosecuting 
the most cha l leng ing  ch i ld sexual  exp lo itat ion cases ,  shap ing domest ic and  in te rnationa l  
po l icy and leg islat ion ,  l aunch i ng n at ionwide investigations aga inst the worst offenders ,  
a nd  p rovid ing g u idance and tra in i ng  to othe r  p rosecuto rs and  agents .  C EOS's Ch i ld 
Victim Witness P rog ram Admin istrator p rovides specia l ized support to p rotect the rights 
of ch i ld sexua l  exp lo itat ion victims ,  and  to fac i l itate the p rovis ion of ass istance to ch i ld 
exp lo itation vict ims.  

In  add itio n ,  because of the i r  spec ia l  respons ib i l ity as the " loca l "  p rosecuto r i n  the District 
of Co lumb ia ,  the D istrict of Columbia U SAO hand les a la rge n umber of sexua l  assau lt 
cases each yea r. A l l  sexua l  assau lt cases a re conducted by a specia l ized u n it with in  the 
USAO , with experienced p rosecutors and vict im ass istance person ne l  who a re 
ded icated to sexua l  assau lt p rosecutions and  a re experts i n  that fie ld . A sexua l  assau lt 
vict im advocate is assigned to work with the vict im i n  every sexua l  assau lt case . The 
advocates ,  as we l l  as the AU SAs , undergo s ig n ificant tra i n i ng  i n  a reas specific to 
work ing with sexua l  assau lt victims ,  such as the neurob io logy of trauma ,  and  trauma­
info rmed interviewing methods.  The USAO's Sex Offense and Domestic Vio lence 
Sect ion and Victim/Witness Assistance U n it a re members of the D istr ict of Co lumb ia 's 
Sexua l  Assau lt Response Team (SART) . Through  the SART, a m u lti-d iscip l i na ry g roup  
o f  experts i n  t he  med ica l ,  fo rensic ,  v ict im advocacy, menta l  hea lth , l aw enfo rcement , 
and lega l  fie lds ,  the USAO ensu res that i ts practices and p rocedu res comply with a l l  
federa l  and loca l sexua l  assau lt victims' rig hts laws , and  that  they a re conti nua l ly 
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improved to reflect the best practices fo r vict im-focused investigat ions and prosecutions .  
For examp le ,  i n  recent yea rs ,  the U SAO has enhanced its efforts to consu lt with sexua l  
assau lt su rvivors regard ing  dec l inations  of sexual  assau lt cases . Whi le other  crimes 
presented to the U SAO a re reviewed by one sen ior prosecutor  who decides whether  
charges shou ld be fi led i n  the case ,  sexua l  assau lt cases are on ly decl ined i f  they a re 
reviewed independently by two sen io r  p rosecuto rs ,  and if both prosecutors determine 
that  cha rges cannot be b rought .  Where that  happens ,  the second prosecutor is  
respons ib le fo r sett ing up  a meet ing with the survivor to exp la in  why charges a re be ing 
decl ined . These meetings a re genera l ly he ld in  person (though can be by phone at the 
su rvivor's request) , and last  on  average more than two hours .  The prosecutor  fo l lows up 
each meeting  wi th a letter to the su rvivor. 

EOUSA a lso manages fu nd ing  for the USAOs to assist vict ims . This inc ludes fund ing 
ava i lab le to  enhance secu rity of witnesses whose fear  may i nh ib it the i r  part ic ipat ion in 
the crim ina l  j ustice process ; to he lp vict ims exercise the i r  rig hts in  the prosecution ;  and 
to ensure that  victim losses a re appropriate ly calcu lated fo r pu rposes of restitution .  Th is 
last fund , ca l led Tech n ica l Ass istance for Restitution Ana lys is ,  was used to h i re an 
expert to  op ine on  the lost futu re i ncome of  a former m i l ita ry member who res igned 
fo l lowing a sexua l  assa u lt i n  a m i l ita ry hosp ita l .  The victim was u lt imate ly awarded 
$700 ,000 i n  restitut ion d ue to the expert's op in ion . 

DOJ's Nationa l  I nd ian  Country Tra i n ing  I n it iative has partnered with N I J to develop a 
video tra i n i ng  program on  the co l lection ,  ana lysis , and presentat ion of fo rens ic evidence 
in  court .  Th is new too l  w i l l  be part icu larly he lpfu l in I nd ian cou ntry where triba l  po l ice 
officers and other  fi rst responders may not have much tra in i ng  on proper evidence 
col lect ion techn iques .  S im i la rly ,  triba l  p rosecutors ,  who may be try ing serious sexua l  
assau lt cases , may not have extens ive tra i n i ng  on these issues . The fo rthcoming video 
tra in i ng  p rod uct wi l l  ed ucate any member of the crim ina l  justice system sta rt ing with the 
fi rst responder on the triba l  lands and fo l low the evidence al l  the way to the cou rtroom . 
Top ics to be add ressed w i l l  i nc lude the fo l lowing :  

• The importance of mainta i n ing  scene integ rity so that b io log ica l evidence is not 
destroyed or  contaminated , and how to do so ; 

• The need to co l lect a nd p resent evidence in a cu ltu ra l ly sens itive man ner; 
• Proper col lect ion tech n iq ues and packaging of evidence at crime scenes ,  

emergency rooms and I n d ian  Hea lth Service ( I HS)  and triba l  hea lth ca re fac i l it ies 
of various  types of b io log ica l  evidence ; 46 

• How to p roperly package evidence ;  to send to the fo rens ic laboratory 
• How to determ ine  and  ident ify what rea l ly needs test ing to make a case in cou rt .  

(A contri but ing factor to the cr ime lab backlog is po l ice send ing a l l  co l lected 

46 See i nfra at page 45 for a d iscussion of I nd ian Health Service (HIS)'s current and planned efforts with 
respect to the care and treatment of sexual assault survivors and the preservat ion of evidence 
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materia l  to the lab and requesti ng that every poss ib le type of ana lys is be 
perfo rmed . ) ;  

• The testi ng p rocess and ana lys is of va rious k inds of b io log ic  evidence ;  
• How to properly read and in te rp ret a lab report ;  and 
• How to present , defend and cha l lenge forensic evidence co l lection and ana lys is in  

the cou rt room ;  for example , p roper question i ng  of the expert i n  cou rt ,  confront ing 
defense cha l lenges ,  and the p roper way to a rgue  p robab i l it ies and exclus ions i n  
cou rt .  

In  add ition ,  the Nationa l  I n d ian  Cou ntry Tra i n i ng  I n it iat ive has ongo ing  cou rse offerings 
that  address sexua l  assau lt of  ad u lts , ch i ld ren , o r  both . 

OOJ I Office of Justice Programs (OJP) I National Institute of Justice (NIJ) 

N I J  is the research , development, testi ng ,  and eva luat ion agency of the DOJ , ded icated 
to improving knowledge and understand ing  of crime and j ustice issues th rough  science .  
The I n stitute p rovides objective and independent knowledge and  too ls  to  info rm the 
decis ion-making of the crim ina l  justice commun ity to reduce cr ime and advance just ice , 
part icu la rly at the state , loca l ,  and triba l  leve ls . 

N I J has th ree science offices .  The Office of I nvestigative and  Forens ic  Sciences (O I FS) 
improves the qua l ity and p ractice of forens ic science th rough  i n novative so lut ions that 
support resea rch and development ,  test ing and eva l uat ion , techno logy,  and info rmation 
exchange .  The Office of Research and Eva l uat ion (ORE) deve lops ,  conducts , d i rects 
and supervises socia l  and behaviora l  science research and  eva l uat ion activit ies across 
a wide variety of issues. The Office of Science and Tech no logy (OST) manages 
tech no logy resea rch and development ,  deve lopment of tech n ica l standards ,  testing ,  and 
tech no logy assistance to state and loca l law enfo rcement and corrections  agencies . 

Most of the socia l  and behaviora l  resea rch and eva l uat ion stud ies dea l i ng  with sexua l  
assa u lt i s  managed i n  ORE u nder N I J 's  Vio lence Aga inst Women (VAW) resea rch 
p rog ram .  The goa ls of the p rogram a re to p romote the safety of women and g i rls and to 
enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of crim ina l  j ust ice systems' responses.  
Through  the p rog ram ,  N IJ seeks to improve knowledge and u nderstand i ng  i n  order  to 
reduce vio lent cr imes and enhance crim ina l  j ust ice engagement with v ict ims by the 
fo l lowing objectives :  estimating the scope of the p rob lem ; identify ing the causes and 
consequences ;  eva luati ng promis ing p revent ion and i ntervent ion p rog rams ;  
commun icating  research resu lts rap id ly; and support ing effective co l laborat ion among a 
mu lt id iscip l i nary set of researche rs ,  p ractitioners ,  and po l icymakers i n  the conduct of 
research . 

N I J works closely with a number of state , loca l ,  and triba l  crim ina l  j ustice stakeho lders 
to inform the l nstitute 's resea rch and eva luation . N I J a lso coo rd i nates and  co l laborates 
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with other science agencies and prog ram offices with in  the Depa rtment of J ustice and 
across the Federa l  Government (e . g . ,  Department of Hea lth and Human  Services, 
Depa rtment of State , Department of the I nterior, Department of Ed ucation )  to ensure 
coord inat ion of resea rch and eva luation efforts . 

N I J  has an  extens ive resea rch and deve lopment portfo l io address ing sexua l  v io lence. 
The research and eva luat ion portfo l io  includes eva luations on the effectiveness of 
sexua l  assau lt response teams (SARTs) , sexua l  assau lt n u rse exam iners (SAN Es) , 
bystander i ntervent ion prog rams designed to prevent sexua l  assau lt ,  BJA's Sexua l  
Assau lt Kit I n it iative , and benefits and costs of  a SAK test ing statute . Other  fu nded 
stud ies inc lude ana lyses on :  vict ims and perpetrators ; report ing of sexua l  v io lence 
incidents ;  u ntested evidence i n  sexua l  assau lt cases ; victim cooperat ion/ part ic ipation in  
the crim ina l  j u st ice system ;  enhancing investigat ion and prosecution in  ch i ld sexua l  
assau lt cases ; defense attacks on  sexua l  assau lt vict ims' cred ib i l ity and identifying 
effective prosecut ion methods ;  the cha l lenges facing sexua l  assau lt su rvivors with 
d isab i l it ies ; hea lth consequences of sexua l  v ict im ization ;  sex trafficking ; teen  dat ing 
violence ;  and sexua l  assau lt on campuses (e . g . ,  measuring frequency,  factors that 
increase sexua l  assau lt risk ,  d rug-faci l itated rape , laws to make campuses safer ,  rape 
awareness educat ion and prevent ion efforts) .  Among severa l stud ies fu nded in 20 1 8 is 
an eva luat ion of forens ic experient ia l trauma interview (FET I )  tra i n ing fo r sexua l  assau lt 
investigators . 

N IJ ma inta ins a compend i um47 that i ncludes an  abstract of each research study with 
deta i ls  on how to fi nd  fu rther  pub l ications .  The compend ium l ists N IJ-supported 
research from 1 993 to 20 1 6 . For more information on these stud ies as we l l  as other 
activities and i n it iatives ,  go  to N I J 's top ica l webpage at  https ://n ij.gov/topics/cr ime/rape­
sexua I-v io lence/Pages/we lcome . aspx 

Projects and fu nd i ng streams of part icu lar  re levance to the Survivors' B i l l  of R ights Act 
inc lude :  

Sexual Assau lt Kit Initiative (SAKI) Eva luation 
N I J  has funded a study of the Bu reau of Justice Assistance's (BJA) Sexua l  Assau lt Kit 
I n it iat ive (SAKI )  that w i l l  p rovide information for a subsequent long-term outcome 
eva luatio n .  The major  project goa ls a re to : 1 )  conduct an eva luab i l ity assessment of a l l  
Fisca l  Year  201 5 SAKI s ites (n =20) to  determine their read iness to  pa rt ic ipate in a 
process eva luat ion and an  impact assessment ,  2) conduct a process eva luat ion and 
impact assessment of SAKI s ites to determ ine the extent to wh ich SAKI reforms have 
resu lted in intended (and/or u n i ntended) system changes , 3) coord i nate cross-s ite 
ana lys is of sexua l  assau lt case data to provide ins ights on case process ing decis ions 
and outcomes , and 4) develop a comprehens ive and rigorous outcome eva luat ion p la n .  

47 https ://www. ncjrs .gov/pdff i les 1 /n ij/223572/223572 .pdf 
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F ind ings a re expected to resu lt in short-te rm p rog ram eva l uat ion fi nd i ngs  and  a 
comprehens ive and rigorous long-te rm outcome eva l uat ion p lan  fo r the SAKI . These 
prod ucts a re expected to posit ive ly impact the imp lementation of SAKI reforms to 
improve sexua l  assau lt investigation p ractices ,  victim su pport serv ices ,  and  
co l laboration among agencies . 

NIJ-BJA Sexual Assault Kit In itiative (SAKI ) - Tra in ing  and Techn ical  Ass istance 
(TT A) Col laboration for Implementation of National Best Practices for Sexual 
Assault Kits: A Multidisciplinary Approach . This jo in t  effort i nvo lves bu i ld i ng i nto the 
SAKI TTA Too lkit resou rces fo r imp lementing  the recommendat ions conta ined in 
Nationa l  Best Practices . 

NIJ/OVC National Telemedicine Project: Us ing Telemed ic ine to ass ist Sexual 
Assault Nurse Examiners (SANEs) and Sexual Assault  Response Teams (SARTs) ,  
wh ich i s  deve lop ing and  enhancing  access to med ica l forens ic  exams for adu lt and 
ado lescent sexua l  assau lt vict ims us ing te lemed ic ine tech no logy i n  u nderserved 
commun ities .  Th is p roject he lps p rovide 24-hour ,  l ive access to expert SAN Es who use 
aud iovisua l  tech no logy to wa lk  a hea lthca re provider  th rough  a med ica l forens ic  
examination . Th is p roject has severa l important benefits , i ncl ud i ng improved patient 
ca re and evidence co l lection ,  improved tra i n ing fo r forens ic n u rse examiners ,  increased 
prosecutions ,  and increased report ing of sexua l  assau lt .  

NIJ/OVW Project to Update the Sexual Assault  Forensic and Cl in ica l  Management 
Vi rtua l  Practicum to reflect new knowledge and g u idance .  In 2004 , N I J  fu nded 
Dartmouth U n ivers ity to develop the Sexua l  Assau lt Forens ic  and C l i n ica l Management 
Vi rtua l  Practicum (Vi rtua l  Practicum) . I ssued in 2008 , the Virtua l  P racticum was based 
on the Atto rney Genera l ' s  2004 Nationa l  P rotocol for Sexua l  Assau lt Med ica l Forens ic 
Examinations ,  Adu lt/Ado lescent (SAFE Protoco l) and  the 2006 Nationa l  Tra i n i ng  
Standards fo r Sexua l  Assau lt Med ica l  Forens ic Exam iners (SAFE Tra i n i ng  Standards) .  
The SAFE Protocol and accompanying tra i n i ng  standards  a re the Department of  
J ust ice 's gu idance for  a mu lt id iscip l i na ry ,  v ict im-cente red response to sexua l  assau lt 
vict ims who seek med ica l forens ic care .  The Virtua l  P racticum emp loyed cutti ng-edge 
tech no logy of its day to p rovide 1 2  hou rs of interactive tra i n ing  on sexua l  assau lt 
med ica l fo rens ic exams.  The tra i n ing i ncl uded step-by-step i nstruct ions  on conduct ing 
an exam from beg i nn ing ( info rmed consent and patient h isto ry) to end (fo l low-up care) .  
I t  a lso inc l uded re lated featu res such as a mock SART meeting , v ict im in terviews , tria l 
p reparation for med ica l  p roviders , and  a v i rtua l  crime lab .  

The Vi rtua l  Practicum was d istributed by the I nte rnationa l  Associat ion of Forens ic 
N u rses ( IAFN) .  IAFN reports that  the Virtua l  P racticum had been i n  g reat demand u nti l 
recently but had to stop d istributi ng  it beca use the tech no logy is no  longer  supported . I n  
add it ion , OVW updated the SAFE P rotocol i n  201 3 to reflect new knowledge and 
gu idance ,  as we l l  as issued a Ped iatric SAFE P rotoco l .  OVW a lso updated the SAFE 

October 201 8 I Page 3 1  of 59 



Tra in i ng  Standards  i n  20 1 8 ,  and N IJ has pub l ished National Best Practices . Thus ,  the 
contents of the V i rtua l  P racticu m a re outdated and requ i re updates to ensure that the 
materia l is re levant to forens ic  healthcare today and based on evidence-based 
approaches to ca re fo r sexua l  assau lt patients .  OVW a lso wi l l  award fu nd ing  in 201 8 to 
update the Virtua l  P racticu m ,  both tech nolog ical ly and su bstantive ly ,  to reflect cu rrent 
best practices and  recommendations .  

Development and p i lot testi ng of  a "tra in-the-trai ner" curricu lum based on the 
updated SAFE Tra in ing Standards . (See OVW's section fo r information  on th is 
project, wh ich w i l l  be suppo rted by N IJ . )  

N IJ's Sexual Assault Forensic Evidence - Inventory, Tracking and Reporti ng 
(SAFE-ITR) Program.  SAFE- ITR ,  fi rst offered in FY 20 1 6 , is a g rant  program to fund 
states and un its of loca l  govern ment to imp lement an evidence management program to 
inventory ,  track,  and  report un tested and unsubmitted SAKs . Wh i le a l l  evidence re lated 
to sexua l  assa u lts is important ,  th is p rog ram focuses specifica l ly on the SAKs ,  wh ich 
may be sto red i n  many d iffe rent p laces inc lud ing crime laboratories , po l ice department 
evidence storage u n its , hosp ita ls , and c l i n ics . Many law enforcement agencies do not 
have computerized systems to track the processing of a SAK, so SAFE- ITR-fu nded 
systems wi l l  ensu re that a l l  SAKs i n  that j u risd ict ion are accounted fo r, ana lyzed , and 
tracked from co l lect ion to cou rt d ispos ition .  N IJ has made approximate ly $5 .2  m i l l ion i n  
awards th rough  th is  p rog ram ,  and  p lans a re u nderway for N I J to  host a webs ite to 
provide centra l ized i nformation on the i nventory and tracking of SAKs . 

NIJ-National I nstitute of Standards and Technology (N IST) Evidence Management 
and Retention Working G roup,  Improvi ng Evidence Management: Best Practices 
for Hand l i ng ,  Preservation,  Retention,  and Tracking . The forensic science 
commun ity has long sought h igh - leve l ,  scientific gu idance on the proper p reservat ion of 
evidence fo r the pu rpose of strengthen ing  the nat ion's crim ina l  justice system .  N IJ has 
partnered with N I ST i n  o rder  to estab l ish recommendations that wi l l  improve the 
l ike l i hood that fo rens ic  evidence wi l l  be properly preserved and reta ined . To obta in  
accu rate and re l iab le resu lts from forens ic science ana lyses and measurements , i t  i s  
imperative that  each evidence item be properly ma inta ined ,  and the cha in  of  custody 
wel l  docu mented , and  the item ca n be located . Scientific research on the degradation of 
materia ls and state-of-the-a rt tech no log ies in asset tracking can be very usefu l  i n  
improving fo rens ic evidence management i n  law enforcement agencies. Imp lementing  
best practices i n  th is a rea can he lp to  ensure the ava i lab i l ity of  evidence fo r futu re 
ana lysis and potentia l re lease of those wrongfu l ly inca rcerated . De l iverab les wi l l  inc lude 
a state of the i ndustry report ,  a 2-3 day evidence management sympos i um in FY 201 9 ,  
a d ig ita l evidence preservat ion and retention report ,  and  the deve lopment o f  evidence 
labe l i ng and data management systems standards .  
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The NIJ-FBI  Sexual Assault Kit Partnersh ip .  S ince 201 4 ,  N I J  and  the FB I  Laboratory 
have partnered to he lp  add ress the complex issues su rround ing  u nsubmitted SAKs . 
Th is unp recedented partnersh ip between agencies is desig ned to gather info rmation 
about the natu re of u nsubmitted SAKs i n  an  effort to inform p ractices and  p rotoco ls 
su rrou nd i ng SAKs and he lp red u ce the n u mber of unsubm itted SAKs across the nation . 
N I J  and the FB I  expect the work that is a l ready be ing used by law enforcement and 
crime laborato ries to improve po l i cies and p ractices for co l lecti ng  sexua l  assau lt 
evidence and p rotoco ls for submitt ing and  test ing k its . U nder  th is  p rogram ,  state and 
loca l law enforcement agencies can send the i r  SAKs to be ana lyzed for free by the FB I  
Laborato ry in  Quantico , VA. The p rog ram has p rocessed over 3000 SAKs resu lti ng i n  
more than  1 ,600 COD IS  entries, and  more than 650 investigative leads  (COD I S  h its) . 
I nformation garnered from th is prog ram is i ncluded i n  National Best Practices for Sexual 
Assault Kits. 

Research and Development in Forensic Science for C rim i nal Justice Purposes .  
For  nearly a decade ,  the  Department of  Justice Appropriations Act has annua l ly 
included an  appropriation of approximately $4 m i l l ion  (per  fisca l yea r) for the Sexua l  
Assa u lt Forens ic Exam (SAFE) P rogram .  U nder  the  SAFE  p rog ram , N I J ,  t he  p rimary 
fu nd ing  agency fo r forens ic science resea rch i n  the U S ,  supports g rants and  activit ies to 
provide tra i n ing , tech n ica l ass istance ,  education ,  equ ipment ,  a nd/o r  info rmation 
( i nc lud ing resea rch )  re lati ng to the ident ification , col lection ,  p reservation ,  ana lys is ,  and 
use of  DNA samples and DNA evidence by med ica l  and other  personne l  i nvo lved in  
treati ng  vict ims of  sexua l  assau lt .  G rants and activit ies funded th rough  the SAFE 
prog ram have continued to resu lt i n  d iverse and successfu l p rojects . Efforts inc lude 
nat iona l  best practices ,  tra i n i ng ,  tech n ica l assistance ,  and va l uab le research focused on 
improving and exped iti ng the process ing  of  sexua l  assau lt evidence .  For  i nstance ,  as 
part of i ts Research and Development in Forensic Science for Criminal Justice 
Purposes prog ram,  N IJ 's  fo rensic b io logy/DNA portfo l io  supports severa l p rojects 
focused on improving the ana lysis of sexua l  assau lt evidence .  

Long-term so lutions to p rovid ing vict ims with j ust ice fo r sexua l  assau lt cases requ i res 
i nnovation and new tech no log ies that increase efficiency and p roductivity. I nvestments 
in  research and development have the potent ia l to reduce sexua l  assau lt kit p rocess ing 
t ime , info rm investigators about  the crimes that  took  p lace ,  and  sh ift ana lysts ' efforts to 
the examination of on ly the most p robative samp les to the investigat ion .  

NIJ's Forensic Technology Center of Excel lence. N IJ 's  Forens ic  Techno logy Cente r  
o f  Exce l lence (FTCoE) leads a comprehens ive federa l  effort to  o rgan ize and  transfer 
knowledge and best p ractices of sexua l  assau lt investigations .  These p ractices a re 
de l ivered to sexua l  assau lt nu rse examiners ,  sexua l  assau lt fo rens ic  examiners ,  and 
co l laborative sexua l  assau lt response teams (SAN E/SAFE/SART) . Th is FTCoE effort 
focuses on systemic cha l lenges that impede the investigat ion of cr im i na l  sexua l  
assau lts in  the  U n ited States .  https ://fo rens iccoe .o rg/sexua l-assau lt/. Futu re 
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de l iverab les i nclude and on l i ne  g lossa ry for med ica l ,  law enforcement, and legal  
p rofess iona ls ;  and podcasts and web inars that de l iver best practices info rmation .  

H istorica l ly Black Col leges and Un ivers ities Campus C l imate Project (CCP) (201 7-
2020) 
Although sexua l  v io lence (SV) is a documented problem among co l lege students and 
women of col lege age ,  less is known about SV at h istorica l ly b lack co l leges and 
u n ivers ities (HBCUs) . The H BC U  CCP is a co l laboration between the Rutgers Vio lence 
Aga inst Women Research Consort ium ,  N I J ,  the Centers for D isease Contro l  and 
Prevention , and the Office on Vio lence Aga inst Women . The information gathered from 
th is project w i l l  make crit ica l contribut ions to the gap in  preva lence est imates and 
campus c l imate factors of SV vict im izat ion and perpetration among students attend ing 
H BCUs .  I t  w i l l  a lso access the campus c l imate info rmation among HBC Us  that  cou ld 
identify risk o r  p rotective factors for SV on these campuses . Furthermore , the 
imp lementation of a campus c l imate su rvey at H BCUs a l lows the un ivers it ies to 
proactive ly assess the campus c l imate and formu late mean ingfu l ,  effective ways to bu i ld 
upon aspects of the systems that a re working , wh i le a lso add ress ing any gaps.  Most 
importantly, the methodo logy p i loted in th is study wi l l  provide a mode l  for other H BCUs 
to  use when work ing  to  assess the i r  own campus c l imates a round issues of  SV. The 
study's p rimary aims a re to mod ify the CCSVS deve loped and p i loted by the Bu reau of 
Justice Statistics for use with students attend ing HBCUs and imp lement the HBCU CCP 
su rvey at  fou r  H BCUs  to  improve ou r  understand ing of  magn itude and natu re of 
interpersona l  vio lence vict im izat ion and he lp seeking experienced by H BC U  students .  

DOJ I Office of Justice Programs (OJP) I Office for Victims of Crime (OVC) 

Estab l ished i n  1 988 th rough  an  amendment to the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) of 
1 984 , the miss ion of the Office for Victims of Crime (OVC) is to enhance the nation 's 
capacity to ass ist cr ime vict ims and to p rovide leadersh ip  in chang ing attitudes ,  po l icies , 
and practices in  ways that w i l l  p romote justice and hea l i ng for a l l  vict ims of crime . 
Under Congress iona l  mandate ,  OVC admin isters the Crime Victims Fund48 (the Fund) , 
wh ich is composed p rimari ly of fi nes ,  specia l  assessments ,  and bond fo rfe itu res from 
convicted federa l  offenders ,  mak ing it a se lf-sufficient sou rce for vict im compensation 
and assistance that d oes not re ly on Americans '  tax do l la rs .  Each yea r, the Fund 
su pports thousands of p rograms that provide d i rect services to crime vict ims who have 
suffered phys ica l ,  sexua l ,  emotiona l ,  and fi nancia l  harm as a resu lt of crime.  OVC's 
prog rams th roughout the U n ited States a re intended to ra ise awa reness49 about vict ims' 
issues ,  promote comp l ia nce with v ict ims' rights laws , 50 and provide tra i n i ng and 

4 8  https ://www.ovc .gov/abouUvict imsfund .  htm l 
49 https : //www. ovc.gov/awareness/ i ndex . htm l 
50 https : //www.ovc.gov/r iqhts/ leg is lat ion . htm l 
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tech n ica l assistance5 1 and  pu bl icat ions and  prod ucts52 to vict im ass istan ce 
profess iona ls .  

Through  the Vict im of  C rime Act Victim Assistan ce Formu la P rog ram ,  OVC awards 
each e l ig ib le state and te rrito ry an annua l  g rant  to su pport e l ig i b le cr ime vict im 
assistance prog rams .  Among its many goa ls ,  the VOCA Victim Ass istan ce P rog ram 
provides a s ig n ificant sou rce of  fund i ng across the cou ntry to  support a b road a rray of  
prog rams and services des igned to  meet the needs of sexua l  assau lt v ict ims .  Each 
yea r, VOCA State Admin istrat ing Agencies (SAA's) must a l locate a m i n imum of 1 0  
percent of the i r  VOCA g rant  award i n  the p riority category of sexua l  assau lt .  The other  
VOCA priority categories a re spousa l  abuse ,  ch i ld abuse ,  and  underserved vict ims of  
crime .  I n  FY 201 7 ,  more than  $307 m i l l io n  was a l located to support sexua l  assau lt 
p rog rams and services th roughout the cou ntry across a l l  o rgan ization types , i nclud i ng  
nonprofit organ izations ,  government agencies ,  campus  organ izations ,  and  federa l ly 
recog n ized triba l  govern ments ,  agencies , and  o rgan izations .  I n  FY 20 1 8 , a n  add itiona l  
$3 1 4  m i l l ion  is be i ng  a l located fo r th is pu rpose . 

I n  August 201 6 ,  OVC pub l ished the VOCA Victims Ass istan ce Formu la G rant  P rog ram 
F ina l  Ru le .  The ru le cod ified and u pdated the existi n g  VOCA Victim Assistance P rogram 
Gu ide l i nes to reflect changes in OVC po l icy, needs of the cr ime vict im services fie ld , 
and VOCA itse lf. The new ru le provided g reate r  c la rity and  more flex ib i l ity to state 
VOCA victim assistance admin ister ing agencies to su pport a conti n u um of services to 
crime vict ims in a n umber of a reas, i nc lud ing  the use of VOCA fu nds  for fo rens ic 
inte rviews and med ica l  examinations .  

Through  the VOCA Vict im Compensation Formu la P rogram ,  OVC supp lements state 
efforts to provide fi nanc ia l  re imbu rsement to crime vict ims th roug hout the nat ion for 
costs resu lti ng  from crime , and to encou rage vict im cooperation and  part ic ipation i n  the 
crim ina l  justice system.  

I n  FY 20 1 8 , OVC is award i ng a record amount  of fu nd i ng  from to support thousands  of 
loca l victim assistance p rog rams across the cou ntry and  he lp  compensate vict ims 
th roughout the U . S .  Most of the funds-more than  $3 .3  b i l l ion-are being awarded to 
states u nder the VOCA Victim Ass istance Formu la  G rant  P rogram and  wi l l  support loca l 
gove rn ment and commun ity-based vict im services .  State vict im compensation p rograms 
a re receiv ing nea rly $ 1 29 m i l l ion to re imbu rse vict ims and  su rvivors fo r med ica l fees , 
lost i ncome , funera l  expenses ,  and other  costs i ncu rred as a resu lt of a crime .  Th is  is  
the fou rth year  a s ig n ificant amou nt wi l l  be ava i lab le to crime victim ass istance 
prog rams (compared to p re-FY 20 1 5  fu nd i ng leve ls ) .  The overa l l  i ncreased C rime 
Victims Fund a l locat ion has provided an opportu n ity to add ress long-stand i ng  
cha l lenges to reach and  serve a l l  crime victims ,  add ress staffing  concerns i n  t he  fie ld , 

51 https //www ovc.gov/tra i n i ng/i ndex . htm l 
52 https : //www.ovc.gov/l i b rary/ index . htm l 

October 201 8 I Page 35 of 59 



and a l low states and territo ries to fu nd prog rams that otherwise wou ld not rece ive 
fu nd ing . 

OVC is ded icated to a constant improvement in  the nationa l  response to cr ime victims 
th rough d i rect seNices , nat iona l  scope demonstration in it iatives ,  tra i n i ng  and  tech n ica l 
assistance ,  and  eva l uation .  P rojects of part icu lar re levance to the SuNivor's B i l l  of 
Rights Act i nc lude :  

• NIJ/OVC National Telemed ic ine Project. See N IJ 's section for info rmation on 
th is  project .  

• Using Telemed ic ine Technology to Enhance Access to Sexual Assault 
Forens ic Exams . I n  FY 20 1 6 , OVC fu nded the Pennsylvan ia State U n ivers ity 
School  of N u rs ing  (PSU)  to create the Pen nsylvan ia Sexua l  Assa u lt Forens ic 
Examinat ion and Tra i n ing (SAFE-T) Center and estab l ished fou r  p i lot s ite 
hospita ls th roug hout  the state to rece ive te lemed ic ine support that w i l l  provide 
h igh-qua l ity sexua l  assau lt fo rens ic seNices for ado lescents and adu lts . 

• Bui ld ing and Enhancing Partnersh ips to Support I ncarcerated Survivors of 
Sexual Abuse. I n  FY 20 1 6 , OVC lau nched th is program to support the 
development and enhancement of partnersh ips between correctiona l  agencies 
and commun ity-based victim seNice providers with the goal of increas ing access 
to outs ide su pport seNices fo r i ncarcerated suNivors of sexua l abuse .  

I n  add it ion to the p rograms above , OVC conti n ues to promote access to lega l  seNices 
and crime victims' rig hts enfo rcement fo r a l l  v ictims of crime .  OVC is respons ib le fo r 
imp lement ing severa l p ieces of federa l leg islat ion that are intended to adva nce victims' 
rights and seNices and improve the ski l ls ,  knowledge ,  and ab i l it ies of crime victim 
advocates,  seNice p rovide rs ,  and  a l l ied profess ionals who a re respons ib le fo r work ing 
on beha lf of v ict ims .  In  add ition , OVC is ded icated to he lp ing organ izations  p romote 
awareness of cr ime vict ims' r ights and  issues and to provid ing appropriate , trauma­
informed seNices to victims .  S ince FY 201 2 ,  OVC has supported the deve lopment of 
lega l  networks that a re provid ing  cr ime vict ims with ho l ist ic, comprehens ive lega l  
seNices ,  i nc lud ing  the enfo rcement of  crime victims' rights . I n  FY 201 7 ,  OVC launched 
the I ncreas ing Lega l  Access to Vict ims of C rime:  I n novations in  Access to Justice , a 
prog ram provid i ng  fu nd ing  to enhance lega l  seNices for crime vict ims and to foster 
tech nolog ica l  i n novation .  I n  FY 20 1 8 ,  OVC is fu nd ing an I n it iative to Enhance Crime 
Vict ims' R ig hts Enfo rcement and Victim Access to Lega l  Ass istance Prog ram to expand 
on federa l ,  state , loca l ,  and  triba l  efforts to  enforce crime vict ims' rights . 
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DOJ I Office of Justice Programs (OJP) I Bureau of Justice Assistance 

(BJA) 

BJA's Nationa l  Sexua l  Assau lt Kit I n it iative (SAKI )  and the SAKI  Tra i n i ng  and Techn ica l 
Ass istance (TT A) prog rams support commun it ies add ress ing cha l lenges re lated to 
unsubm itted SAKs , wh i le improving  the i r  overa l l  response to sexua l  assau lt th rough  
enhanced investigat ion and prosecut ion strateg ies for these cases and  provid ing 
survivors with support and services .  The SAKI prog ram cu rrently supports 41  
j u risd ictions ,  1 7  of  wh ich are state or  mu lti-cou nty j u risd ict ions .  Lessons lea rned th rough  
SAKI and tech n ica l assistance made ava i lab le th rough  the  i n it iat ive a re usefu l beyond 
SAKI -funded s ites ,  inc lud ing other  commun ities that  a re working to reduce vo l umes of 
unsubmitted k its and bring justice to the cases associated with SAKs . BJA wi l l  make its 
th i rd round of SAKI awards in FY 201 8 .  

The goa l  of SAKI i s  to take a coord inated commun ity approach to b ri ng i ng  j ust 
resolut ion to cases ,  whenever poss ib le ,  th rough a v ict im-centered approach , and to 
bu i ld j u risd ictions' capacit ies to avo id the cond it ions that lead to h i gh  n umbers of 
unsubm itted SAKs . Th is ho l istic p rogram provides j u risd ictions with resou rces to 
add ress the i r  u nsubmitted SAKs, i nc lud ing  support to invento ry ,  test, and  track SAKs ; 
create and report performance metrics ; access tra i n i ng  to bette r address the complex 
issues associated with these cases and engage i n  mu ltid iscip l i na ry po l icy deve lopment ,  
imp lementation ,  and coord ination ; and improve practices re lated to i nvestigation ,  
prosecution ,  a n d  vict im engagement a n d  support .  

Through SAKI and with gu idance from the SAKI TTA team ,  SAKI g ran tees have 
estab l ished pol icies and practices add ress ing the invento ry and track ing of u nsubmitted 
SAKs , created p lans for the submiss ion and test ing of SAKs , and estab l ished vict im­
centered , evidence-based pol ices for the notificat ion and ma inta i ned engagement of 
vict im part icipation i n  the crim ina l  j ust ice system .  The SAKI TT A p roject has created 
impactfu l ,  evidence-based resou rces that a re ma inta ined on the SAKI webs ite and 
ava i lab le to everyone .  Two addit iona l  featu res ,  the SAKI Toolkit and the SAKI Virtua l  
Academy, conta in  soph isticated h ig h ly deta i led resou rces designed for action  p lans ,  
imp lementation and susta inab i l ity of the p ractices and pol ices recommended by SAKI . 
SAKI promotes practices and po l icies g rou nded i n  tra uma-informed and  vict im-centric 
princ ip les and seek just resolut ion to sexua l  assau lt cases.  

BJA anticipates add itiona l  fu nd ing for SAKI i n  FY 20 1 9  to conti n ue  fu nd ing  
comprehens ive approaches to  unsubmitted SAKs , support for sma l l  l aw enforcement 
agencies with smal ler vo lumes of u nsubmitted SAKs , expans ion of D NA databases ,  
col lect ion of lawfu l ly owed and arrestee DNA, and investigat ion and p rosecut ion of co ld 
case sexua l  assau lts , inc lud ing support for entering cold case sexua l  assau lt data i nto 
the FB l 's Vio lent Crim ina l  Apprehens ion Program (ViCAP) . The SAKI TTA team wi l l  a lso 
create more resou rces that support the recommendat ions put  forth i n  the National Best 
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Practices. These resou rces w i l l  be housed in  a porta l of the SAKI Too lk it ,  and wi l l  be 
used in conjunct ion with cu rrent SAKI resou rces . 

DOJ I Office on Violence Against Women 

The Office on Vio lence Aga inst Women (OVW) provides federa l  leadersh ip  in 
deve lop ing the nation 's  capacity to combat sexua l  assau lt ,  domestic/dat ing vio lence ,  
and  sta lk i n g .  I ts 1 9  g rant  p rog rams are designed to support coord inated commu n ity 
responses to these crimes , serve vict ims , and hold offenders accou ntab le .  The largest 
program ,  the STOP Vio lence Aga inst Women Formu la P rog ram,  provides fo rmu la 
fu nd ing to states and  te rrito ries , who i n  tu rn subaward at least 25 percent of the funds 
for prosecution , 25 percent fo r law enfo rcement ,  30 percent for victim services and 5 
percent to cou rts , and  ensu re that a m i n imum of 20 percent of the funds a re a l located 
fo r projects that mean ingfu l ly add ress sexua l  assau lt .  Sala ries of at least 30 fu l l-t ime 
equ iva lent Sexua l  Assau lt N u rse Examiners (SAN Es) a re paid each year  with STOP 
fu nds .  Add it iona l ly ,  th ree of OVW's competitive grant programs-Improving Cr im ina l  
Justice Responses , Ru ra l  G rant  Prog ram ,  and the Grants to I nd ian  Triba l Governments 
Prog ram-can fu nd sexua l  assau lt investigation and prosecution ,  as we l l  as med ica l 
fo rens ic ca re .  Through  these and  other  programs ,  OVW grantees tra i n  thousands of 
n u rses each year  on  how to p rovide competent and compassionate ca re for sexua l  
assau lt patients . F i na l ly ,  th ree of  OVW's g rant  programs53 are ded icated exc lus ively to 
provid ing sexua l  assau lt s u rvivors with advocacy, counse l i ng , and other  serv ices 
desig ned to support the i r  recovery .  

OVW a lso has a specia l i n it iative u nderway to enhance sexua l  assau lt p rosecution . The 
Sexua l  Assa u lt J ustice I n it iat ive (SAJ I )  l aunched in  20 1 5  to deve lop and p i lot test a 
model fo r sexua l  assau lt prosecut ion that looks beyond convict ion rates to measu re 
success in  these cases . Seven j u risd ictions received g rant fund ing to imp lement the 
mode l ,  partic ipate in tech n ica l ass istance to he lp them a l ign  the i r  approach with 
evidence-based p rosecution  p ractices ,  and take part in an  eva luat ion to study the 
process and impact of the mode l .  A report on  the SAJ I wi l l  be ava i lab le i n  2020 . 

OVW antic ipates fu nd ing seve ra l p rojects i n  20 1 8  and 20 1 9 that wi l l  he lp  commun ities 
provide su rvivors with med ica l fo rens ic ca re and promote best practices for evidence 
preservation .  A so l ic itation  was issued in  FY 201 8 for a Sexua l  Assa u lt Med ica l 
Forens ic Examiner  Tra i n i ng  I n it iat ive . With fu nd ing provided by N I J ,  OVW anticipates 
award ing  a g rant  to deve lop a v i rtua l  p racticum that a l lows students in hea lthcare fie lds 
to part ic ipate i n  in te ractive tra i n ing sess ions on al l  aspects of the sexua l  assau lt med ica l  
forens ic examination , from in te rviewing the su rvivor th rough cou rtroom testimony.  The 
v i rtua l  p racticum wi l l  reflect cu rrent knowledge and practice and wi l l  a l i gn  wi th  the 
National Protocol for Sexual Assault Medical Forensic Exams (Nationa l  P rotoco l) and 

53 Sexual Assault Services Formula Grant Program , Sexual Assault Services Cultu rally Spec ific Program ,  
and Tribal Sexual Assault Services Program 
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the Department's recently pub l ished National Best Practices for Sexual Assault Kits: A 
Multidisciplinary Approach . 

OVW wi l l  a lso issue an  award in  201 8 to develop the updated Tra i n ing Standards in to a 
tra in -the-tra iner  cu rricu l um .  The cu rricu l um wi l l  i nc lude content  that a l i gns with the 
Tra i n i ng  Standards ,  as we l l  as instructions and tools to fac i l itate effective tra i n i ng  
de l ivery .  

F ina l ly , OVW antic ipates fu nd ing imp lementat ion resea rch on the  Nat iona l  P rotocol 
th rough  its FY 201 8 Research and Eva l uat ion I n it iative . The pu rpose of that p roject wi l l  
be to study how,  and the extent to wh ich , the Nationa l  P rotoco l is adopted and 
integ rated in  part icu lar setti ngs and commun ities ,  i ncl ud i ng the ro le of the Nationa l  
Protocol in  shap ing pol icy and p ractice . 

U.S .  Department of Health and Human Services 

The m ission of the U . S .  Department of Hea lth and H u man  Services (H HS)  is to 
enhance the hea lth and wel l-being  of al l  Americans ,  by p rovid i ng  for effective hea lth and 
human  services and by fostering sou nd ,  susta ined advances i n  the sciences u nderlyi ng 
medic i ne , pub l ic hea lth , and socia l  services .  HHS is the U .S .  Government 's p ri ncipa l 
agency for protect ing the hea lth of a l l  Americans and p rovid i ng  essent ia l h uman 
services ,  especia l ly for those who a re least ab le  to  he lp  themselves .  HHS accompl ishes 
its m ission th rough prog rams and i n it iat ives that cover a wide spectrum of activit ies ,  
serv ing and protect ing Americans at every stage of l ife ,  from conception .  H H S  is 
respons ib le fo r a lmost a qua rter of a l l  Federa l  outlays and adm in isters more g rant  
do l la rs than a l l  other Federa l  agencies combined . 

E leven operati ng d ivis ions ,  i nclud ing e ight  agencies i n  the U . S .  Pub l ic  Hea lth Service 
and th ree human services agencies, admin ister H H S's prog rams .  Wh i le H H S  is a 
domestic agency work ing to protect and promote the hea lth and wel l-be ing of the 
American people ,  the interconnectedness of ou r  world requ i res that H H S  engage 
g loba l ly to fu lfi l l  its m issio n .  In add itio n ,  staff d ivis ions p rovide leadersh ip ,  d i rection ,  and 
pol icy g u idance to the Department . 

HHS  is committed to provid ing hea lth and human service leadersh ip  to sexua l  assau lt 
prevent ion (primary ,  secondary, and tert iary) , and to add ress ing the phys ica l ,  menta l ,  
a nd  emotiona l  th reats to hea lth a ris ing from sexua l  assau lt .  Operat ing d iv is ions  and 
agencies across HHS support med ical care and treatment  ( i ncl ud i ng  tra uma- info rmed 
and support services) that protect and support the hea lth and we l l-be ing of su rvivors ,  as 
we l l  as foster inte rdepartmental i n it iatives that advance the hea lth of a l l  Americans .  
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HHS I Administration for Children and Families (ACF), Family & Youth 

Services Bureau, Family Violence Prevention and Services Act (FVPSA) 

Program 

The Fami ly Vio lence Prevent ion and Services Divis ion of the Fam i ly and Youth Services 
Bu reau admin isters the Fami ly Vio lence Prevention and Services Act ,  o r  FVSPA, the 
pr imary federa l  fu nd i ng  stream ded icated to the provis ion of immed iate she lte r and 
support ive serv ices fo r v ictims of fam i ly, domestic ,  and dat ing v io lence and the i r  
dependents .  Althoug h Congress uses the te rm "fami ly v io lence" in  the leg is lation ,  the 
focus of the FVPSA prog ram is on domestic violence, dating v io lence ,  and sexua l  
assau lt as i t  occu rs with i n  the context of  int imate partner re lationsh ips ,  i nc lud ing 
pressu red , coerced , o r  forced sex . 

The FVPSA specifies how appropriated fu nds wi l l  be a l located , i nc lud ing th ree fo rmu la 
g rants . Of the tota l annua l  appropriation ,  70 percent is a l located to States a nd 
Territo ries ,  1 0  percent to State Domestic Violence Coa l it ions ,  and 1 0  percent to 
federa l ly recog n ized Native American Tribes ( includ ing  Alaska Native Vi l lages and 
Triba l organ izat ions) .  FVPSA formu la g rants to states and territories fu nd more than  
1 500 loca l pub l ic ,  p rivate , nonprofit and fa ith-based organ izations and  programs 
demonstrat ing effectiveness in  the fie ld of domestic v io lence services and prevention .  
State Admin istrato rs , who oversee the fund ing  of subawards to loca l serv ices providers ,  
must have or  acqu i re knowledge and  sk i l l  sets re lating to a fi rm understand ing of 
i ntimate partner v io lence and best practices in serv ing ind ivid ua ls affected by domestic 
and sexua l  v io lence .  Th is specifica l ly inc ludes the interre lationsh ip of state and  federa l  
fu nd ing streams that support domestic v io lence ,  dating v io lence ,  sexua l  assau lt ,  and 
sta lk ing prevent ion and  i nte rvent ion efforts . Genera l ly ,  the  non-FVPSA fu nds that State 
Admin istrators a lso manage inc lude state fu nds and VOCA, VAWA, and other  federa l  
fu nd ing sou rces such as TAN F ,  Sexua l  Assau lt Services Prog ram ,  a n d  Rape 
Prevention and Education .  Therefore , i t  is essentia l  that the FVPSA prog ram works in  
tandem with the federa l  agencies that  admin ister the Violence Aga inst Women Act and 
the Vict ims of  C rime Act . 

I n  severa l states , the Coa l it ions may be "d ua l  coa l i t ions" add ress ing both domestic and 
sexua l  vio lence .  Each Coa l it ion p rovides comprehens ive tra in i ng  and tech n ica l 
ass istance to loca l service providers on a mu ltitude of socia l ,  lega l ,  and economic 
issues that affect v ict ims' safety and  wel l -be ing . Coa l it ions partner with government ,  
p rivate i ndustry ,  non-profit and fa ith-based commun it ies, and other  stakeho lders to 
effective ly coord i nate and improve the safety net of services ava i lab le to victims and 
their  dependents .  FVPSA's Annua l  State Adm in istrators and State DV Coa l it ions 
Grantee Meeti ng  (SASC) is a jo int undertak ing of both annua l  meet ings . SASC is a 
tra i n i ng ,  tech n ica l  ass istance and peer mentoring activity focus ing on FVPSA 
admin istrative , p rog rammatic and regu lative issues as wel l  as the promotion of evidence 
informed and prom is ing p ractices to add ress fami ly v io lence ,  domestic v io lence ,  dat ing 
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violence ,  and re lated issues such as sexua l  assau lt ,  and sta l k i ng . State Coa l it ions a re � '/­
requ i red to coord i nate and co l laborate with the State FVPSA Adm in istrato rs , especia l ly 
with state needs assessments and state p lann i ng ;  the jo int  meeti ng  is the most effic ient 
and economica l  way to foster th is co l laborat ion and shared lea rn i ng . A s im i la r  Peer-to-
Peer Meeti ng is held ann ua l ly fo r Tribes fu nded th rough  FVPSA. 

Futu re efforts include ho ld ing sepa rate reg iona l  meetings ,  rather  than  one la rge annua l  
State Admin istrato rs and  State DV Coa l it ions  G rantee Meeti ng  (SASC) ,  fo r t he  pu rpose 
of b ri ng ing  together FVPSA-fu nded State Admin istrators , State Coa l it ion leaders ,  and 
tribes to conduct jo int  state needs assessments and state p la n n ing . Pa rt ic ipants in  
reg iona l  meetings wi l l  a lso receive more focused tra i n ing and tech n ica l ass istance 
re lated to p rovis ion of cu ltu ra l ly re levant ,  trauma- info rmed , v ict im-cente red services and 
supports to  enhance the i r  p rovis ion of  domestic vio lence ,  dat ing v io lence ,  sexua l  
assau lt ,  and  sta lk ing p revention and inte rvent ion efforts . These reg iona l  meetings wi l l  
b e  held th rough  FY1 9 .  

The FVPSA program i s  in  the process of u pdating  its State Adm in istrato rs man ua l .  Th is  
gu ide p rovides g u idance and instruction  on the ro le of the FVPSA State Admin istrato r 
as co l laborators ,  leaders ,  learners ,  po l icy shapers ,  and most important ly partners with in  
the i r  state worki ng to foster prog ress and effective ly leverage resou rces fo r v ict ims of 
fam i ly vio lence ,  domestic v io lence ,  dat ing v io lence and the i r  dependents .  Completion of 
th is u pdated g u ide is antic ipated for January 20 1 9 . Gu idance and  resou rces re lated to 
add ress ing sexua l  vio lence wi l l  be i ncl uded . 

Through the Domestic Vio lence Hous ing TA Consort i um (DVHTAC) ,  the FVPSA 
prog ram wi l l  conti nue  its co l laborat ion and partne rsh ips with H U D ,  OVW, and OVC to 
bette r research and understand how to meet the hous ing needs of su rvivors of domestic 
and sexua l  vio lence who a re experienc ing unstable hous ing  or home lessness as a 
resu lt of victim ization .  FVPSA has a lso committed to conti n u i ng  fu nd i ng  to the Nationa l  
Resou rce Cente r  on Domestic Vio lence ( N RCDV) as the lead convener  and  tra i n ing  
and techn ica l ass istance p rovider  fo r the DVHTAC . The N RC DV cons istent ly partne rs 
with the Nationa l  Sexua l  Vio lence Resou rce Cente r  as its cou nte rpart on  po l icy and 
practice issues re lated to sexual  vio lence .  

Add itiona l ly, FVPSA wi l l  cont inue its partnersh ip  with the Hea lth Resou rces a n d  
Services Admin istration (H RSA) to expand P roject Cata lyst , a statewide leadersh ip  
mode l to  p rovide tech n ica l ass istance and tra i n i ng on  un iversa l  edu cat ion and response 
to vict ims of intimate partner vio lence (domestic and sexua l  v io lence) and  h uman 
traffick ing in  H RSA-fu nded health c l in ics . Th is i n it iative is cu rrently be ing expanded from 
fou r  states to inc lude th ree more state leadersh ip  teams and deve lopment of a nationa l  
implementation p lan . Co l laboration between FVPSA and H RSA has resu lted i n  
expanded capacity of  H RSA staff and g rantees to  add ress the  hea lth impact and 
conseq uences of  int imate partner vio lence and rep rod uctive coerc ion . Mo re than  350 
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H RSA staff and g rantees have rece ived awareness resou rces ,  tra i n ing materia ls and 
practit ioner too ls  on  top ics such as hea lth and int imate partner v io lence ,  add ress ing 
domestic v io lence i n  home vis itation programs,  reproductive coercion , ado lescent hea lth 
and teen dati ng v io lence .  

HHS I Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) 

The Hea lth Resou rces and Services Admin istration (H RSA) is the pr imary federa l  
agency for improving  hea lth ca re to peop le who are geog raph ica l ly isolated , 
econom ica l ly o r  med ica l ly vu lnerab le .  H RSA prog rams help those in  need of h igh  
qua l ity primary hea lth care , peop le l iv ing with H IV/A IDS ,  pregnant women , and mothers .  
H RSA a lso supports t he  tra i n ing o f  hea lth profess iona ls ,  the d istribut ion o f  providers to 
areas where they a re needed most and improvements in hea lth ca re de l ivery .  

HRSA's Strategy to Add ress I nt imate Partner Vio lence54 ( I PV) is a three-year (20 1 7-
2020) framework for address ing I PV th rough both partnersh ips that strengthen exist ing 
agency-specific p rograms and new i n it iatives .  The vis ion statement for the Strategy is "A 
world free from IPV, where engaged community and healthcare systems ensure access 
to high-quality health services and coordinated care for all. " The Strategy i ncl udes fou r  
(4) pr iorit ies that a l i g n  with HRSA's goa ls ,  i nc lud ing access to ca re ,  tra i n i ng  the hea lth 
workforce , bu i ld i ng  partnersh ips ,  and add ress ing gaps in knowledge ;  1 0  strategic 
objectives ;  and 27 co l laborative activit ies across al l  of H RSA's Bu reaus and Offices . 

H RSA's FY 201 8 Advan ced N u rs ing Ed ucation- Sexua l  Assau lt N u rse Exam ine rs (AN E­
SAN E) program 55 provides advanced n u rse education to increase the n umber of 
Registered N u rses (RNs) , Advanced Practice Reg istered Nu rses (APRNs) and Forensic 
Nu rses who a re tra i ned and cert ified as sexua l  assau lt n u rse examiners (SAN Es) in  
commun it ies on a loca l ,  reg iona l  and/or state leve l .  Grantees for th is th ree-year awa rd 
wi l l  recru it e l i g ib le n u rses , coord i nate d idactic and c l in ica l tra in i ng  with identified 
partners ,  mon itor and  track experient ia l lea rn ing hours and certification comp letion ,  and 
create commun it ies of practice that  can reta in  SAN Es i n  the health workforce . The goa l  
of th is program is to tra i n  p roviders to conduct sexua l  assau lt fo rensic examinat ions that 
provide bette r phys ica l and menta l  hea lth ca re for survivors ,  better evidence co l lection ,  
and h igher  prosecut ion rates .  

HHS I Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center 

for Injury Prevention and Control (NC/PC), Division of Violence Prevention 

Rape Prevention and Education (RPE) Program 
CDC's ro le in sexua l  v io lence prevention is u n ique because no other federa l  agency is 
working to prevent sexua l  v io lence perpetration and victimizat ion before it beg ins .  The 

54 https ://www. h rsa .gov/sites/defa u lt/fi les/h rsa/about/orqa n izat ion/bu reaus/owh/H RSA-strategy-add ress­
in t imate-partner-v io lence- i  nfoqraph ic. pdf 
55 https : //bhw. h rsa .qov/fund i ngopportun i t ies/? id=3b246079-5fd6-4b83-9f27 -Oa 799 1 8276c6 
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RPE prog ram provides fu nd ing to state hea lth departments i n  a l l  50 states� tstrict 
of Co lumb ia ,  Puerto R ico , Guam,  the U .S .  Virg i n  I s lands ,  and  the Commonwea lth of 
Northern Mariana I s lands to prevent sexua l  v io lence before it occu rs .  R P E  recip ients 
work co l laborative ly with d iverse stakeho lders ,  inc lud ing  state sexua l  v io lence 
coa l it ions ,  educationa l  institutions ,  commun ity organ izations  and  other  state agency 
partners to g u ide imp lementation of the i r  state sexua l  v io lence p revent ion efforts . RPE 
recip ients a re cu rrently engaged i n  a range of  activit ies , i ncl ud i ng : 

• Del ivering schoo l-based pr imary p revention prog rams that educate youth on 
hea lthy re lationsh ips ;  

• Tra in i ng  students from midd le school to co l lege to intervene when they see 
someone engag ing in  u n healthy behaviors ;  

• Work ing with commun ities to imp lement social no rms approaches to p romote 
safe , stab le ,  and n u rtu ring re lationsh ips and env i ronments ;  and 

• Strengthen ing the ab i l ity of states and commun it ies to p la n ,  imp lement ,  and 
eva luate the i r  sexua l  violence prevent ion efforts . 

I n  August 201 8 ,  CDC issued a Notice of Fund ing  Opportu n ity for a new, five-year  Rape 
Prevent ion and Education cooperative ag reement ,  wh ich wi l l  beg in  Februa ry 1 ,  20 1 9 . 
Th is new cooperative agreement supports RPE prog rams i n  state and  territoria l  hea lth 
department to enhance sexua l  vio lence prevent ion efforts th rough  the imp lementation 
and eva luat ion of prevent ion strateg ies based on  the best ava i lab le evidence identified 
in  CDC's STOP SV: A Technical Package to Prevent Sexual Violence . 

Evaluati ng Practice-Based Sexual Violence Primary Prevention Approaches from 
CDC's RPE Programs 
Many prevention approaches are imp lemented in  the practice fie ld to address sexua l  
and int imate partner vio lence without be ing eva luated to estab l i sh  effectiveness.  With 
th is in mind , DVP fu nded five rigorous eva luations  of prevent ion approaches 
imp lemented by RPE prog rams i n  201 6 .  The approaches eva l uated inc lude a strengths­
based cu rricu lum for midd le school boys , a comprehens ive youth- led i n it iative to bu i ld 
civic engagement and leadersh ip ,  an  inte rvent ion focused on bu i ld i ng  con nectedness to 
reduce su icide and sexua l  v io lence , a prog ram for boys address ing  hea lthy mascu l i n ity , 
gender, and consent ,  and a commun ity- leve l youth empowerment i nte rvent io n .  Wh i le 
the pr imary outcome of in terest fo r th is fu nd ing in it iat ive is sexua l  v io lence perpetrat ion ,  
many of the fu nded projects a lso focus o n  cross-cutt ing outcomes such a s  teen dat ing 
vio lence and su icide .  

Historica l ly B lack Col leges and Un ivers ities '  (H BCU 's)  Sexual Violence Cl imate 
Survey Project 
Through CDC's partnersh ip  with N I J and the Department of J u stice's Office on Vio lence 
Aga inst Women ,  the pu rpose of the H BCU project is to conduct a web-based sexua l  
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violence (SV) su rvey of u nderg rad uate and g raduate women and men among HBCUs .  
Racia l/eth n ic m inorit ies experience h ig h  rates o f  sexua l  v io lence .  Most stud ies of  sexua l  
v io lence on co l lege and u n ivers ity campuses , however, have been conducted at 
predominantly wh ite i nst itut ions ,  leav ing gaps in ou r  knowledge of the experience of 
women of co lor. Th is project wi l l  bu i ld upon previous stud ies, and fu rther inform ou r  
understand ing  of  t he  magn itude of  t he  problem of SV on HBCU campuses . I t  w i l l  a lso 
assess the campus c l imate information among HBCUs that cou ld identify risk or 
protective factors fo r SV on  these campuses.  

National I ntimate Partner and Sexua l Violence Survey (NISVS) 
N I SVS is an ongo ing su rvey launched in 201 0 that co l lects the most cu rrent  and 
comprehens ive nat iona l - and state-leve l data on intimate partner v io lence ,  sexua l  
v io lence and sta lk ing v ict im izat ion in  the U n ited States . Severa l reports have been 
re leased s ince the lau nch of N I SVS that can be fou nd at the fo l lowi ng l i nk :  
https ://www.cdc .gov/v io le nceprevent ion/n isvs/i ndex . htm l .  

STOP SV: A Techn ica l Package to Prevent Sexual Violence 
The STOP SV tech n ica l package (https ://www.cdc .gov/v io lenceprevent ion/pdf/sv­
prevent io n -tech n i ca l-package .pdD represents a select g roup of strateg ies based on the 
best ava i lab le evidence to he lp  commun ities and states sharpen their focus on 
prevent ion activ it ies with the g reatest potent ia l  to reduce sexua l  v io lence (SV) and its 
consequences . These strateg ies focus on promoting socia l norms that protect aga inst 
violence ;  teach ing  sk i l ls to prevent SV; provid ing opportun ities , both economic and 
socia l ,  to empower and support g i rls and women ; creati ng protective environments ;  and 
support ing vict ims/su rv ivors to lessen harms ,  includ ing prevention approaches focused 
on victim-centered services and  treatment fo r vict ims of SV. The strateg ies represented 
in the techn ica l package inc lude those with a focus on prevent ing SV from happen ing in 
the fi rst p lace ,  as we l l  as approaches to lessen the immed iate and long-term harms of 
sv. 

Recent Publ ications from the CDC 

Bas i le ,  K.C . ,  B re id i ng , M . J . ,  Sm ith , S .G .  (20 1 6) .  Disab i l ity and Risk of Recent 
Sexua l  Violence in the U n ited States. American Journal of Public Health, 1 06 (5), 
928-933 .  

Basi le , K .C . ,  Rostad , W. , Leemis ,  R . ,  Espelage , D . E . ,  & Davis , J . P .  Protective 
Factors for Sexua l  Vio lence :  U nderstand ing How Trajectories Re late to 
Perpetrat ion in H ig h  Schoo l .  (20 1 8) . Prevention Science. 
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Breid ing  MJ , Bas i le KC , Klevens J ,  Sm ith SG .  Economic  i nsecu r ity and in t i:!t"e � 
pa rtner  and  sexua l  v io lence v ict im izat io n . 56 American Jou rna l  of P reventive 
Medic ine 20 1 7 ;  53(4) : 457-464 . 

C layto n ,  H . B . ,  Lowry,  R . ,  Basi le , K .C . ,  Dem issie , Z . , & Boh m ,  M . K. (20 1 7) . 
Associat ion between non-med ical use of prescription  d rugs and  phys ica l  and 
sexua l  dati ng  v io lence victim ization among US  h ig h  schoo l  students ,  201 5 .  
Pediatrics; 1 40 (6) : e20 1 72289 .  

Espe lage , D . E . ,  Bas i le ,  K. C .  Leemis ,  R . ,  H ipp ,  T . , & Davis , J .  (20 1 8 ) .  
Long itud i na l  Examinat ion o f  the Bu l ly ing-Sexua l  Vio lence Pathway across Early 
to Late Ado lescence :  Imp l icati ng H omophob ic Name-Ca l l i ng . Journal of Youth 
and Adolescence, 4 7, 9, 1 880-1 893 (on l i ne ,  h ttps : //do i . o rg/ 1 0 . 1 007/s 1 0964-0 1 8-
0827-4) . 

Espelage ,  D . E . ,  Davis , J . ,  Basi le , K .C . ,  Rostad , W. , & Leemis ,  R .  Alcoho l ,  
P rescript ion  D rug  M isuse ,  Sexua l  Vio lence ,  and Dat ing Vio lence Among H igh  
Schoo l  Youth . (20 1 8 ) .  Journal of  Adolescent Health , 1 -7 . 57 (On l i ne :  
h ttps ://do i . o rg/1 0 . 1 0 1 6/j .jadohea lth .201 8 .05 .024) .  

O lssen E O ,  Vivo lo-Kantor A ,  Kan n  L .  Phys ica l  a n d  sexua l  teen dat ing v io lence 
v ict im izat ion and  sexual  ident i ty among U S  H igh schoo l  students, 201 5 . 58 Jou rna l  
of  I nte rpersona l  Vio lence 201 7 .  

Peterson C ,  DeGue S ,  F lorence C ,  Lokey C N .  L ifet ime econom ic  b u rden o f  rape 
among U . S .  ad u lts . 59 American Jou rna l  of P reventive Med ic ine 20 1 7 ;  52(6) :69 1 -
701 . 

Reidy D E ,  Ea rly MS ,  Ho l land KM . Boys a re v ict ims too? Sexua l  dat ing v io lence 
and  i njury among h igh-risk youth . 60 Preventive Med ic ine 20 1 7 ; 1 0 1 : 28-33 . 

Sexua l  Vio lence i n  Youth : F i nd i ngs from the 201 2 Nat iona l  I nt imate Pa rtner 
Vio lence Su rvey6 1  

Sexua l  Vio lence on Campus :  Strategies fo r P revent ion62 

56 https ://l i nk i nghub .e lsevier. com/retrieve/p i i/S07 493797 1 73021 1 8  
57 https ://do i . o rg/ 1 0 . 1 0 1 6/j.jadohea lt h .20 1 8  05 024 
58 http: //jou rna l s . sagepub . com/do i/fu l l/ 1 0 1 1 77/08862605 1 7708757 
5 9  https : //www. ajpmon l i ne . o rg/art ic le/S07 49-3797( 1 6)306 1 5-8/fu l ltext 
60 https : //www sc ienced i rect com/science/artic le/pi i/S0091 7435 1 730 1 8 1 0  
61  https : //www .cdc .gov/v io lenceprevent ion/pdf/2 0 1 2F i nd i ngson SVinYouth .pdf 
62 https ://www.cdc .gov/v io lenceprevent ion/pdf/campussv-prevent ion .pdf 
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Sexua l  Vio lence Su rve i l l ance :  U n iform Defin i t ions and Recommended Data 
E lements63 

HHS I Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health (OASH), Office of 

Adolescent Health (OAH) 
The Office of Adolescent  (OAH) pub l ishes information on its webs ite and tweets about 

dat ing vio lence and sexua l  assau lt p revent ion (1 6 .2k fo l lowers ) .  I nfo rmation on  the 

webs ite about hea lthy d ati ng re lat ionsh ips and dati ng vio lence was u pdated in  May, 

201 8 .  See it here :  

• What Hea lthy Dat ing and  Romantic Relat ionsh ips Look L ike 64 

• Teenage Dat ing and  Romant ic Relat ionsh ip R isks 65 

• Add it iona l  Resou rces fo r Supporting Hea lthy Dat ing Relat ionsh ips for 
P revent ing and  Stopping Dating Vio lence66 

OAH admin isters the Pregnancy Ass istance Fund (PAF) P rog ram ,  wh ich is a $25 mi l l i on  
per year  competitive g rant  p rogram that  a ims to improve the hea lth , educationa l ,  socia l ,  
a n d  economic outcomes o f  expectant a n d  parenting teens ,  women , fathers ,  a n d  the i r  
fami l ies . S i nce 201 0 ,  OAH has p rovided fu nd ing to 32 states ,  i nc lud ing  the D istrict of 
Co lumb ia ,  and five triba l  o rgan izat ions .  Cu rrently, 22 states and  one triba l  o rgan ization 
a re fu nded th rough  the PAF P rog ram from fund ing  that bega n  J u ly 1 ,  20 1 8 and wi l l  last 
for two yea rs th rough  June  30 ,  2020 (FY1 8 Cohort) . PAF P rogram g rantees use fu nds 
to : 

• Estab l ish , ma inta i n , o r  operate expectant and parent ing student services in  
h igh  schoo ls ,  commun ity service centers ,  and/or i nstitut ions of  h igher  education 

• I mprove serv ices for pregnant women who are vict ims of domestic v io lence .  
• I ncrease pub l i c  awareness and education concern ing  the services ava i lab le to 

expectant and  parent ing teens ,  women ,  fathers ,  and  the i r  fam i l ies 

Wh i le a l l  PAF p rojects a re encou raged to focus on creati ng  hea lthy 
re lationsh ips/prevent ing domestic v io lence/assau lt/ l PV, and  provid i ng  i nte rvent ion 
services ,  fou r  PAF g rantees i n  the FY 201 8 cohort focus on this work, i nc lud ing :  

6 3  https ://www.cdc.gov/v io lenceprevent ion/pdf/sv su rve i l lance defi n it i ons l-2009-a.pdf 
64 https ://www. h h s .gov/ash/oah/ado lescent-deve lopment/hea lthy- re lat i onsh ips/dat i ng/what-re lat ionsh ips­
look- l i ke/i ndex. htm I 
65 https : //www. h hs .gov/ash/oah/ado lescent-deve lopment/hea lthy-re lat ionsh ips/dati ng/teenage­
dat i ng/i ndex. htm I 
66 https : //www. h h s. gov/ash/oah/ado lescent-deve lopment/healthy­
re lat ions h ips/dat i ng/resou rces/i ndex .  htm I 
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• Wash ington State Department of Hea lth 67 

• Rhode Is land Depa rtment of Hea lth 68 

• U n ited I nd i an  Hea lth Serv ices, l nc . 69 

• Montana  Depa rtment of Pub l i c  Hea lth and  Human  Services70 

I n  add it ion to cu rrent g rantees, previous  PAF g rant  p rojects have focused on sexua l  
assau lUDV/I PV prevention and  inte rvention . Some o f  the i r  success sto ries can be  found  
here :  

• https : //www. h hs .  gov/ash/oa h/s ites/defa u lt/fi les/paf-su cc-strat-3-o r-508-
compl ia  nt .  pdf 

• https : //www.hhs .gov/ash/oah/s i tes/defa u lt/fi les/ash/oah/oah ­
in i t iat ives/paf program/successfu l-strategies/assets/v i rgn i a  success .pdf 

• https ://www.hhs .gov/ash/oa h/s ites/defa u lt/fi les/ash/oa h/oah­
i n i t iat ives/paf progra m/successfu l­
strategies/assets/wash ingtonstate success .pdf 

OAH plans to pa rt ic ipate in  Domestic Vio lence Awareness M onth Activit ies ,  i n  
coord i n at ion with the  Office of  Women's Hea lth (OWH) and the  Fami ly Vio lence 
Prevention & Services Act Prog ram in  ACF .  

HHS I Office of  the Assistant Secretary (OASH), Office of  the Surgeon 

General (OSG), Division of Commissioned Corps Personnel and 

Readiness (DCCPR) 

Simi la r to the civi l i an  popu l at ion , U n ited States Pub l ic  Hea lth Service Commissioned 
Corps (Corps) officers experience inc idents of domestic v io len ce ,  sexua l  assau lt ,  
substance use , and other behaviora l  hea lth issues .  The Corps Care P rogram with in  the 
Div is ion of Commissioned Corps Person ne l  and Read iness (DCCPR) ,  i n  conj unct ion 
with the Med ica l Affa i rs B ranch with i n  DCCPR ,  is designed to support officers by 
provid ing them with g u idance to ava i lab le resou rces in  their commu n it ies .  DCCPR ,  in  
co l l aboration with TR ICARE benefic iary med ica l p roviders ,  i n fo rm officers of  the i r  
ava i lab le resou rces ,  incl ud ing  referra l (TR I CARE) to approp riate treatment fac i l it ies to 
he lp  in the i r  recovery efforts . Although  the Corps does not p rovide d i rect c l i n ica l ca re to 

67 https : //www. h hs .  qov/ash/oah/g rant-program s/preq nancy-ass istance-fu nd/cu rrent-q rantees/20 1 8-
wash i nqton- state-department-of-hea lth/ i ndex . htm l 
68 https : //www. h hs .  qov/ash/oah/g rant-proq ram s/preq na ncy-ass ista nce-fu nd/cur rent-q rantees/20 1 8-rhode­
is land-depa rtment-of-hea Ith/ i ndex .  h tm l  
69 https ://www. h hs .  qov/ash/oah/g rant-proq ram s/preq nancy-ass ista nce-fu nd/cu rrent-q rantees/20 1 8-un ited­
i nd  ian-hea lth-services- i nc/ i  ndex. htm I 
70 https : //www. h hs .  qov/ash/oah/g rant-program s/preg nancy-ass ista nce-fu nd/cu  rrent-g rantees/20 1 8-
montana-department-of-pub l  ic-health-and-hum an-serv ices/i n dex. htm I 
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its officers ,  the Corps Care Program is desig ned to inform officers of resou rces ava i lab le 
for acute treatment and to support the i r  recovery .  

I n  add ition ,  DCC P R  recently pub l ished (Aug ust 201 7) the Commissioned Corps 
I nstruct ion (CC I )  672 . 03 on Domestic/Fami ly and Workplace Vio lence p rovid ing fu rther 
gu idance to Corps officers .  S i nce the Corps does not provide d i rect c l in ica l care to its 
officers and does not perform Sexua l  Assau lt Forensic Examinations ,  the Corps does 
not have cu rrent po l icies add ress ing the preservat ion of fo rens ic evidence .  

The Corps Care P rogra m ,  i n  co l laborat ion with the Department of Hea lth a n d  H uman 
Services Equal  Emp loyment Opportu n ity and Comp l iance Department a re tentative ly 
work ing on estab l i sh i ng ed ucationa l  materia ls invo lv ing the awareness and  prevent ion 
of sexua l  assau lt .  

HHS I Office of the Assistant Secretary (OASH), Office on Women 's Health 

(OWH) 

As part of OWH 's commitment to p revent ing vio lence against women ,  the H H S  Office 
on Women's Hea lth funded the Co l lege Sexua l  Assau lt Pol icy and Prevent ion (CSAPP) 
I n it iative i n  J u ly of 20 1 6  th roug h  g rant  awards tota l ing $2 m i l l ion over th ree yea rs .  The 
CSAPP I n it iat ive is a cooperative agreement that supports n ine g rantee o rgan izat ions 
that are tasked with fosteri ng  a co l laborative and evidence-based approach to 
address ing campus sexua l  assau lt th rough  prevention prog ramming and  improved 
campus po l ic ies . OWH a lso fac i l itates co l laboration among g rantees to share best 
practices . The pr imary goa ls of the i n it iat ive a re :  

• To d isseminate sexua l  assa u lt po l icy and prevention information to o rgan izat ions 
in  a posit io n  to infl uence and imp lement pol icies and practices at post-secondary 
institutions ;  

• To provide tech n ica l ass ista nce to post-secondary institutions to set po l icies and 
practices i n  p lace that  prevent sexua l  assau lts from occu rri ng 

• To assess the success of po l icy estab l ishment and the susta inab i l ity of the 
prevent ion strateg ies fo r the partner ing organ izations and post-secondary 
institut ions 

The CSAPP I n it iat ive g rantees have partnered with a cu rrent tota l of 80 post-secondary 
institut ions i nc l ud ing  pub l i c  and private fou r-year un ivers ities , tech n ica l schools ,  
commun ity co l leges , fa ith-based i nstitut ions ,  s ing le-sex institut ions ,  and H BCUs ,  a long 
with 34 organ izat ions  wi th expertise in  primary ,  secondary ,  and tert ia ry sexua l  v io lence 
prevent ion and trauma- info rmed approaches .  
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OWH has futu re p lans to launch the Prevent ing Vio lence Aga inst Women i n  P rio rity 
Commun it ies th rough Expanded Services :  OWH wi l l  fu nd  cooperative ag reements with 
commun ity-serving organ izations to deve lop programs add ress ing v io lence aga inst 
women ( inc lud ing sexua l  assau lt) i n  p riority commun it ies th rough  expanded p revent ion 
and response activit ies .  These programs wi l l  serve affected and at-risk commu n ities 
th rough  expanded p revent ion and response activit ies identifyi ng  and  add ress ing harmfu l 
gender norms.  OWH previously funded the I nt imate Partne r  Vio lence ( I PV) P rovider 
Network wh ich i nteg rated interpersona l  vio lence assessments and  i nterventions  into 
basic c l i n ica l care ,  and encouraged co l laboration between  m u lt ip le sectors i nclud ing  
hea lthcare providers ,  pub l ic  health p rog rams ,  and  I PV p rograms .  P re l im ina ry resu lts of  
the I PV Provider  Network h igh l ight the crit ica l  need to  l i n k  women with services from 
mu ltip le sectors . G iven th is need , expanded services p rovided th rough  th is new 
cooperative agreement wi l l  span mu ltip le sectors and  may inc lude lega l  assistance ,  law 
enforcement ,  menta l  hea lth services ,  su bstance abuse treatments ,  and  hous ing . 

HHS I Office of the Assistant Secretary (OASH), Office of HIV/AIDS and 

Infectious Disease Policy (OHAIDP) 

The Office of H IV/AI DS and I nfectious D isease Po l icy leads the ongo ing  imp lementat ion 
and mon itoring of the Nat iona l  H IV/AI DS Strategy7 1  (N HAS) . The N HAS was fi rst 
re leased in 20 1 0 and in 201 5 it was updated to reflect the ach ievements and  the latest 
scientific advances in H IV p revent io n ,  ca re ,  and treatment .  I n  add ition , the objectives 
and recommendations  of the Federa l  l n te ragency Work ing G roup  on the I nte rsect ion of 
H IV/A I DS ,  Vio lence aga inst Women and G i rls ,  and Gender-Re lated Hea lth D isparities 
were fu l ly integ rated i nto the updated Strategy as recommended actions .  

These recommended actions inc l ude :  1 )  support and strengthen in teg rated and  patient 
centered H IV and re lated screen ing  (ST ls ,  substance use ,  menta l  hea lth , I PV, v i ra l  
hepatit is infect ions) and l i n kage to bas ic  serv ices (hous in g ,  ed ucation ,  emp loyment) ; 2)  
improve outcomes for women in H IV ca re by add ress ing vio lence and trauma ,  and 
factors that  increase risk of violence for women and g i rls l ivi ng  wi th H IV;  2) add ress 
po l ic ies to p romote access to hous ing and other basic needs and other  su pportive 
services fo r peop le l ivi ng  with H IV; 4) expand pub l i c  outreach , education ,  and 
prevent ion efforts on H IV and in te rsecti ng issues ,  such as I PV ;  and  5) su pport resea rch 
to bette r understand the scope of the in tersect ion of H IV and vio lence aga inst women 
and g i rls ,  and deve lop effective i nterventions .  

7 1  https://fi l es . h iv.gov/s3fs-pub l i c/nhas-update.pdf 
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Specific federa l  act ion items re lated to each of these recommended actions ,  as we l l  as � lf 
prog ress updates on the federa l  act ion items,  may be found in  the NHAS Federa l Act ion 
P lan , 72 the 20 1 6  N HAS P rogress Report, 73 and the 20 1 7 N HAS Progress Report . 74 

OHAI DP is cu rrently deve lop ing a p roposa l fo r updating the N HAS to beg in  d u ring the 
summer/fa l l  of 20 1 8 .  The update w i l l  address scient ific and c l in ica l advances in 
prevent ion , ca re ( i nc lud ing  trauma- informed care) and treatment of H IV; new cha l lenges 
that have emerged (most notab ly the op io id crisis) ; and Admin istrat ion p rio rit ies . 

HHS I National Institutes of Health (NIH), National Institute on Alcohol 

Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) 

N IAAA is support ing two g rants concern ing the treatment of sexua l  assa u lt su rvivors as 
it re lates to the i r  cont in uat ion/d isconti n uat ion of d ri nking and re lated prob lems :  

• Development and Pilot Trial of an Intervention to Reduce Disclosure Recipients 
Negative Social Reactions and Victims Psychological Distress and Problem 
Drinking ( 1  R34 AA024849-0 1 A1 )  
Th is study a ims to eva l uate the effectiveness of an i ntervent ion to reduce 
negative socia l reactions  i n  d isclosu re recipients as wel l  as psycho log ica l 
symptoms and p rob lem d ri n king in  vict ims of int imate partner vio lence and sexua l  
assa u lt .  

• Engaging Social Support to Prevent High-Risk Drinking and Posttraumatic Stress 
After Sexual Assault: Developing and Testing a Web-Based Intervention 
( 1  K99 AA0263 1 7-0 1 A) .  [Approved; award in progress]. 
The goa l  of th is project is to prevent the onset of h igh-risk d ri nk ing and 
posttrau matic stress d isorder  i n  sexua l  assau lt su rvivors by deve lop ing a web­
based ea rly i nte rvent ion a imed at increasing contact with socia l supporte rs and 
m it igati ng the harm of negative soc ia l  react ions.  

N IAAA is support ing the fo l lowing th ree g rants re lated to the etio logy and prevent ion of 
a lcoho l-re lated sexua l  assau lt :  

• College Health Center-Based Alcohol and Sexual Violence Intervention 
(5R0 1 AA023260-04) 
Th is long itud i na l  study is test ing a brief harm reduct ion counse l i ng  i nte rvent ion to 
reduce risk for a lcoho l- re lated sexua l  v io lence among male and fema le youth 
ages 1 8-24 rece ivi ng  ca re from co l lege student hea lth services.  

7 2  https : /  /fi les .  h iv .  gov/s3fs-pub l ic/ n has-2020-act ion-p la n .  pdf 
73 https : //fi les . h iv .qov/s3fs-pub l ic/ nhas-20 1 6-progress-report . pdf 
74 https : //fi l es . h iv .qov/s3fs-pub l ic/N HAS Progress Report 201 7 .pdf 

October 201 8 I Page 50 of 59 



H f3  I L/ �5 
/ - Z, B'- I j 

:tr'-1 
• Brief Intervention to Reduce College Sexual Victimization Risk (5R34AA024854-

02) 
Th is resea rch seeks to expand u pon an existing  efficac ious approach to red uc ing 
co l lege d ri nking as a way of p revent ing sexua l  vict im ization .  

• Sex Differences in Intoxicated Sexual Interest Judgements and Risk Perceptions 
( 1  F32AA025830-0 1 A 1 )  
Th is study seeks to characterize in toxicated men's misperceptions of women's 
sexua l  inte rest and intoxicated women's misperceptions of sexua l  assau lt r isk to 
inform pub l ic po l icy and enab le ta rgeting  of at-r isk i nd iv id ua ls .  

I n  add itio n ,  two pub l icat ions a re fo rthcoming  (one has just been pub l ished)  rega rd ing :  1 )  
prevent ion of a lcoho l- re lated partner v io lence ( in timate partne r  and  dati ng  vio lence) , 
and 2) sexua l  assau lt .  RC Freema n ,  N IAAA, is the Guest Ed itor of both vo l umes,  
pub l ished in  the jou rna l  Violence Against Women . Th is  co l lection of papers g rew out of 
presentations made by these N IAAA g rantees at a 201 6 N !AAA-supported workshop in 
New Orleans .  

• Violence Against Women (Specia l I ssue :  Advances in  U n derstand i ng Alcoho l­
Related I nterpersona l  Vio lence ;  F reeman , R .  Guest Ed ito r) 24( 1 0 ) :  1 1 1 5-1 1 3 1 ,  
201 8 .  

• Violence Against Women (Specia l I ssue :  Recent Deve lopments i n  U nderstand ing 
and Prevent ing Alcoho l-Re lated Sexua l  Assau lt ;  F reeman , R .  Guest Ed ito r) . I n  
p ress . 

N IAAA is p la nn ing a workshop and has recently re leased an  FOA re levant to the care 
and treatment of sexua l  assau lt su rvivors . 

• Recent Advances in Understanding and Preventing Alcohol-Related Sexual 
Assault: an NIAAA Workshop. The workshop has been sched u led for September 
27 ,  201 8 at N I H .  F ifteen N IAAA g rantees wi l l  p resent the i r  work re lated to 
understand ing  and  preventing  a lcoho l-re lated sexua l  assau lt . 

• PA- 1 8-863, "Alcohol and Other Drug Interactions: Unintentional Injuries and 
Overdoses: Epidemiology and Prevention ". N IAAA recently re leased the fund ing  
opportu n ity announcement (FOA) wh ich ca l l s  for, among other  th i ngs ,  research 
into the co-use of a lcohol  and other  d rugs in the commiss ion of othe r- and  se lf­
d i rected aggression and v io lent behavior .  The Nationa l  I n stitute on  D rug Abuse is 
a part ic ipant i n  this FOA. 
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HHS I National Institutes of Health (NIH), The Eunice Kennedy Shriver 

National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) 
N ICHD  is cu rrently support ing the fo l lowing seven grants involv ing resea rch re lated to 
ca re and treatment of sexua l  assau lt su rvivors , the prevent ion of sexua l  assau lt ,  and/or 
the preservat ion of forens ic  evidence re lated to such assau lts . 

• Preventing IPV and Reproductive Coercion Among Underserved Adolescents 
(K23H D084756-02) 
Reprod uctive coerc ion (RC) invo lves behavior intended to mainta i n  power and 
contro l  i n  a re lat ionsh ip  re lated to reproductive hea lth by someone who is ,  was ,  
o r  wished to  be invo lved i n  an int imate or dat ing re lationsh ip with an  ad u lt o r  
adolescent .  RC has been associated with numerous negative effects on the 
phys ica l ,  sexua l ,  and menta l hea lth of young women and g i rls ,  with RC 
preva lence the h ighest among ado lescents . F ind ings from th is research wi l l  be 
critica l to the adaptation ,  imp lementation ,  and eva luat ion of theoretica l ly driven ,  
empi rica l ly informed behaviora l  i nterventions that address RC among 
adolescents in  a Latin-American country (Mexico) that  can be fu rther app l ied to 
other setti ngs .  

• Cumulative Victimization and Women 's Health Risks: Development of an 
Intervention (R00H D082350-03) 
This project w i l l  i nvestigate re lationsh ips between environmenta l ,  cu ltu ra l ,  
physio log ica l ,  psycho log ica l  factors , cumu lative violence exposu re ,  reproductive 
and sexua l  hea lth , and H IV risk behaviors .  The find ings wi l l  be the fou ndation for 
the deve lopment of a cu ltu ra l ly ta i lored intervention that wi l l  concu rrent ly add ress 
hea lth and safety issues among B lack African immigrant women with cumu lative 
violence experiences .  The inte rvent ion wi l l  assist practit ioners in provid ing 
cu ltu ra l ly competent integ rated services to Black African immigrant  women , an 
u nderserved g roup  of abused women at risk fo r H IV. 

• Evaluating the long-term effects of Green Dot on teen dating violence prevention 
(5R01  H D075783-05) 
Because teen dat i ng and sexua l  vio lence rates remain h ig h ,  tests of promis ing 

primary prevent ion i ntervent ions  with sufficient lengths of fo l low-up to detect 
changes in v io lence a re needed . The investigators propose a cohort study of 
h ig h  school  sen io rs (n=? ,500) fo l lowed u p  for 42 months ,  who part ic ipated in a 
h ig h  school  based random ized i ntervent ion tria l  of an active bystander prevent ion 
prog ram .  Th is prospective cohort bu i lds upon a large popu lation-based and 
prom is ing primary prevent ion inte rvent ion desig ned to reduce dati ng and sexua l  
v io lence among h ig h  school students and  provides an  important test of the long­
term efficacy of th is program into you ng adu lthood . 

October 201 8 I Page 52 of 59 



-ff B I Lf ;i_5 
) -2-K-f'J 

4f=-'-j 
• Impact of Culturally Specific Danger Assessment on Safety, Mental Health and 

Empowerment (R01  H D08 1 1 79-03) 
I n timate partner  v io lence/homicides a re a sig n ificant pub l i c  hea lth th reat ,  
d isproport ionate ly affecting immigrant ,  refugee,  and i nd igenous women .  This 
study wi l l  provide empi rica l  support fo r the ut i l ity of the cu ltu ra l ly ta i lored danger 
assessment tools in  promot ing abused women's safety , empowerment ,  and 
menta l health . Research find ings wi l l  be informative for hea lthcare and domestic 
violence practit ioners in provid ing cu ltu ra l ly competent services to immigrant ,  
refugee , and i nd igenous women .  

• Interactive Digital Intervention to Prevent Violence among Young Adults 
(R43H D093482-0 1 )  
Desp ite h igh  rates of sexua l  assau lt (SA) among co l lege students , the re a re no 
co l lege SA prevent ion prog rams that evidence red uctio n  i n  rates of SA in  a 
rigorous research design .  Th is  p roposa l br ings togethe r  a m u lt id iscip l i nary team 
of  experts in  bus iness development ,  marketing , SA prevent ion science ,  game 
desig n ,  and serious  games for hea lth to deve lop a d ig ita l SA prevent ion 
appl ication that is g rounded i n  theories of behavior change and add resses a 
comprehens ive set of risk and p rotective factors for SA. Due to the pro l ife rat ion 
of d ig ita l devices ,  and the engag ing  natu re of serious games for hea lth , the 
development of this SA prevent ion app l icat ion has h ig h  com merc ia l  v iab i l ity , 
transportab i l ity , and potent ia l  for widespread pub l ic  hea lth impact .  

• Intervention to Promote Pro-Social Bystander Behaviors ( R2 1  H D092807-0 1 A1 )  
Sexua l  assau lt on co l lege campuses is a s ign ificant pub l i c  hea lth p rob lem .  To 
comply with the Violence Aga inst Women Reauthorization Act of 201 3 ,  co l leges 
and u n ivers it ies have invested u ntold resou rces to imp lement sexua l  assau lt 
prevent ion prog rams that focus heavi ly on encou rag ing  bystanders to i n te rvene 
in  order to d iffuse potentia l ly r isky s ituations .  The cu rrent  p roject wi l l  va l idate a 
nove l v irtua l  rea l ity-based measu re of bystander behavior ,  wh ich cou ld p rove 
usefu l to eva luate the efficacy of bystander i nte rventions  as wel l  as he lp identify 
the causes ,  mechan isms, and consequences of bystander behavio rs .  

• Intimate Partner Violence in Sexual Minority Female Adolescents and Young 
Adults (5R01 H D086 1 70-03) 
Young female sexua l  m inorit ies experience exceptiona l ly h ig h  rates of i ntimate 
partner v io lence ( I PV) and may be part icu larly vu lnerab le to subsequent  physica l  
and  mental hea lth problems .  The  a ims  o f  th is study a re t o  describe I PV i n  female 
sexua l  m inorit ies across adolescence and young  adu lthood , as we l l  as to identify 
factors that ra ise r isk for o r  p rotect aga inst I PV, affect I PV vict ims' ab i l ity to 
rece ive appropriate he lp ,  and exacerbate or  m it igate the negative hea lth 
consequences of I PV. Data obta ined from th is p roject w i l l  i n fo rm the 
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development of cu ltu ra l ly sens itive intervent ions to red uce the rates of IV and to 
bette r support I PV victims i n  th is vu lnerab le popu lation .  

HHS I National Institutes o f  Health (NIH), The National Institute o f  Mental 

Health (NIMH) 
N I M H  supports and  conducts research on menta l  i l l nesses and the underlyi ng basic 
science of b ra i n  and behavior ;  it a lso supports the tra i n i ng  of scientists to ca rry out basic 
and c l i n ical menta l hea lth resea rch and commun icates with scient ists , patients , 
p roviders and the pub l ic  about the science of menta l i l l nesses.  I n  do ing so , N I M H  
sponsored resea rchers can examine a n d  investigate mental illness as it relates to 
prevention of sexual assault, and care and treatment for sexual assault survivors. N I M H  
sponsored the fo l lowing two resea rch projects re lated to mental health care for sexual 
assault survivors. 

• Physicians'  Perceived Roles, as Well as Barriers, Toward Caring for Women Sex 
Assault Survivors. Amin et a l .  Women Hea lth I ssues 201 7 Jan-Feb ;  27( 1 ) ;  43-49 .  
https ://www . ncb i . n lm . n i h .gov/pmc/art ic les/P MC5 1 77529/ 
Sexua l  assau lt (SA) affects about 40 percent of women in  the U n ited States and 
has many menta l  and  phys ica l hea lth seque lae .  Physic ians often do not address 
SA with patients , a lthoug h SA survivors describe a desire to ta lk to physic ians to 
obta in  add it iona l  he lp .  L itt le information exists on how p roviders perce ive the i r  
ro les regard ing  ca ring  fo r women SA survivors and what ba rriers they face i n  
provid ing  th i s  ca re .  Researchers perfo rmed a qua l itative study us ing semi 
structured one-on-one i nterviews with facu lty physicians from five specia lt ies ; 
obstetrics and  gynecology, i nte rna l  med icine ,  fami ly med icine ,  emergency 
med ici ne ,  and  psych iatry . I nte rviews were transcribed verbatim and  coded us ing 
a constant comparative approach to estab l ish a fina l  cod ing scheme . The 
resea rchers found  that ,  a lthough  physicians describe key ro les in  caring fo r SA 
survivors ,  severa l ba rriers h inder the i r  ab i l ity to fu lfi l l  these ro les . The resea rch 
find ings i nd icate that tra i n ing i nte rvent ions a re needed to reduce the ba rrie rs that 
wou ld u lt imate ly improve c l i n ica l ca r for SA survivors .  (R25 MH0543 1 8 . )  

• Sex Disparities in Adverse Childhood Experiences and HI VIST/s: Mediation of 
Psychopathology and Sexual Behaviors. AI DS Behav 20 1 7  J une ;  2 1  (6) 1 550-
1 566 . B rown et a l . h ttps : //www. n cb i . n lm . n i h .gov/pmc/a rt ic les/P MC589631 6/ 
H IV and other  sexua l ly transm itted infections (STls) are important pub l ic hea lth 
cha l lenges in the U SA.  Adverse ch i ld hood experiences (AC Es) , i nc lud ing abuse 
(emotiona l ,  physica l ,  o r  sexua l ) , witness ing v io lence among household members ,  
may have an  effect on  sexua l  behaviors ,  wh ich increase the risk o f  H IV/STls .  I n  
th is study, researchers examined the sex d ifferences in the ro le o f  posttraumatic 
stress d isorder  (PTSD) ,  major  depress ion (MD) ,  su bstance use d isorders 
(SU Ds) , ea rly sexua l  debut, and i ntimate partner vio lence ( I PV) perpetration as 
med iators i n  the association  between ACEs and H IV/ST ls .  Data were obta i ned 
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from Wave 2 (2004-2005) of the Nationa l  Ep idemio log ic S u rvey on  Alcoho l  and
#-

t 
Relations Cond itions .  The researchers fou nd sex d ifferen ces and  s im i la rit ies 
existed in the med iationa l  ro les of psychopathology and  sexua l  behaviors .  The 
fi nd ings ind icate that H IV/STI p revent ion and inte rvent ion p rog rams shou ld use a 
l ife cou rse approach by add ress ing adverse ch i ld hood events among men and 
women and cons ider sex d ifferences in  the ro les of psychopatho logy and sexua l  
behaviors .  (K0 1  M H093642) 

HHS I Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration 

(SAMHSA), Center for Mental Health Services 

SAM H SA promotes a trauma info rmed care approach to treatment  by p rovid ing  
su rv ivo rs with info rmation about how tra u ma that  su rfaced as a res u lt of the sexua l  
abuse can  affect the i r  we l l-be ing ,  adapti ng  services to  meet the i r  needs ,  fosteri ng an 
environ ment where the su rvivor fee ls free to d iscuss the i r  tra u ma o r  not ,  and ensures 
su rvivors a re ab le to be l i nked to resou rces when needed . In 20 1 4 , SAM H SA developed 
a Concept of Trauma and Gu idance fo r Trauma- I nformed Approach : 
https : //sto re . samhsa .gov/sh i n/conten t/SMA 1 4-4884/SMA 1 4-4884.pdf. 

In add ition to the work referenced above , SAM H SA has deve loped othe r  pub l ications  
that address the intersection of sexua l  assau lt and behaviora l  hea lth , pa rt icu larly in  the 
co l lege age popu lation ,  inc lud ing : 

• Ta l k i ng with You r Col lege-Bound  You ng Adu lt About Alcoho l . 75 

This g u ide and video g ives parents info rmation they need to ta lk  with the i r  
co l lege-bound young adu lts about the consequences of u nde rage d rin k ing , 
i nc lud ing the connection of a lcoho l  use and sexua l  assau lt .  

• T ips fo r Col lege Students : After a D isaste r o r  Othe r  Trauma .  76 

This fact sheet p rovides students with i nformation about seek ing he lp  after a 
va riety of traumatic experiences ,  i nc lud ing  v io lent acts . 

HHS I Indian Health Service (/HS), Division of Behavioral Health 

The I nd ian  Hea lth Service ( I HS) ,  an  agency with i n  the Department of Hea lth and 
Human Services ,  is respons ib le for p rovid ing  federa l  hea lth services to  American 
I nd ians and Alaska Natives (A l/AN) .  The I H S  is the pr inc ipa l  federa l  hea lth care provider 
and hea lth advocate for I nd ian peop le ,  and  its goa l  is to ra ise the i r  hea lth status to the 
h ig hest poss ib le leve l .  The I HS p rovides a comprehens ive hea lth serv ice de l ivery 

75 https : //store. sam hsa .  gov/product/Ta lk i ng-With-You r-Co l lege-Bound-You nq-Ad u lt-About­
Alcoho l/S MA 1 5-4897 
76 https : //store. samhsa .gov/product/Tips-for-Co l lege-Students-After-a-Disaster-or-Other-Trauma/SMA 1 3-
4777 
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system for American I nd ians  and Alaska Natives , wh ich inc ludes ca re and treatment of 
sexua l  assa u lt s u rv ivors .  The I H S  supports survivors of sexua l  assau lt and  the 
preservat ion of forens ic evidence th rough  agency wide pol icy, admin istrat ion of 
Domestic Vio lence P revent ion Prog ram (DVPP) g rants , and provis ion of a tra in ing 
prog ram for med ica l forens ic  examiners and re lated profess iona ls work ing i n  I n d ian 
cou ntry .  

The I HS agency-wide po l icy ,  Part 3 ,  Chapter 29 ,  "Sexua l  Assau lt" of  the I n d ian  Hea lth 
Manua l  ( I H M) ,  was i n trod uced in March of 201 1 ,  with the most recent update occu rri ng 
in  February of 20 1 8 .  Chapter 29 describes the requ i rements for ca re of patients 
fo l lowing sexua l  assau lt at I H S  hospita ls ,  hea lth centers ,  and hea lth stations ,  i nc lud ing 
the co l lect ion and  p reservat ion of  med ica l  fo rensic evidence .  The chapte r estab l ishes 
profess iona l  tra i n ing  standards  fo r med ica l fo rensic examiners ,  gu ide l i nes fo r forens ic 
examinat ion referra l services ,  patient report ing options ,  evidence col lect ion and physica l 
assessment g u ide l ines ,  p rophylactic treatment of sexua l ly transmitted d iseases and 
pregnancy prevention , strangu lat ion screen ing and treatment, and agency part icipation 
in  coord i nated commun ity response efforts . 

Col lection  of med ica l forens ic  evidence is a lso pert inent to the care of I nt imate Partner 
Violence su rvivors .  I H M  Part 3 ,  Chapter 3 1 , " I nt imate Partner Vio lence , "  describes 
s imi lar  patient  ca re req u i rements and p rofess iona l  tra in ing  standards to be observed 
when cari ng for patients who have experienced th is type of vio lence .  The gu idance for 
ca re of th is spec ia l  patient  popu lat ion was issued in October of 20 1 6 . 

The I H S  fu nds 83 DVPP g rant  and federa l  awards annua l ly to tribes , u rban I nd ian  
organ izations ,  and  IHS federa l  fac i l it ies i n  order  to provide add itiona l  support of 
domestic sexua l  v io lence p reventio n ,  treatment ,  and afte rcare services to the Al/AN 
popu lation us ing  cu ltu ra l ly appropriate , evidence-based , and practice-based models of 
ca re .  An nua l  fund i ng  fo r DVP P  p rojects is approximate ly $ 1 1 , 1 75 , 838 , and has two 
pu rpose a reas : 1 )  Domestic and Sexua l  Vio lence Prevent ion ,  Advocacy, and 
Coord i nated Responses ; and 2)  P rovis ion of  Forensic Hea lth Care Services .  

The I HS has estab l ished the Triba l  Forens ic Hea lthcare website , 
www.tr iba lfo rens ichea lthcare .o rg ,  th rough  a contract with the I n ternationa l  Association 
of Forens ic N u rses , to provide h igh -qua l ity cu ltura l ly appropriate p rofessiona l  tra in i ng  to 
I H S  staff, and is a lso open to any med ica l fo rensic profess iona ls work ing with the Al/AN 
popu lation free of charge .  On l i ne  and in -person certification cou rses , such as 
adu lt/ado lescent sexua l  assau lt examiner ,  ped iatric sexua l  assau lt examiner, and 
int imate partne r  v io lence examiner a re offered th roughout the year  to qua l ified med ica l 
and n u rs ing p rofess iona ls .  Hands-on sk i l ls eva luation cou rses in  both adu lt/ado lescent 
sexua l  assa u lt and ped iatr ic sexua l  abuse examination have a lso been estab l ished to 
enhance d idact ic tra i n ing fo r emerg i ng  examiners ,  as wel l  as provide a refresher sk i l ls 
cou rse for experienced p rofess iona ls .  To date , I HS has tra i ned 1 449 forens ic examiners 
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who a re work ing with Al/AN popu lations .  Of that tota l ,  65 1  tra i ned i n  ado lescent and 
ad u lt sexua l  assau lt examination ,  433 tra ined in  ped iatr ic sexua l  abuse examinatio n ,  
and  4 1 5 in  int imate partne r  violence examinatio n .  Quarte rly l ive web i na r  sess ions a re 
created and a rch ived fo r later  viewing access to the over 4000 su bscriber  account  
ho lders on  a va riety of perti nent fo rens ic  examinat ion top ics , such as :  h uman trafficking 
in I nd ian  cou ntry , strangu lat ion assessment ,  p rovid i ng  cou rt testimony, ped iatr ic 
examinat ion va riants ,  forens ic photog raphy ,  etc. 

In the futu re ,  a revis ion to existing  gu idance regard ing  the care of ped iatr ic patients who 
have experienced maltreatment, i nc lud ing  sexua l  abuse ,  w i l l  be expanded and appear 
as a stand-a lone agency-wide po l icy with i n  the I nd ian  Hea lth Manua l  i n  201 8 .  Part 3 ,  
Chapter 36 , "Ch i ld M a ltreatment" is i n  the fina l  stages o f  agency approva l .  

I n  F Y  20 1 9 , the I H S  w i l l  b e  offeri ng  an  i ncreased number o f  fo rens ic  med ica l  
examinat ion a n d  c l i n ica l  sk i l ls  cou rses than in  p revious yea rs :  4 Adu lt/Ado lescent SAE 
C l i n ica l Sk i l l s  Labs (Colorado Springs ,  CO & Anchorage , AK) , 4 Ad u lt/Ado lescent  SAE 
web-based cou rses , 3 I nt imate Partner Vio lence Examiner  web-based cou rses , a 
genera l  domestic v io lence awareness staff web-based tra i n i ng  cou rse , 20 i nd ivid ua l  
s lots fo r ped iatric sexua l  assau lt examiner  c l in ica l sk i l l s  labs (Nashv i l le , TN & Corpus 
Ch risti , TX) , and  4 Ped iatric SAE web-based tra i n i ng  cou rses . Web inar  top ics fo r FY 
20 1 9  have not been fina l ized , however fou r  web ina rs re lated to forens ic  hea lth care 
top ics wi l l  be offered for N u rs ing C E U  and med ical C M E  cred its . 
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Append ix - G l ossary of Terms 

L isted below a re defi n it ions  fo r te rms used in  th is report .  

Best practices I " Best p ractices" typ ica l ly are understood to be p rocedu res that 
resea rch and experience have shown prod uce the best resu lts and a re cons idered 
appropriate fo r widespread imp lementation and/o r rep l ication .  However, because some 
aspects of the care a nd treatment of sexua l  assau lt survivors and  p reservation of 
forens ic evidence a re not wide ly or rigo rous ly researched and have not garnered fo rma l 
consensus among experts , "best practices" for the Work ing G roup's pu rposes was 
defined more loosely .  Therefore , best p ractices inc lude methods and  tools that 
extens ive resea rch has va l idated (e . g . ,  DNA ana lys is) , as we l l  as strateg ies based on 
the best ava i l ab le resea rch and/or recommendations (e .g . ,  cu rrent  Department of 
Justice recommendat ion that SAKs be reta ined at least for the statute of l im itations or a 
maximum of 20 yea rs) . 
Operating definition used by the Survivors ' Bill of Rights Working Group 

Chain  of custody I A cha in  of custody ident ifies and tracks evidence from the t ime it 
was co l lected-inc lud ing  the method by wh ich it was obta ined-th rough  fina l  d isposit ion 
fo r each ind ivid ua l  who had possess ion and respons ib i l ity . 
Source: The B iological Evidence Preservation Handbook: Best Practices for Evidence Handlers77 

CODIS I The Combined D NA I ndexing System (COD I S) is the F B l 's p rogram of support 
fo r crim ina l  j ust ice D NA d atabases as we l l  as the software used to ru n these databases . 
The Nationa l  DNA I ndex System (N D I S) is a part of CODI S-the nationa l  leve l­
conta in ing  DNA profi les contr ibuted by federa l ,  state , and loca l  fo rens ic laboratories . 
COD IS  conta ins  offender  DNA profi les , mean ing those co l lected from known 
ind ivid ua ls ;  and forens ic p rofi les , mean i ng those developed from b io log ica l  evidence 
co l lected from a vict im ,  suspect ,  o r  crime scene .  
Source: FBl 's Frequentlv Asked Questions on  CODIS and NDIS76 

DNA I Deoxyribonucle ic acid (DNA) is a chemica l  substance found in nearly every ce l l  
o f  a person 's body. Th is genetic materia l  is u n ique to  an i nd ivid ua l ,  except i n  the case of 
identica l twins .  

Sexual assault  medical  forensic exam I A sexua l  assau lt med ica l forens ic  exam is 
conducted by a specia l ly tra ined Sexua l  Assau lt Nu rse Examiner  (SAN E) or other 
med ica l  p rofess iona l .  The exam inc l udes gathering a comp lete med ica l h istory ,  
coord inat ing the treatment of inj u ries , documenting and col lecti ng  evidence ,  and 
referring the vict im to other  med ica l or  nonmed ica l  support .  
Source: A National Protocol for Sexual Assault Medical Forensic Examinations. Adult/Adolescents 79 

77 http: //www.evawint l . o rg/l i b rary/DocumentL ib raryHand ler .ashx?id=653 
7 8  https : //www.fbi .gov/services/ laboratory/b iom etric-ana lys is/cod i s/cod is-and-nd i s-fact-sheet 
79 https ://www. ncjrs .gov/pdff i les 1 /ovw/24 1 903 .pdf 
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Sexual Assau lt Nurse Examiner I SAN Es a re reg istered n u rses who have completed 
specia l ized education and c l in ica l p reparation in the med ica l  forensic ca re of the patient 
who has suffered sexua l  assau lt or  abuse .  
Source: International Association of Forensic Nurses (IAFN)80 

Sexual assault kit (SAK) I A SAK is evidence co l lected from a patient  by a med ica l 
professiona l .  The type of evidence co l lected depends on what occu rred d u ri ng  the 
assau lt .  The contents of a SAK va ry by ju risd iction ,  but  genera l ly i nclude swabs ,  test 
tubes, m icroscopic s l ides , and evidence co l lect ion enve lopes for ha i rs and  fibers .  
Source: Sexual Assault Kits. Using Science to Find Solutions81  

• Unreported SAK I A SAK co l lected from a patient who has consented to a 
medical fo rens ic exam but has not reported a cr ime to law enfo rcement or  
agreed to  part ic ipate in the crim ina l  j ust ice process . 
Source: Best Practices for Sexual Assault Kits82 

80 https : //www.forens ic nu rses . org/page/AboutSANE 
81  https : //n ij.qov/unsubm itted-k its/Pages/defau lt . aspx 
82 https : //www. ncjrs .gov/pdff i les 1 /n ij/250384. pdf 

October 201 8 I Page 59 of 59 



• 

• 

House B i l l  1425 
House J ud ic iary 

Test imony of Travis W. F i nck 
Deputy D i rector N. D. Comm.  On Lega l Counsel  fo r I nd igents 

January 30, 2019 

Cha i rman Koppe lman, members of the House Jud ic iary, my name is Travis F inck, I am the 

Deputy D i rector of the Commission on Lega l Counsel for Ind igents, a nd on beha lf of the comm iss ion, I 

wish to provide info rmat iona l, neutra l  test imony regard i ng the H B  1425 .  

H B  1425, Sect ion 3 e l im inates t he  statute o f  l im itat ions for offenses i n  12 . 1-20-03 through 12 . 1-

20-08 or 12 . 1-20- 11 .  This test imony is to notify the committee of potenti a l  impl icat ions when read i ng 

th is proposed change i n  conjunct ion with other pa rts of the century code, ma in ly as it perta ins to 

juven i les and j uven i le offenders. If a juven i le  were to comm it a crime l i sted i n  one of the statutes 

mentioned, there wou ld  be no t ime table to the commencement of prosecut ion which wou ld defeat the 

purpose of J uven i l e  Cou rt .  NDCC 27-20-34(5)  provides "No ch i ld  subject to the ju risd iction of the 

juven i le  cou rt, e i ther before or after reach ing e ighteen yea rs of age, may be prosecuted for an offense 

previous ly committed u n less the case has been transferred as  provided in this sect ion ." However, N DCC 

27-20-24(8) provides "A person at least twenty yea rs of age who committed a n  offense whi le a ch i l d  and 

was not adjud icated for the offense in j uven i le cou rt may be prosecuted i n  d istrict court as a n  adu lt, 

un less the state i ntentiona l ly de layed the prosecution to avo id juven i le cou rt ju risd iction .  The d i str ict 

court has origi na l  and  excl us ive jurisdict ion for the prosecution under th is subsection ." The two statutes 

seemingly contrad ict each other in rega rd to a l ifetime statute of l im itations in the prosecut ion of 

juven i le a l leged to have comm itted a sex offense aga inst another juven i le .  The North Dakota Supreme 

Court of  North Da kota c la rified i n  State v. Woodrow, 2011 ND  192, determ in i ng an  offender who 

commits a de l i nq uent act whi le a juven i le, can i n  fact be prosecuted as an adu lt in  District Cou rt afte r 

• 
their 20th b irthday, a s  the J uven i le Court would be d ivested of j u risd iction .  
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I n  practice, J uveni le Cou rt is meant to be a rehab i l itative cou rt and offenders who comm it acts 

as a juven i l e  a re treated d ifferently throughout the code in  comparison to their adu lt counterpa rts .  

NDCC 12 . 1-32-15{ 1 ) {f) l i sts those offenses which c lassify a perpetrato r as a "sexua l  offender" .  With in 

the defi n it ion, you wi l l  f ind most, i f  not a l l , of the offense for which H B  1425 seeks a l i fet ime statute of 

l im itations. NDCC 12 . 1-32-15(2)  provides an  ind ivid ua l  who commits a sexua l  offense must register a s  a 

sex offender .  However, 12 . 1-32-15(2 ) (c) provides a cou rt may deviate from requ i ring a j uven i l e  

adjud icated de l inquent from registrat ion i f  the cou rt fi nds the juven i le  had not been previous ly 

convicted and the offender d id  not exh ib it menta l a bnorma l ity o r  predatory conduct. The same 

deviation is not  ava i lab le  to an  adult offender .  

NDCC 12 . 1-20-01, provides the age l im itat ions for sex offenses under 12 . 1-20, and they a re 

imp l icated i n  th is  legislat ion .  If a n  offender commits a de l i nq uent act, such as having sex with another  

juven i le  who is not above the age of  15 { 12 . 1-20-03 ( 1 ) {d ) ,  and  the vict im does not report unt i l  such t ime 

as the ch i ld  offender would exceed 20 years of  age, the offender wou ld no longer be ab le to ava i l  

themse lves to  t he  juven i le cou rt .  

Mr. Cha i rman, thank  you for the opportun ity for me to p resent th is testimony. 
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Respectfu l ly subm itted :  

Travis W.  Finck, Deputy Director 

N .D .  Commission on Lega l  Counse l  

(701 )  845-8632, tfinck@nd .gov 
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Title. 

Prepared by the Legislat ive Council staff for ?-' I -;.. / t cy 
Senator Hogan 

January 30, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO .  1425 

Page 1, l ine 1, remove "and a new" 

Page 1, l ine 2, remove "subsection to sect ion 12.1-34-07" 

Page 1, l ine 3, remove "and acute forensic medical examinations" 

Page 1, l ine 9, after the first "the" insert "child sexual abuse" 

Page 1, l ine 9, after "victim" insert "over the age of eighteen" 

Page 1, l ine 10, replace the first ".§'' with "the" 

Page 1, remove l ines 17 through 23 

Page 2, remove l ines 1 and 2 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.1036.01001 
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Title. 
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Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for .£J ) Senator Hogan r, 

January 30, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1425 

Page 1, l ine 1, remove "and a new" 

Page 1, l ine 2, remove "subsection to section 12.1-34-07" 

Page 1, l ine 3, remove "and acute forensic medical examinations" 

Page 1, l ine 9, after the f i rst "the" i nsert "child sexual abuse" 

Page 1, l ine 9, after "victim" i nsert "over the age of eighteen" 

Page 1, l ine 10, replace the fi rst "i' with "the" 

Page 1, remove l i nes 17 through 23 

Page 2, remove l i nes 1 and 2 

Renumber accord ingly 

Page No. 1 19.1036.01001 



TESTIMONY 
Senate Jud icia ry Committee 

House Bi l l  1425 
March 11, 2019 

Senator Kathy Hogan 

Cha i rm a n  La rson a nd members of the Senate J u d ic ia ry Com m ittee .  My name is  
Kathy Hoga n a n d  I re p resent D istr ict 21 - the hea rt of Fa rgo .  

For  the  l a st 8 yea rs, we have been look i ng at the statutes re lated to  ch i l d hood 
sexua l  a buse .  E ight yea rs ago, ma ny peop l e  d i d  not u nde rsta nd  the ser ious 
rea l ity of ch i l d hood sexua l  a buse .  We have made major  cha nges ove r the last 8 
yea rs but  t he re a re st i l l  a few a reas that I hope th i s  com m ittee wi l l  cons ide r. 

The fi rst i s sue  i s  the  statute of l im itat ion  on cr im i n a l  ch i l d  sexua l a buse .  The 
trag ic  s i tuat ion faced by USA Gymnast ic where ove r 300 ch i l d re n  were sexua l ly 
abu sed Dr .  La r ry Na sse r ove r a 15-yea r per iod he l ped to te l l  the  sto ry .  A lmost 
h a lf of you ng women  cou ld not pa rt ic i pate i n  the c r im i n a l  p rosecution  beca use of 
the M ich iga n statute of l i m itat ion .  Th i s  is a s ituat ion when  at l east 15 other  
peop l e  we re awa re of  the  a buse but  d i d  not i nte rvene .  

Based  on  seve ra l h igh -p rofi l e  s ituations, the method of  i dent ify ing the patte rn of 
a buse  typ i ca l ly comes  from a se r ies of re l ated a l legat ions be i ng gathered a nd  
reviewed often over m a ny yea rs .  

Sect ion  1 of  th i s  b i l l  w i l l  a l low for the l aw e nforcement reports of  a l legat ion of 
ch i l d hood sexua l  a bu se a nd it req u i res that a l l  reports be ma i nta i ned to esta b l i sh 
a patte rn fo r evi dence .  Ofte n t imes reports a re not rece ived at the sa me t ime 
of an i nc i dent, by m a i nta i n i ng records, a patte rn may deve lop  over t ime which 
cou ld s ign if ica nt ly h e l p  in  b u i l d i ng a case .  

Sect ion  2 of  the  b i l l  s im p ly  extends  the  statute of  l im itat ion . 

Let me b r i ef ly d escr ibe the  s i tuat ion wh ich  b rought th i s  i ssue  to my attent ion .  
Go i ng door  t o  door  i n  2010 a constituent to l d  me the sto ry of h is fr i end ,  Joe who 
had been sexua l ly a bused by a p rofess iona l when he  was 10 yea rs o ld . Joe fi rst 



d isc losed h i s  sexua l  a bu se when he  was i n  h i s  l ate 40 ' s  a nd t hen  went  to l aw 
enfo rcement who to ld  h im i t  was  too late to  i nvest igate . Seve ra l yea rs l a te r  at a 
h igh school gathe ri ng, he  was v is i t i ng with a fri end  who had  j u st gotten out  of 
su bsta nce a buse treatment .  Joe ' s  fr i end  d i sc losed he  h ad  been a v ict im  of ch i l d  
sexua l  a bu se wh i c h  had  been  a factor i n  h i s add ict ion .  I n  conve rsat ion ,  they 
d i scovered that they had  both been a buse by the sa me  p rofess ion a l .  They aga i n  
went to l aw enfo rcement a nd they were to ld  that they cou ld d o  noth i ng beca use 
the statute of  l im itat ions  had  exp i red . 

Over the next 4 yea rs, these two fr i ends  identified  two othe r  v ict ims .  One  
s ummer, they fou nd the  reception i st who  worked with th i s  p rofess iona l a nd  
ta l ked to  he r  a bout the i r  expe r ience .  She  was i n  he r  l ate 80s a nd she  fe l l  a pa rt i n  
tea rs . She sha red with the two men that she was awa re a nd h ad  kept a l i st of the 
you ng men she  thought had  been a bused by he r  boss . With a l l  th i s  evidence, 
there was noth i ng  that cou ld be done .  

If that  s i tuat ion  h appened afte r th i s  b i l l  was passed,  l aw e nfo rcement cou ld 
pu rsue a n  i nvestigat ion  a nd the states atto rney cou l d  i ndependent ly eva l uate that 
evidence to see if p rosecut ion  was a pp ropriate . Com b i n i ng re ports a re often 
the tr igge r fo r rea l j ust ice beca u se most victi ms do  not know that  the re a re othe r  
vict ims .  A p rosecutor i s  i n  control o f  a l l  of the evi dence before cha rges a re fi l l ed . 

Tha n k  you ,  Cha i rma n La rson ,  I a m  more tha n wi l l i ng to a nswer a ny q u estions  . 
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Engrossed House B i l l  1425 
Senate Jud icia ry 

Testimony of Travis W. F inck 
Deputy Director N. D .  Comm .  On  Lega l Counsel for I nd igents 

March 1 1, 2019 

Madam Cha i r  Larson, members of the Senate Jud ic iary, my name is Travis F inck, I am the Deputy 

Director of the Com mission on  Lega l Counsel for I nd igents, and on  behalf of the com m ission, I wish to 

provide i nformationa l, neutra l  testimony rega rd ing the HB 1425 

H B  1425, Sect ion 3, as amended, extends the statute of l im itations for offenses in 12 .1-20-03 

through 12 . 1-20-08 or 12 . 1-20-11 .  This test imony is to notify the com mittee of potentia l imp l ications 

when read i ng this proposed change in  conjunct ion with other pa rts of the century code, princ ipa l ly as it 

perta ins to j uven i les and  juveni le offenders .  If a juven i le  were to comm it a crime l isted in one of the 

statutes mentioned, the time table for the com mencement of prosecution cou ld defeat the purpose of 

Juven i le  Cou rt .  N DCC 27-20-34(5) provides "No ch i ld subject to the jurisd iction of the j uven i le  court, 

e ither before or after reaching eighteen years of age, may be prosecuted for a n  offense previously 

committed u n less the case has been transferred as provided in this section ." However, NDCC 27-20-

24(8) provides "A person at least twenty years of age who com mitted an offense whi le a chi ld and was 

not adjud icated for the offense in  juven i le court may be prosecuted i n  d istrict cou rt as an  adu lt, un less 

the state intentiona l ly de layed the prosecution to avoid j uven i le  court jurisd iction .  The d istrict court has 

o rigina l  a nd exc lusive ju risd ict ion for the prosecution u nder this subsection ." The two statutes 

seem ing ly contrad ict each other in rega rd the statute of l im itations in the prosecut ion of juven i le a l leged 

to have com mitted a sex offense aga inst another j uven i le .  The North Dakota Supreme Court of North 

Dakota c larified in State v. Woodrow, 2011 ND  192, determ in ing an  offender who comm its a de l inquent 

act wh i le a j uven i le, can in fact be prosecuted as an adu lt in District Cou rt afte r thei r  20th birthday, as the 

J uven i le  Cou rt would be d ivested of ju risd iction .  
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I n  practice, J uveni le Court is meant to be a rehab i l itative court and offenders who commit acts 

as a juven i le a re treated d ifferently throughout the code in com pa rison to their adu lt counterparts. 

� / 1 1 /  ' "  

N DCC 12 . l-32-15{ 1 ) (f) l i sts those offenses which c lass ify a perpetrator as a "sexua l  offender" requ i ring 

registration .  With in  the defin it ion, you wil l find most, if not al l , of the offenses for which HB 1425 seeks 

an extended statute of l im itations .  NDCC 12 . 1-32-15(2 )  provides an ind iv idual  who commits a sexual 

offense m ust register as a sex offender. However, 12 . l-32-15{2 )(c) provides a court may deviate from 

requ i ring a j uven i le  to register when adjud icated de l inquent for a fe lony sex offense under subd ivision d 

of subsect ion 1 of sect ion 12 . 1-20-03, subd ivision a of subsect ion 2 of section 12 . 1-20-03 or for a 

m isdemeanor if the court finds the juveni le had not been previously convicted and the offender did not 

exhibit menta l abnormal ity or predatory conduct .  The same deviation i s  not ava i lable to an adu lt 

offe nder .  

For reference, the fo l lowing crimes would be impl icated by HB 1425 :  

12 . 1-20-03 :  G ross Sexual  Imposition ( sexua l  act) 

a) force or  threat b) substantia l impa i rment c) vict im unaware d )  under 15 e)  d i sease 

(2) (Sexual Contact) 

a) under 15 b) force or threat c) victim unaware 

12 . 1-20-03 . 1 :  continua l  Sexua l Abuse of a Ch i ld 

12 . 1-20-04: Sexua l  Imposit ion (Sexua l act or contact) 

12 . 1-20-05 :  Corruption or Sol icitation of a M inor ( Requ i res Adu lt to Solicit) 

12 . 1-20-05. 1 :  Luring M inor by Computer 

12 . 1-20-06: sexua l  Abuse of a Ward 

12 . 1-20-06 .1 :  Sexua l  Exploitation by therapist 

12 . 1-20-07 : Sexua l  Assault 

12 . 1-20-08: Forn ication ( A minor engaging in the Act is a m isdemeanor) 

12 . 1-20-11 :  I n cest 

N DCC 12 . 1-20-01, provides the age l im itations for sex offenses under 12 . 1-20, and they are 

impl icated i n  th is legislation .  If a n  offender commits a de l inquent act, such as having sex with a nother 

juven i le  who is not a bove the age of 15 (12 .1-20-03{1) (d) ,  a nd the vict im does not report unti l such time 

as the ch i ld offender  wou ld exceed 20 years of age, the offender would no longer be able to ava i l  

themse lves to the juven i le  court or the registration provisions  associated with it .  
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Madam Cha i r, members of the Committee, thank  you for the opportun ity for me to present this 

test imony. 

• 
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Respectfu l ly subm itted :  

Travis W. Finck, Deputy Director 
N .D .  Commission on Lega l  Counsel 
(701) 845-8632, tfi nck@nd .gov 
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